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This year’s annual report cover takes “Green Energy Drives a Sustainable
Future” as its core concept. Through symbolic plant growth structures,
it artistically presents Kunlun Energy’s diversified business layout and its
positive impact on people’s lives.

The inner pages continue the ecological imagery of the cover, with extended
branches and leaves running through the chapters, visually depicting the
Company’s business expansion. This highlights the substantial contributions
of green energy to environmental protection, aligning with the Company’s
mission of sustainable development and empowering a better life.
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Financial and Operational Highlights
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Financial and Operational Highlights
W E I TS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BZ12B31ALFE 2024 & 2023 F 2022 F 2021 20204
Currency unit: Renminbi million BB AREBET
Revenue and profit WA BEF
Revenue A 187,046 177,354 171,944 138,547 109,251
Profit before income tax expense BRATISFE R ANE 12,635 12,593 11,392 10,576 8,107
Core profit before income tax BRETSHE BRI

expense © e 13,259 13,101 12,481 10,481 7,486
Profit for the year £ 7135 ) 9,507 9,255 8,203 26,337 9,732
Profit for the year attributable to ARAREFAESE R

shareholders of the Company 5,960 5,682 5,228 23,016 6,063

— continuing operations ~FEREEK 5,960 5,682 5,228 5,141 3,580

- discontinued operations —ERIEFEEEER - - - 17,875 2,483
Core profit attributable to ARAREREEZL

shareholders of the Company gl el 6,359 6,144 6,281 22,891 5,442

— continuing operations —BEGEEK 6,359 6,144 6,281 5,016 2,958

- discontinued operations —ERIEREREER - - - 17,875 2,484
Earnings before interest, taxes, MERFIE - BIE FTER

depreciation and amortisation #3531 2 7 (EBITDA)

(EBITDA) 17,640 17,675 16,319 15,453 12,888
Assets and liabilities EEHERE
Non-current assets ERBEE 86,153 86,321 87,553 87,444 81,145
Current assets MEBEE 57,237 57,198 51,339 45,138 73,843
Non-current liabilities ERBAR 18,879 23,153 23,806 22,502 25,868
Current liabilities nEEE 35,676 34,583 34,384 34,219 44,593
Net assets EEFH 88,835 85,783 80,702 75,861 84,527
Capital and reserve A B2 A
Share capital R 7 71 71 71 71
Reserve [ 32,781 31,951 31,742 30,968 21,956
Equity attributable to shareholders 7R/ &1 % 52 fE {5 4 25

of the Company 65,149 63,449 59,908 56,275 53,584
Non-controlling interests JErE I R 23,686 22,334 20,794 19,586 30,943

Notes: BI5E -

M
@

04

Due to certain Group’s businesses are classified as discontinued operations
in 2020. The financial information of the Group has been restated.

The financial information of the Group has not been restated for the
potential disposal of discontinued operations as the directors consider that
the unrestated financial information is more appropriate for year-on-year
comparison of the change in the Group’s business operation.

Core profit before income tax expense is defined as profit before income
tax expense excluding impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and exchange gains/losses.

Core profit attributable to shareholders of the Company is defined as profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company excluding impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and exchange gains/losses
attributable to shareholders of the Company and its related tax effect.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Financial and Operational Highlights

A 5 e S R

Increase/
For the year ended 31 December 2024 2023 (Decrease)
HZ12A31ALEE 2024 % 20236  #Bm,/ CRd)
Financial indicators e E
Net profit margin FREE O 5.08% 5.22% (0.14)
Return on total assets (ROA) @ BEERREROA @ 6.63% 6.55% (0.08)
Return on capital employed (ROCE) @ % & 7N [8) R % (ROCE) @ 11.59% 11.64% (0.05)
Liabilities-to-Adjusted EBITDA ratio BEHLHEEBTDAGE Y 2.94 3.17 (0.23)
Debts-to-net assets ratio © FEEREXRO 27.33% 29.38% (2.05)
Gearing ratio © ERAEEO 21.46% 22.71% (1.25)
Debts-to-assets ratio EEABEO 16.93% 17.56% (0.69)
Average finance cost @ FHREKAO 2.90% 3.33% (0.43)
Earnings per share (Basic) (RMB cent) FREFM(EXR) (ARES) 68.83 65.62
Dividend per share (RMB cent) FHRBE(ARED) 31.58 28.38
Dividend payout ratio idsysalll 43.00% 40.00%

Notes: (T

M

Net profit margin is profit for the year divided by revenue.

Return on total assets is profit for the year divided by average total assets.
Return on capital employed is the ratio of profit before income tax expense
and interest divided by total assets less current liabilities.
Liabilities-to-Adjusted EBITDA ratio is the ratio of total liabilities divided by
adjusted EBITDA.

Debts-to-net assets ratio is the ratio of the sum of interest-bearing borrowings
and lease liabilities divided by total equity.

Gearing ratio is the ratio of the sum of interest-bearing borrowings, and lease
liabilities divided by the sum of total equity, interest-bearing borrowings and
lease liability.

Debts-to-assets ratio is the ratio of the sum of interest-bearing borrowings
and lease liabilities divided by total assets.

Average finance cost is the ratio of aggregated amount of each category of
borrowing multiply by its interest rate divided by the total borrowing.

Dividend payout ratio is dividend per share divided by core basic earnings per
share.
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Financial and Operational Highlights

S 5 I SR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020\
BZ12A31ALEE 2024 F 2023 F 2022 F 2021 20204
Sales volume of natural gas RARHEE
(100 million cubic metres) (B K)
City gas HHRR 421 387 362 336 274
CNG CNG 31 32 28 25 23
LNG LNG 84 69 54 56 78
Others Hit 6 6 6 3 3
Sales volume of natural gas AARBHER
(100 million cubic metres) (B AX) 542 493 450 420 378
Sales volume of LPG LPGHHEE
(10,000 tonnes) (BW) 578 577 562 599 521
Sales volume of retail gas
ARARESERE
100 million cublic mets
B K
16.36 K
36.09
\ 26.38 .
36.84
29.91 \ \
29.45 K
\ 245.20 N 210.45
Industrial Users Commercial Users Residential Users CNG/LNG stations
T¥AF EERP ERARP CNG/LNG IR
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Financial and Operational Highlights
R Y E I E T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BZ12A31ALFE 2024 2023 % 20225 20214 20205
note 1
PRt & 1

LNG processing and terminal LNG hn T 82 f%3E

(100 million cubic metres) (B3 5K)
LNG gasification volume INGRILE 150 156 152 153 113
LNG entrucking volume INGEEE 9 7 6 12 29
LNG processing volume INGIIE 36 28 28 25 24

LNG processing and terminal LNG T 2 E
(100 million cubic metres) (B AX) 195 191 186 190 166

Plants and terminals in operation T &% T & A& Wk
LNG plants LNG T 14 15 15 16 15
LNG terminals LNG %z it 2 2 2 2 2

Equity sales volume of crude oil FHEZHEE
(10,000 barrels) (B#) 829 921 1,105 1,172 1,219

Note: ff3E -

(1)  Due to certain Group’s businesses are classified as discontinued operations (1)  HR2020F NEE L L EHKE DB A K IE
in 2020. The financial information of the Group has been restated RBECEER  AEENMBEAREEY -
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L ocations of Natural Gas Business
KRIRBEH M

Ve
“Q_”.I *‘EI ‘H
City gas project in LNG Plant in LNG Terminal in

operation operation operation Total

Province & BHREE BEZLNGIH  EBE=LNGEYE a#
1. Xinjiang ¥ 20 ® 3 - 23
2. Hebei ik 20 e 2 1 23
3. Shandong L& 43 © 1 - 44
4. Henan )7 g 10 ® - - 10

5. Shanxi lU7E 7 1 -

6. Sichuan P9)I| 40 2 - 6
7. Inner Mongolia N5 & 1 1 - 2
8. Jiangsu )T & 33 e - 1 34
9. Liaoning & % 12 - - 12
10. Shaanxi PR 4 0 1 - 5
11, Tianjin X% 10 ® - - 10
12, Hubei #3t 12 e 1 - 13
13. Ningxia ZE 6 e - - 6
14. Guangdong B 9e - - 9
15, Hainan /& 4 0 - - 4
16. Guizhou E /M 6 e - - 6
17. Yunnan Zf3 21 - - 21
18. Zhejiang T 4 0 - - 4
19. Gansu HER 12 © 1 - 13
20. Qinghai 5/8 20 1 = 3
21. Beijing t 4 e - - 4
22. Jiin F#k 5e - - &
23. Anhui Z# 10 @ - - 10
24, Hunan 7 14 © - - 14
25. Guangxi &7 4 0 - - 4
26. Heilongjiang 28T 3e - - 3
27. Jiangxi ST 78 3 - - 3
28. Chongaing E & 5e - - 5
288 © 14 2 304

This map is not to scale, for reference only.
UL E SRR FI B ERE G - EH2E .
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L ocations of Natural Gas Business
AR RER 5
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L ocations of Crude Oil Exploration
and Production Business

JE it Bl R I A i 5 5 o A

Project due date

EEEHA
- 25/6/2034

Countries Oil Field Projects
EREER
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L ocations of Crude Oil Exploration and Production Business
JE il Bl % B 2 S 5 o A [

[ Oil field projects Project due date
VommEE

HEEMA
Aktobe Oil field 23/6/2042

Oil field projects Project due date
vV  mmER EEEEA

L21/43 Oil field  16/7/2032 .
. L1/64 Oil field  18/11/2047
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Respected shareholders:

During the previous year, the international pricing of oil and gas and
the supply-demand dynamic were more complex, characterised by
an in-depth adjustment in the trading pattern. The signal of “European
declines and Asian increases” was obvious, with the consumption
of the Asia-Pacific region contributing half of the global increment.
China’s economy has maintained steady progress with an accelerated
transition to a low-carbon mode, thus expediting the unleashing of
demand for natural gas in the power and transportation sectors. The
marketisation process continued to advance. The central government
promulgated and implemented policies and regulations, such as the
“Energy Law” and the “Natural Gas Utilisation Management Measures”,
further enriching new models, scenarios and business modes for
the coordinated development of natural gas and new energy. The
consumption of natural gas in China continued to grow rapidly, with
an 8% increase observed. Kunlun Energy has adapted to the strategic
trends of energy security and green transformation, consolidating and
expanding its main operations, refining its emerging businesses, and
continuously improving its operational performance.

Chairman’s Statement
By X &
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Chairman’s Statement
B R E

Business Highlights

Key indicators of main businesses saw a big leap in all aspects.
The total number of city gas users exceeded 16.45 million, with retail
volume increasing by 8.1% year-on-year and sales totalling 54.17
billion cubic meters, thereby maintaining its core competitiveness.
The marketisation process expanded in depth, actively facilitating the
transmission of terminal sales prices, with 61% of residents being under
the price linkage system. The effectiveness of the liquid industry chain
was greatly stimulated. Given the rapid growth in LNG for vehicles,
the historic breakthroughs achieved by processing plants and the
significant increase in processing capacity, earnings before taxation
amounted to RMB84 million. The efficiency of the LPG business has
been continuously enhanced, recording a 6% year-on-year increase
in terminal sales and a 0.7 percentage point increase in gross profit
margin. The main structure of Phase | at the Dongjiakou terminal in
Qingdao has been completed.

Quality of operations improved continuously. The development
potential was elaborated by the optimisation of the organisational
system while the effectiveness of the matrix management combining
“horizontal” and “vertical” structures became apparent gradually.
Costs and expenses were under control and decreased. Due to
the integration of gas station operations, sales and management
expenses decreased by RMB165 million, representing a decline of
4.5%. By strengthening capital management, remarkable results were
achieved in managing debt and reducing interest expenses, with
interest-bearing liabilities decreasing by 3.7 percentage points year-
over-year and average financing costs dropping by 0.4 percentage
points. The financial status remained stable, and the ability to navigate
risks continued to strengthen. Accordingly, shareholder value further
increased, with the economic value added (EVA) showing a continuous
upward trend, the shareholdings in quality city gas projects recording
an increase, the proportion of profit attributable to the parent company
to net profit rising by 1.3% and the return on shareholders’ equity
(ROE) improving steadily. Core earnings per share were recorded at
RMBO0.734, reaching a historical high for the corresponding period.
“Two profits” grew steadily while “five ratios” continued to optimise.
The development with high quality was well on track, continuously
enhancing core competitiveness.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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The industrial structure was synergistically optimised.
Consumption patterns have extended from the traditional residential
and commercial sectors to emerging segments, including transportation
(LNG-powered heavy trucks) and the integration of gas and electricity.
The geographic coverage of businesses expanded into midwestern
provinces, experiencing remarkable incremental growth and substantial
profit contributions, with retail gas volumes in the northwestern and
southwestern regions increased by 12% and 19.2%, respectively. The
transformation of the business model has entered the “fast lane”, with
gas and electricity serving as an entry point to drive the coordinated
development of new energy, integrated energy, and the natural gas
industry chain. The installed capacity was 11.433 million kilowatts, and
the total production and sales of self-owned and equity-based heat
and electricity reached 25.28 million GJ. Revenue from new energy
and integrated energy businesses was RMB540 million, achieving
profitability in the first year of coordinated statistics. The Company
actively expanded the LNG ship refuelling-at-sea business, with a total
refuelling volume of 110,000 tonnes for the Year, representing a year-
on-year increase of 470%. The first “ship-to-ship” refuelling in Hong
Kong was completed, achieving bonded regular services in Shenzhen
and Zhoushan. Value-added businesses were mutually reinforced online
and offline, with sales from the “Kunlun Huixiang+" platform increasing
by 29% year-on-year.

The effectiveness of comprehensive ESG governance was
further demonstrated. The phased tasks of specific governance for
the safety of urban gas pipelines were completed to a high standard,
and the online intelligent management system for bottled LPG was fully
launched and implemented, achieving traceability and full coverage
for the management of the entire life cycle. The first “Scope 3” GHG
carbon examination was conducted, and the first self-contributing
biodiversity conservation zone was established in the “Wenfeng Egret
Habitat” in Hainan. The “Double Hundred Actions” were advanced,
with remarkable progress made in the contractual and term-based
market-oriented incentive and constraint mechanisms. Efforts to
strengthen internal control and risk management were also intensified,
benchmarking against world-class enterprises to advance the
construction of a legal compliance management system for the sake of
upgrading the standard of corporate governance to a higher level. On
the other hand, digital transformation and intelligent development were
facilitated in all aspects, with the “Internet + Safety Production” control
system operating effectively. ESG concepts stimulated endogenous
initiatives, bringing about a steady increase in market value. The
commitment to green practices and mission-driven responsibilities was
actively pursued, thus consistently consolidating the quality image in
the public service sector.

Chairman’s Statement
By X &
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Chairman’s Statement
B R E

Operating Results

For the year ending 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), Kunlun
Energy Company Limited and its subsidiaries realised a revenue of
RMB187,046 million, a year-on-year increase of RMB9,692 million,
or 5.5%. Profits before income tax was RMB12,635 million, a year-
on-year increase of RMB42 million, or 0.3%. Profits attributable to
shareholders amounted to RMB5,960 million, a year-on-year increase
of RMB278 million, or 4.9%, and basic earnings per share stood at
RMB68.83 cent. Core profits attributable to shareholders amounted to
RMB6,359 million, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB215
million or 3.5%. Core basic earnings per share amounted to RMB73.44
cents. Operating cash flow was sufficient, reaching RMB12,514 million
and achieving a record high in profitability despite the high benchmark.

The natural gas sales business of the Company actively followed any
changes in the development of gas industry, launched extensive joint
ventures and cooperation with other gas enterprises, and promoted 8
quality city gas projects, which broadened the scope for the Company’s
long-term development.

During the Year, natural gas sales volume was 54,170 million cubic
metres, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.9%, among which,
retail gas sales volume was 32,757 million cubic metres, representing
a year-on-year increase of 8.1%. The cumulative number of users
reached 16.454 million. The Natural Gas Sales business recorded a
revenue of RMB152,090 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 8.2%.

The LPG sales business of the Company continued to optimise its
marketing strategy, strengthened its effort on resource introduction,
coordination and allocation, and maintained a stable volume of LPG
commodities. The Company actively responded to the adverse situation
of declining resources, increased the supply of more suitable natural
gas and imported LPG to refining and chemical enterprises, and shifted
its self-produced and self-used fuel and raw material LPG to export. For
sales, the Company optimised the market deployment, improved the
sales structure, and strictly controlled the transportation and marketing
costs, so as to ensure the safe, stable and controlled operation of the
LPG business in 2024.

During the Year, LPG sales volume was 5.7838 million tonnes,
representing a year-on-year increase of 0.3%. This business recorded a
revenue of RMB25,601 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
4.5%.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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During the Year, in respect of the LNG processing and terminal
business, the LNG terminals maintained secure and smooth
production and operation, and achieved better-than-expected
operation capacity and efficiency. Giving full play to the advantages
of the integrated LNG industrial chain, with an increasing effort on the
cultivation of industrial chain and coordination of resource allocation,
extension of in the operating efficiency of LNG plants has been
continuously improved, resulting in that 13 LNG plants made profits,
and 1 LNG plants achieved loss reduction.

During the Year, LNG gasification and entrucking volume of Tangshan
and Jiangsu LNG terminals amounted to 15,940 million cubic
metres in total, representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.4%. The
average operation capacity of these two LNG terminals was 87.6%,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 3 percentage points. 14 LNG
processing plants were put into operation during the Year, and the
processing volume was 3,550 million cubic metres, representing a
year-on-year increase of 723 million cubic metres, representing a year-
on-year increase of 25.6%. The average production capacity of 14
plants under continuous operation was 64%, representing a year-on-
year increase of 18.6 percentage points.

During the Year, LNG Processing and Terminal business recorded a
revenue of RMB9,184 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
1.6%.

In respect of the exploration and production business, the
exploration contracts for the Group’s Liaoning Qilfield and Peru
QOilfield expired in February and October 2023, respectively. During
the Year, the equity sales volume of crude oil was 8.29 million
barrels, representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.92 million
barrels or 10.0%. The average crude oil selling price decreased to
US$66.7/barrel from US$66.9/barrel of last year. Sales revenue of
crude oil was RMB171 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
81.2%.

Business Outlook

In 2025, the global natural gas industry chain will face a series of
challenges, including insufficient momentum in the growth of the
global economy and the restructuring of Europe in terms of energy
consumption. The Company will continue to enhance the foresight,
relevance, and effectiveness of its marketing strategies, maintain its
focus on development, and strengthen its confidence in development.
All these measures aim to seize favourable opportunities presented by
the central government to stimulate consumption, develop new, quality
productive forces, mitigate key area risks, and promote green and low-
carbon development. We aim to sustain a trend of greener industries,
safer operations, more convenient services and more efficient
governance, expecting to reward our investors with solid operational
performance.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Modern marketing systems will develop “precisely”. We will
further accelerate the construction of a modern marketing system to
continually facilitate the upstream and downstream price linkage along
the supply chain, striving to stabilise and recover price differentials.
Dynamical adaptation to changes in market demand will be enabled to
capitalise on favourable opportunities arising from the rapid growth of
LNG markets for gas and electricity and vehicles, optimise the shift of
sales structure towards the segment with high demand potential and
develop the multi-tiered drive for consumption growth. By upholding
the principle of “Service Creates Value,” we will optimise the ecosystem
of customer services, thus driving the simultaneous growth of brand
influence and market competitiveness. We will further the application
of a dynamic funding investment and return evaluation mechanism
with cash flow as the core to comprehensively upgrade the standard
of lean management. The Group will also be able to perform its social
responsibilities and improve its ESG management performance
continuously by adhering to the coordinated efforts of information
disclosure, rating improvement and system construction.

The main business will focus on “professional” advancement.
We will actively explore diversified scenarios for natural gas
consumption, creating a new paradigm for the high-quality development
of coordinated industry chains with respect to the expansion of the
transportation sector, the development of high-value-added industrial
products and the optimisation of distributed energy. Moreover, we will
further tap into the incremental value of the existing market to increase
the proportion of retail gas volume to 73% or above. By capitalising on
the policy of “One City, One Gas Supplier” and opportunities for industry
consolidation, we will also focus on the merger and acquisition of
quality turnkey projects and accelerate the realisation of achievements
in market development, striving for putting 10 new projects into
production and consolidating their accounts into the Group. Regarding
cost control and reduction, unit sales and management expenses will
be strictly controlled. The value creation capacity of the liquid industry
chain will be continuously enhanced, allowing for steady increases
in plant processing capacity, optimisation of high-capacity terminal
operations, and ongoing improvements in project progress and quality.
We will actively expand the scale of LPG imports and facilitate the early
operation of the Dongjiakou terminal in Qingdao and the construction of
the Yancheng terminal.

The green transformation will accelerate “rapidly”. We will
accelerate the transformation and upgrading of the “Natural Gas+”
intelligent integrated energy service model, gradually expanding green,
low-carbon, intelligent and efficient integrated energy services, intelligent
energy usage services and low-carbon value-added services. We will
focus on differentiated and precise efforts in various scenarios, steadily
advancing the construction of the distributed project in Chongging
Tongliang and the wind power project in Shandong Liaocheng. We will
implement integrated utilisation projects for pressure differential power
generation, waste heat and cold energy as appropriate with reference
to local conditions, realising a coordinated layout of businesses related
to the carbon industry, and continuously developing a multi-energy
complementary business structure. In addition, we will accelerate the
clean replacement of distributed photovoltaics, striving to achieve a
ratio of low-carbon and zero-carbon stations of over 15%.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

18

BRCEEBRDEIEE - £ IRA
RIS LHERRER  HEMEE L THER
%3 NEEELROTT - PRREETIHE
SKEE - UEREME A LNG T35 F KR E
BRNENKEBH  BLHELRRSE

FBREREYR BELERNBBERR -
X RBEIEEE]  BLEPRE R
BEHmEFENMMIGHETE HERTT - RL
FER AR 2R B2 0N EEE 2R AMME R
AHEHRS  DERTHBREERKY - BREE
B SPARIRE  BREBEERRFRED Y
BERTHEEME  TEHIRITESGERER -

TEEBOERS - BERRKARZ T
RES R EBRBEEMR - TESHM
EEMMAE DHARRELCETE  {TE
EXHHRASEERRNBN - REZER
EMGEEEE TEREMLRERAETI%
AL o ZINT =3 — b | BERFTTRE S 22 -
BHEEBERBWHE - RIS ENX
REb - NFERA0EN BB REHK - Y
BREERAER  RITBEMEEER -8
1EogMARE R BAINGE N - IR ERR TR
TafE  BRERKHESERFHET T
EriET T2 IR B EEER - BIRBALPGH
ORE HESSEROERFIRE  BEW
SR B THEER o

BREEALRIBE- - NRIXAR+IEE
fre AERERAFNHE X - BEAR
e TERANSEEERRE 22
BRI ARG EIRTS - BREBRERL
BERS)  BRAEEEERROMAERR -
SR R ETE B F TR o B 6l Bk E
BEHE  SRAMSESHFEMNABER &
EmRMEFBHEBER FKERCZHEE
MEEBER - MR AANNBRENR
NF R THIS UL BIZE15% A £ o



Corporate governance will become more intelligent. By
fully leveraging the key supporting effects of digital and intelligent
transformation, we will accelerate the development of smart marketing,
promote the iterative upgrading of production management systems
and enable the online application of Kunlun ERP, thus achieving a total
digital and intelligent monitoring of pipeline networks and risk prevention
and control. We will further advance the application of the intelligent
management system for bottled LPG, ensuring that all zero-cylinder
supply stations are able to meet HSE standards to guarantee the safe
usage of energy for the public with a target of zero accidents. Given the
deep integration of digital technology and business scenarios, we will
conduct research and training on large Al models, gradually building an
“Al + gas” intelligent ecosystem to drive efficiency transformation and
model innovation.

Looking back at the long and winding journey, we set our sights
on the prosperity ahead. Every leap the Company makes relies on
the guidance of national strategies, the trust of our shareholders and
partners and the endeavour of our employees. Since its establishment
over three decades ago, Kunlun Energy has reached a pivotal milestone
and is poised for a prosperous future. Going forward, we will continue
to anchor on the five major strategies of “innovation, green, market,
capital and low cost” and enable the achievement of targets in a highly
effective manner, thereby striving to deliver excellent performance to
our shareholders, provide green energy to society, generate value
through modern governance and empower the industry with digital and
intelligent technologies. We will move steadily towards excellence and
are poised to commence a new phase of development characterised
by exceptional efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
o P Wt i B 43

In 2024, Kunlun Energy adhered to the corporate vision of “Empowering China, Enriching Lives”, continued to improve its governance
system, focused on upgrading the quality of its development, stimulated in-depth value creation, and realised consolidation and
growth of the main business, an increasing growth of emerging businesses, further new highs of operating results, and created a new
landscape for sustainable development. The Company has always adhered to the five development strategies of “Innovation, Green,
Market, Capital and Low Cost”, focused on efficiency and market orientation, implemented precise marketing and created service
value, with the high-end and high-efficiency market continuing to grow, the production and operation situation remaining stable and
positive, and the operations have reached a new level. All major business segments have achieved excellent performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
% B Wt s B 43

Revenue

Revenue for the Year was approximately RMB187,046 million,
representing an increase of 5.5% as compared with the amount of
RMB177,354 million for the last year. The sales of industrial users
recorded rapid growth due to the addition of multiple new energy and
new material users, building materials users and thermal power users in
2024,

Other gains, net

Other net gains for the Year was approximately RMB1,520 million (2023:
RMB903 million). The increase was mainly due to an integration of the
Company’s gas stations, which resulted in a substantial year-on-year
increase in rental income from gas stations, as well as the decrease
in exchange losses as a result of slowdown in depreciation of RMB
against USD and THB during the Year, and the increase in others.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Purchases, services and others

Purchases, services and others for the Year were approximately
RMB161,662 million, representing an increase of 7.0% as compared
with amount of RMB151,091 million for the last year. The increase was
mainly due to the rise in cost of resources driven by the increase in
procurement volume for natural gas.

Employee compensation costs

Employee compensation costs for the Year was approximately
RMB5,830 million, representing a decrease of 2.4% as compared with
amount of RMB5,970 million for the last year. Employee compensation
costs slightly declined along with the decrease in number of employees.
Employee compensation accounted for 3.12% of operating revenue,
basically unchanged as compared with last year. The creativity and
productivity of the employee continuously enhanced.

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation for the Year was approximately
RMB5,160 million, representing an increase of 3.4% as compared with
amount of RMB4,992 million for the last year. Depreciation, depletion
and amortization maintained reasonable growth throughout the Year.

Other selling, general and administrative expenses

Other selling, general and administrative expenses for the Year were
approximately RMB3,491 million, representing a deq%&e of 4.5%
as compared with amount of RMB3,656 million for the last year. The
decrease was due to the Company’s strict implementation of cost
control and assessment, continuously promoted the optimization and
adjustment of the organizational system to increase efficiency and the
transfer of gas stations to reduce operating expenses in relation to the
gas stations in its network.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
% B Wt s B 43

Interest expenses

Interest expenses for the Year was approximately RMB803 million,
representing a decrease of 16.4% as compared with amount of
RMB960 million for the last year. This decrease was mainly due to the
Group’s average financing cost decreased by 0.4 percentage point
to 2.9% in 2024 from 3.3% in the previous year, reflecting continued
effective control over financing costs.

Total interest expenses for the Year was approximately RMB835
million, representing a decrease of 16.1% as compared with amount of
RMB995 million for the last year. The amount of RMB32 million interest
expenses was capitalised under construction-in-progress, representing
a decrease of 8.6% as compared with amount of RMB35 million for the
last year.

24 KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MEXH

REEMEZHHNABARBSSBEEL It
EF AREEI0E & T L 16.4% ° 1Lk 4>
FTERR04FEAEEFLHIREKXER B
2.9% ' L EF3.3% NE04EET DB fE
MAFERREIE -

AERNF B HRBEHAEARKSSHET
L EFAREEQSHEILH L 16.1% o H A
EREZIBFEAMNFEIHAAR
BRAEETL LEFAREKIBSHETHD
8.6% ©



Management Discussion and Analysis

Share of profits less losses of associates

Share of profits less losses of associates for the Year was approximately
RMB599 million, representing an increase of 28.5%, as compared with
amount of RMB466 million for the last year. The increase was mainly
due to the improvement in operating results of the associates during
the Year.

Share of profits less losses of joint ventures

Share of profits less losses of joint ventures for the Year was
approximately RMB527 million, representing a decrease of 8.98%, as
compared with RMB579 million for the last year. The decrease was
mainly due to the slightly decrease in the shared operating profits
from Mazoon Petrogas (BVI) Limited, as a result of a small decline in
international crude oil price during the year.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of total assets of the
Group was approximately RMB143,390 million, representing a
decrease of RMB129 million or 0.1% as compared with RMB143,519
million as at 31 December 2023.

The gearing ratio of the Group was 21.46% as at 31 December 2024
compared with 22.71% as at 31 December 2023, representing a
decrease of 1.25%. It is computed by dividing the sum of interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities of RMB24,279 '@Ilion (2023:
RMB25,202 million) by the sum of total equity, infér&&t-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities of RMB113,114 million (2023:
RMB110,985 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
% B Wt s B 43

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has total borrowings of
RMB23,462 million which will be repayable as follows:

B

R2024F12A31H AEB 7 BEBEAR
B 023,462 B & IT/ALIN NMEE ¢

Within one year —FR 9,133 5,464
Between one to two years —EMF 2,263 7,810
Between two to five years MERF 5,771 3,883
After five years AFEUE 6,295 7,334

23,462 24,491

The functional currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries is
RMB. As such, the Group is exposed to exchange rate risks arisen from
borrowings denominated in other currencies raised by the Company
or its subsidiaries. The Group will incur exchange gain/loss from such
foreign currency borrowings when RMB appreciates/depreciates
against other currencies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Pledge assets

As at 31 December 2024, the RMB1,878 million (2023: RMB94
million) borrowings were mainly pledged by natural gas charging
rights. As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged certain property,
plant and equipment of the Group with an original value amounted to
RMB906 million (2023: RMB818 miillion) to banks for RMB277 million
(2023:RMB677 million) loan facilities granted to the Group.

Material acquisitions and disposal

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals during
the Year.

Material Investments

Material investments of the Group are its investments in associates and
in joint ventures.

There is no single material associate or joint venture which significantly
affects the results and/or net assets of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
% B Wt s B 43

Employee

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 24,809 employees globally,
excluding the employees under entrustment contracts (2023: 27,138
employees). Remuneration package and benefits were determined in
accordance with market terms, industry practice as well as the duties,
performance, qualifications and experience of the employees.

Contingent Liability

The Group is a defendant in certain lawsuits as well as the named
party in other proceeding. While the outcomes of such contingencies,
lawsuits or other proceeding cannot be determined at present,
management believes that any resulting liabilities will not have a material
adverse effect on the financial position or financial performance of the
Group.

DIVIDEND
Dividend Policy

The dividend policy of the Company allows shareholders to share the
Company’s profits and also enables the Company to retain sufficient
reserves for its future development. Under the circumstances that
the Company makes profits and has no effect on the Group’s normal
business operation, the Company intends to share its profits with
its shareholders in the form of annual dividend, which shall be in a
total distribution amount of not less than 25% of the Group’s annual
consolidated profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company, on
the condition that it shall be subject to the following “Criteria”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Criteria:

1. When proposing the declaration of any dividends, the Board
shall consider, among other things, the business conditions and
strategies of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
the expected working capital needs and future expansion plans,
surplus, contractual restrictions, actual and expected national
financial conditions, macroeconomic conditions and other
factors as the Board deems relevant.

2. The dividend rate will vary every year according to the above
criterion and the Company will not assure the distribution of
any specific amounts of dividend at any particular period or the
distribution of dividends at any particular dividend yield.

Dividend Distribution Plan

The Company has formulated a three-year dividend distribution plan
for the financial years ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 (the
“Three-Year Dividend Distribution Plan”), the details of which are set out
as follows:

(i) The annual dividend payout ratio will gradually increase
throughout the Three-Year Dividend Distribution Plan. The
Company will strive to achieve an annual dividend amount of
45% of the Group’s annual profit attributable to the shareholders
of the Company for the financial year ending 31 December
2025; and -

(i) Interim and final dividends will be declared (in total two times a
year) for each of the financial years ending 31 December 2024
and 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
% B Wt s B 43

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no other significant events that may affect the Group since
the end of the Year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO
THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of
the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted written guidelines on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its code of conduct regarding
dealings in the Company’s securities by Directors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors, and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

By the order of the Board

Qian Zhijia
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year”).

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance to the Company’s healthy growth and has devoted
considerable efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance
practices appropriate to the needs of its business. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the principles (the
“Principles”), code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and certain
recommended best practices (the “Recommended Best Practices”) as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company is committed to the maintenance of
stringent corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s accountability
and transparency. The Company strives to maintain high corporate
governance standards. The Board of Directors is of the view that the
Company has complied with all the code provisions in Part 2 of the CG
Code during the Year, except the following deviation.

CODE PROVISION C.1.6

Pursuant to code provision C.1.6 of the part 2 of CG Code, the
independent nonexecutive directors should attend general meetings
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Sun Patrick, Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company, was unable to attend the annual general mesting of the
Company held on 30 May 2024 due to other engagements. Mr. Tsang
Yok Sing Jasper, Independent Non-executive Director of the Company,
was unable to attend the special general meeting of the Company held
on 5 December 2024 due to other business engagements.

The Company has also put in place certain Recommended Best
Practices as set out in the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices
to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code
and acknowledges the important role of its Board in providing effective
leadership and direction to the Company’s business, and in ensuring
transparency and accountability of the Company’s operations. The key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarized as follows:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All directors of the Company (the “Directors”) should make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
establishment of ESG system, material transactions (in particular
those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, to ensure
that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
requesting the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval must be obtained from the Board before the
abovementioned officers enter into any significant transactions.

The Board fully supports the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management in discharging their responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration function to management, it has given clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company adopted written terms established on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Company has also arranged an appropriate liability insurance cover
in respect of legal action against its Directors.

Composition

The Board has the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company. There
is a strong element of independence in the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman) (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

(appointed as Executive Director on 1 April 2025)
Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer)
(Chairrman of the Sustainability Committee)
Mr. Fu Bin (resigned on 1 April 2025)
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong (resigned on 8 May 2024)
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong (resigned on 25 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Lyu Jing

(appointed as Non-executive Director on 8 May 2024)
Mr. Qi Zhenzhong
(appointed as Non-executive Director on 25 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Xiao Feng (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and

Member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Sustainability Committee)

Mr. Sun Patrick (Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper (Member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Sustainability Committee)

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules

from time to time.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to:

(1) the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise;

(2) the appointment of independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interests, serving on Board committees, scrutinizing the Company’s
performance and monitoring performance reporting, all Independent
Non-executive Directors make various contributions to the effective
direction of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the mechanisms
to ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board
during the Year, and considered that they were effective in ensuring
independent views and input were available to the Board.

Board Diversity

As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the Board consists
of six male Directors and one female Director. The Board considered
that the Board is sufficiently diverse in terms of gender, balance of skills
and experience.

Under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the nomination committee (or the
Board) shall have a policy concerning diversity of Board members and
shall disclose the policy or a summary of the policy in the Corporate
Governance Report. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) and a nomination policy to align the Board
diversity.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Board diversity of the Company in terms &£ 2024F 12 831 H ARG EE &K B
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Nomination Policy

Selection criteria and principles

The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors upon the
assessment of candidates:

(1) Review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
at least once a year, and also make recommendations to the
Board on any proposed changes to align with the Company’s
strategies.

(2)  Fully consider the Board Diversity Policy, individual performance,
individual capability, professionalism, knowledge, experience and
time that can be devoted to the Company, personal credibility,
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and applicable laws
and regulations etc.; identify candidate(s) with appropriate
qualifications to be member(s) of the Board, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individual(s)
nominated as director(s).

(8) Make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
regarding the director(s) and succession plans for the director(s) (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer).

Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to, skills, knowledge, experience, gender, age,
ethnicity, educational background, etc. Board appointments will be
made on meritocracy, contributions to the Board and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard to the benefits of
the diversity on the Board.

Gender Diversity of Workforce

As of 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the Group
(excluding the employees under entrustment contracts) was 24,809,
and the percentage of male employees and female employees was
68.3% and 31.7% respectively. The Group adheres to an employment
policy of equality and diversity. We oppose any discrimination, including
gender discrimination, and are committed to gender diversity in our
workforce. Details of the Group’s gender diversity at the workforce level
are set out in the Group’s standalone 2024 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

Appointment and Re-election of Director

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Each Director has entered into
a formal letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term of
three years, subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with
the Bye-laws of the Company.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company which provide that every
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy during the Year
shall retire at the next general meeting. Code Provisions B.2.2 has been
fully complied with.

Mr. Liu Guohai was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2025 and Mr. Qi Zhenzhong was appointed
as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 25 March
2025. Mr. Liu Guohai and Mr. Qi Zhenzhong will hold office until the
forth coming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) and (2) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Dr. Liu Xiao Feng and Mr. Sun Patrick will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Dr. Liu will
not offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM since he has other
arrangement. Mr. Sun Patrick is eligible, has offered himself for re-
election.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to
ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors whenever necessary.
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During the Year, each of the Directors has attended various in-house
briefings and internal or external seminars/training and has read internal
or external newsletters, updates and other reading materials covering
topics such as the business of the Company, corporate governance,
industry knowledge, regulatory updates, finance and management. The
training records of the Directors in 2024 are set out below:

Executive Directors: HITESE -
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman) RNEGEE (EE)

REFE - K%%Eﬁf‘;flﬂ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬂ%ﬁ

K ANERI AT & 1R - B B AR sk S BB
BRI I%ﬂ&ﬁ’rﬁﬁﬂ EMF - BMETE
WMARAER BERER - TEAHS EE

T BB RER - BE2024F 12 Jlluaﬁﬁ

FIEnT

Reading
materials
relating to the
Group, daily
business or
responsibilities
of Directors
HESE
rEE--BE
E¥BRRES
BEZEMH

Attending
seminar/
meeting/forum/

giving lecture
at seminar

HEEHRE,
g3 Wi
BHEERETRE

Not Applicable Not Applicable

(appointed on 1 April 2025) (%2025 F4H1HEZE) 38 A 36
Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer) BORR L (TTEAEEH) Yes B Yes B
Mr. Fu Bin R 58 4

(resigned on 1 April 2025) (R2025%F4 4 1HEHT) Yes B Yes B
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong BB RE

(resigned on 8 May 2024) (R2024 %5 A 8 HEFT) Yes B Yes B
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong mEREE

(resigned on 25 March 2025) (R2025F 3 A 25 A FFF) Yes B Yes B
Non-executive Directors: FEHITESE -

Ms. Lyu Jing BEXt

(appointed on 8 May 2024) (R2024F 558 HEZ(E) Yes & Yes H
Mr. Qi Zhenzhong BR R A& Not Applicable  Not Applicable

(appointed on 25 March 2025) (R2025F 3 H25 HEZ(F) 38 A 36
Independent Non-executive Directors: HIHNTESE -

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng B3 YesH Yes H
Mr. Sun Patrick FEEERE Yes B YesH
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper SRR A Yes & Yes &

Mr. Liu Guohai obtained the legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 30 March 2025 and confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Ms. Lyu Jing obtained the legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 6 May 2024 and confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Mr. Qi Zhenzhong obtained the legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules on 11 March 2025 and confirmed that he understood
his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code Provision C.5.1 stipulates that regular Board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. During the Year, four Board meetings, four Audit Committee
meetings, two Remuneration Committee meetings, two Nomination
Committee meetings and one Sustainability Committee meeting
were held. The attendance record of each Director at the meetings of
the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Sustainability Committee during the
Year is set out below:

(e SRk

g

—O
[+
[=]

T

S %
EERERESNHESR

SRR XCHIRE EFTEEHEHES
FERELTR » ROBF R LEHIL
HEMBREEES  UWREBIIAERR
Bl EERRE MR - AFE - HBTOR
Exgegn WAEZZREEEH MAH
MEZEees MARZZEEEZN K
AREERZEgER AFE BRES
REZE BERZES FHZEE RE
ZEeRAKEERZBEER LR RE
o

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ERRY

Audit

Directors Committee
EE ERZES
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman) 31818 %% (£/&)
(appointed on (R 2025 %
1 April 2025) 451 HEZ(T) 0/0
Mr. Qian Zhijia BAREE
(Chief Executive Officer) ~ (7TH##) 3/4
Mr. FuBin fresigned on 1384 (R 2025 F
1 April 2025) 481H88(F) 4/4
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong [BE BT (R 2024 F
(resigned on 8 May 2024) 5 /8 H B#T) 1/1
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong mAREE
(resigned on 25 March (R2025F
2025) 3425 AgF) 4/4

Non-executive Directors:  FEHTEE :
Ms. Lyu Jing (appointed on & & &1 (12024 F

8 May 2024) 5H8HEZ(T) 2/3
Mr. Qi Zhenzhong FUREB T AE

(appointed on 25 March ~ (R20254 8 525 H

2025) EZ(T) 0/0
Inclependent Non-executive % FEE1TEF -

Directors:
Dr. Liu Xiao Feng el 4/4
Mr. Sun Patrick FEELE 3/4
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & &5 7t 4 4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4

Remuneration Nomination Sustainability

Committee Committee Committee
AHERRE
yMzEe EEZEE ZE®

- 0/0 -
- - 1/1
- 2/2 -
- - 171
2/2 2/2 11
2/2 2/2 -
2/2 2/2 171
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During the Year, in addition to the Board meetings, the Chairman
also met with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings are given to all Directors at least 14
days before each meeting, and reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are normally sent to all Directors or committee
members at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee
meeting to keep the Directors abreast of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary attend Board and committee meetings, when
necessary, to advise on business developments, financial and
accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and
other major aspects of the Company.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Minutes are prepared after each meeting and the
final version is signed by the Chairman or the chairman of the relevant
committees (as the case may be) and confirmed by the Board in the
following Board Meeting or by the relevant committee in the following
committee meeting (as the case may be). The confirmed minutes are
kept for future reference and Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors
or any of their associates have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power
and authority.

During the Year, the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were held by different individuals. Mr Fu Bin
(resigned on 1 April 2025 and Mr. Liu Guohai was appointed as the
Chairman on 1 April 2025) was the Chairman, and Mr Qian Zhijia
acted as Chief Executive Officer. There is no relationship between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

There are written terms of the general division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of
the Board in accordance with good corporate governance practices.
With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved
by and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s
day to-day management and operations. The Chief Executive Officer
is also responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the
organisational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board’s approval.
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Board Committee

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Sustainability Committee for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

All Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are members
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised three Independent
Non-executive Directors. Throughout the Year, the Audit Committee
included one Independent Non-executive Director who possessed
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Mr. Sun Patrick was the chairman of
the Audit Committee throughout the Year. None of the members of
the Audit Committee was a former partner of the Company’s existing
independent auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by an independent auditor
before submission to the Board;

2. to review the relationship with the independent auditor by
reference to the work performed by the independent auditor, their
fees and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the independent auditor; and
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3.  to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

During the Year, the Audit Committee conducted four meetings in
which it deliberated on various important matters. These included
listening to the audit plan presented by the independent auditor,
reviewing the financial results and reports, assessing the effectiveness
of financial reporting and compliance procedures, examining the
report on the Company’s internal control and risk management review
and processes, and considering the appointment of the independent
auditor.

The Company’s annual results for the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

There is no different view taken by the Audit Committee from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
independent auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors. During the Year, Dr. Liu Xiao
Feng was the chairman of the Remuneration Committee throughout the
Year. The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, making recommendations
to the Board for approval of the remuneration policy and structure and
making recommendations or determining the remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates participates in deciding his/her own
remuneration which remuneration will be determined by reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions.
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The Remuneration Committee normally meets annually to review
the remuneration policy and structure and to determine the annual
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the senior
management and other related matters. The Company Secretary
is responsible for the collection and administration of the human
resources data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall
consult the Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company about these recommendations on remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Year
to review the remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
and performance evaluation of the managerial team members. The
remuneration paid by the Company to the senior management by band
for the Year is set out as below:

Senior Management emolument

FMZEe —REFRAE X Nias HM
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ZEEFHFBREMBRER  ARWE
BERENRERANEREE YRAHFME
BglRbEs UHZEE -FHEZE 285
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REFE  HFMEZESEHEMKR - LR
RAZHFHBERERBAREZELEKER
B AFERARARAXNTESRERAR
ZEBIREERHINMAT

EREEAEZHE

Year 2024
2024 £ £

Below RMB1,000,000

AR # 1,000,000 7T A T 3

3

The majority of the Company’s management received their
remuneration from PetroChina Company Limited or China National
Petroleum Corporation, totaling around RMB4.9 million in 2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprised four members,
including three Independent Non-executive Directors and the Chairman.
During the Year, Mr Fu Bin was the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee (resigned on 1 April 2025, and was succeeded by Mr. Liu
Guohai).

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1.

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer;

to regularly review the time required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities; and

to do such other things to enable the Nomination Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred to it by the Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the Year to
review Board composition, proposal for Directors’ re-election upon
retirement, the appointments of deputy managers of the Company as
well as the objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions as required under the CG Code:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board considered the following corporate
governance matters:

adoption of corporate governance functions under the CG Code;

review the usage of annual caps on continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

review the compliance with the CG Code; and

review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Xie Mao is the company secretary of the Company. During the
financial year, Mr. Xie had complied with the relevant professional
training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Code Provision C.1.3 stipulates that directors must comply with their
obligations under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules and, in addition, the Board should establish written
guidelines no less exacting than the Model Code for relevant employees
in respect of their dealings in the securities of the issuer.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors, and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines — Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees regarding dealings
in the Company’s securities by employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 87 to 94.

During the Year, the fees charged by KPMG for the audit of the
Company and its subsidiaries amounted to approximately RMB11
million (2023: PricewaterhouseCoopers RMB14 million). In addition,
approximately RMB1 million (2023: RMB nil million) was charged by
KPMG for non-audit services. The non audit services mainly consist of
taxation services, advisory and other professional services. The fees
charged by other auditors of the Group for audit services and non-audit
services during the Year amounted to approximately RMB18 million
and RMB2 million respectively (2023: RMB17 million and RMB2 million
respectively).
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1)

50

General Meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Sustainability Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, are available to
answer questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

Under the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at a general
meeting will be taken by poll except where the Chairman, in
good faith, decides to allow a resolution that relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of
hands. Details of the poll procedures are included in all notices
and circulars to shareholders and will be explained during the
proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the Company subsequent to the close of the shareholders

meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.
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During the Year, two general meetings were held on 30 May 2024
and 5 December 2024, which were the 2024 annual general
meeting and special general meeting. The attendance records
of the Directors to the 2024 annual general meeting and special
general meeting are set out below:

Directors

BE=

HITESE -
2R gkE (£E)

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman)

(e SRk

KNEFE - BHR2024495 A30H & 2024
FI2AHBITMABRERE  HA
2024 FREAF ARG RRERFRIARE -
EEHE2024 FREARD KK ELF
AezHFEeRREEEHINMT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

HE SBR8 HE SBRH

Annual General Special General

Meeting
RRBFRE

Meeting
BRRGHAE

(appointed on 1 April 2025) (R2025F 4 7 1HEZE) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer) BORR S (7T AEEL) 0/1 1/1
Mr. Fu Bin 3 5 &

(resigned on 1 April 2025) (R2025%F 4 A1 HEHTE) 1/1 1/1
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong BEBEE

(resigned on 8 May 2024) (R2024 4 5 A8 HEEHT) 0/0 0/0
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong mAREE

(resigned on 25 March 2025) (R2025F 3 A 25 A FFIE) 11 1/1
Non-executive Directors: FMITESE -

Ms. Lyu Jing BEXZL

(appointed on 8 May 2024) (R2024F 558 HHEZE) 11 1/1
Mr. Qi Zhenzhong R 8 % A

(appointed on 25 March 2025) (R2025F 3 25 HHEZ(F) 0/0 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors: HIIHHTESE -

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng BlEliE L 11 1/1
Mr. Sun Patrick FEELE 0/1 1/1
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper R A 11 0/1

Rights of Shareholders to Convene Special General
Meeting

A special general meeting shall be convened on the written
requisition of shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the registration not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company that, as at the date of the deposit carries the
voting right at general meetings of the Company deposited at
the registered office of the Company in Bermuda (Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda) and the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (39/F,
118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Board.
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The written requisition shall specify the objects of the special
general meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s). If the
Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the written requisition, duly proceed to convene the special
general meeting the requisitionist(s) or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the special general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which special general meeting may
be convened by the Board, provided that any special general
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Shareholders’ Communication

Corporate communications such as interim reports, annual
reports and circulars are sent to the shareholders in a timely
manner and are also available on the website of the Company.
The Company’s website provides the shareholders with corporate
information, such as principal business activities and the latest
development of the Group, as well as the share price and
dividend history of the Company. Also, it provides information on
corporate governance and corporate social responsibilities of the
Group as well as the compositions and functions of the Board
and the committees.

In accordance with Rule 2.07 of the Listing Rules, effective
from 31 December 2024, the Company has adopted a new
arrangement for the dissemination of corporate communication.
Under this arrangement, shareholders can request printed
copies of corporate communication, in addition to the electronic
distribution.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as telephone hotline, fax number, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. They can also send their
enquiries to the Board through these means.

The Company reviews its shareholders’ communication policy
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. After the review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy, the Company is of the view that the policy
is effective in providing channels for shareholders to communicate
their views on various matters affecting the Company and for the
Company to solicit and understand the views of the shareholders.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(3)

EMERATARRFEIAGZAEN
RBERANLTRE -HEFERER
EMERRERBHESF —+—BARLE
AARBRRFRIARE  BRALHNE
BEERZREBLHREFMALA
BUEREZRSUREARARRENX
eNFTAARBREINAE  HEME
FOWERARRENIARETEEEME
KERXHMESA=EAERKRERN
MBERATHEES RERTHRRE
MAREMELEZEERXXHHARF
fH{E

BRR 2 BB

THRE  FERELBRKEQAE
R Ko By Ik 3 T AR I AT R AR A B A
uh EER o AN A uh R B R EE b
XEH WMAKEEZIZEBEIL
R ERARARRB Z RO ERRE
SERE WU IREARASE R
ERAMNPEMEECZENMURES
GhEZEGHEBNBREZER

RiE EmEBIE2.07 16 (B 2024 F12
ASTHRBER  ARAREEMH A
RIEMZH - BIBEZLTH BE TR
AHN - B ER IR A] REVA Rl AI ENRIAR o

RERRIELBRARRNEMER
ARAARERHBIAGRER FE
o BREMEBEMBLESARRKESR
BeBRRFAEBZFIARANESS
EH# -

AR R B FTEHE R RBARRET
Bz NBREBMME - REBRIE
BRIRBROEE S BRENE SR
ARRBRABRESBBRRIUFZER
ANERFEREHERAEANRE
PA Ko 23 RIS 7 iR B 3R N V) 58 4 A
ENBRTEAM -



Corporate Governance Report

(4) Constitutional Documents

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents may only be
effected by way of special resolution. During the Year, there were
no changes in any of the Company’s constitutional documents.

(5) Investor Relations

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at http://www.kunlun.com.hk, where
extensive information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are posted.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets. The internal
control system of the Company comprises a well-established
organizational structure and comprehensive policies and standards. The
Company also has an internal audit department, which is responsible
for monitoring the internal governance of the Group and overseeing the
risk management and internal control system of the Group.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, assesses annually the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system which covers
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management of the Company. The Board
acknowledges that such risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. Having
reviewed the assessment report issued by an external advisory firm, the
Board considers that the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are effective and adequate.
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The Group has been attaching great importance to internal control and
risk management. The Company continued to facilitate the building
of its internal control system, and gradually built and improved a
comprehensive risk management system, and effectively promoted
its operation in compliance with the laws and regulations. It actively
pushed forward the integration of risk management and business and
gave full play to the guiding role of risks in its management.

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL IN 2024

The Group has systematically assessed evolving external conditions,
steadfastly pursuing progress while maintaining stability. Prioritising
the prevention and mitigation of major risks, it has strengthened
risk management efforts to address the 10 key risk categories
identified for 2024. By aligning closely with the natural gas industry’s
development trends, business characteristics, and strategic objectives,
the Company has implemented robust risk control measures. It has
refined its risk management framework, enhanced monitoring and
control mechanisms, and established a comprehensive, dynamic risk
monitoring and early warning system. These efforts have fortified the
foundation for high-quality development, balanced growth with security,
and upheld risk control standards. The Company has achieved
significant business breakthroughs and advanced the modernisation of
its governance system and capabilities. Below is a detailed overview of
its 2024 risk management initiatives:

(1) Mitigation of natural gas price risks. The Company has adeptly
navigated new macroeconomic shifts and characteristics,
intensifying its analysis of supply and demand dynamics and
refining pricing mechanisms to mitigate the impact of price
volatility on its operations. Specific measures include: 1.
Establishing a price differential management mechanism based
on pilot programs, synchronizing monthly sales plans with price
differential plans to enhance operational efficiency; 2. Organizing
two experience-sharing sessions among exemplary units to
improve repricing strategies and execution; 3. Leveraging seasonal
resource advantages to establish price linkage mechanisms with
major clients, ensuring favorable price differentials and repricing
in non-residential space across 51 project companies; and
4. Actively engaging with local governments to facilitate price
hearings and secure increases in residential gas prices, resulting
in repricing across 108 project companies.
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Mitigation of natural gas demand risks. The Company has
spearheaded the transformation and upgrading of its business
structure and marketing systems, optimizing resource allocation,
market positioning, customer segmentation, and sales flows.
Key measures include: 1. Diversifying the business portfolio,
expanding customer segments, and strengthening value-added
services to focus on terminal retail markets while scaling back
inefficient distribution operations to increase the proportion of
high-quality services; 2. Targeting industrial and commercial
clients, supporting local investment initiatives, and implementing
pricing policies to secure new and large industrial customers
and optimize gas supply structures; 3. Enhancing market
competitiveness through volume and price agreements with major
customers, achieving an annual incremental volume of 170 million
cubic meters and maintaining industry leadership in terminal sales;
4. Monitoring trends of the industries in which customers are
engaged, national economic conditions, and competitor activities
to dynamically adjust marketing strategies, adopting a “volume
first in off seasons and efficiency first in peak seasons” approach
to maximize sales and profitability; 5. Expanding into new markets
and optimizing resource allocation through partnerships with
large gas companies and the “One city, One Gas Supplier”
model, while unlocking the potential of existing customers and
optimizing resources allocation to reduce costs and enhance
competitiveness.

Mitigation of natural gas competition risks. Faced with increasing
factors affecting demand and profitability, intensifying competition,
and the challenges of loss management, the Company has
further strengthened its policy and market research efforts. It
has promptly optimized and adjusted its marketing strategies,
focusing on targeted loss reduction initiatives to continuously
enhance its core competitiveness. Specific measures include:
1. Engaging with stakeholders for policy support. We reached
out to local governments and city gas associations, collaborated
with industry peers on collective concerns, and strived to secure
favorable policy support; 2. Enhancing competitiveness. We
have strengthened the Company’s market competitiveness and
embraced market competition. In cases of malicious competition,
it is the Company’s policy to leverage legal tools to protect our
interests through legal recourse; 3. Implementing value-added
efficiency initiatives. We have advanced the governance of
loss-making enterprises by establishing dedicated task forces
and implementing tailored “One enterprise, One Strategy” loss
reduction plans. This includes steadily reducing losses and
streamlining legal entities through measures such as securing
government subsidies, pursuing legal actions to protect rights,
revitalizing assets, and optimizing workforce allocation to lower
costs. These efforts have resulted in a significant year-on-year
reduction in the number of loss-making enterprises across all
levels.
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Mitigation of safety incident risks. The Company has followed
the principle of “shifting focus forward, controlling risks at the
source, prioritizing prevention, and adopting comprehensive
management” to firmly uphold the bottom line of safety and
environmental protection. All risks have been effectively controlled.
Specific measures include: 1. Enhancing top-level safety risk
management design. We have revised and formulated regulations
such as the Safety and Environmental Hazard Investigation and
Management Supervision Measures, the Hazard Assessment
Report Preparation Guidelines, and the Hazard Solution Design
Preparation Guidelines to further strengthen the foundation
of the Company’s safety risk management; 2. Conducting in-
depth hazard root cause analysis. We have analyzed hazard
projects throughout the year across 19 areas, including aging
pipeline upgrades and equipment renovations. Root cause
analyses were conducted for all hazard management plans, and
corrective and preventive measures were developed to effectively
eliminate and prevent hazards; 3. Promoting safety culture
through multiple initiatives leveraging activities such as the “Safety
Production Month,” the allocation and use of safety production
funds, digital mapping data verification, and the development
of valve chamber design standards. Each business department
focused on its specialized areas while collaborating to implement
integrated safety management measures, achieving a synergistic
effect where “1+1 > 2”; 4. Establishing model projects for
demonstration. We have summarized and implemented the “Three
Manuals, Two Cards, One Table, and Two Checklists” as HSE
standards for station and team construction. The Company built
31 model stations under the “Hundreds and Thousands Model
Projects” and at the corporate level, laying a solid foundation for
safe production; 5. Carrying out specialized urban gas pipeline
remediation. We have addressed the issue of “operating with
faults” in urban gas pipelines with a meticulous and persistent
approach. During the year, the Company completed the
maintenance of approximately 615 kilometers of defective
underground pipelines, 1,359 kilometers of defective stand
pipes, and upgraded 5,329 valve chambers. A risk management
mechanism of “two reports, two checklists, one alert, and one
platform” was established, with efforts coordinated across
headquarters, secondary units, and front-line stations and teams
to strengthen risk alerts and early warnings, enhancing precise
risk control at all operational levels.
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Mitigation of antitrust risks. The Company has advanced the
regular investigation and management of antitrust risks, further
improving its antitrust compliance system. It has established
a continuous inspection and supervision mechanism, as well
as a two-tier antitrust compliance commitment mechanism, to
effectively address antitrust compliance risks. Specific measures
include: 1. Strengthening antitrust compliance awareness. We
have enhanced awareness through multiple channels such as
central group meetings, quarterly analysis sessions, and “Rule
of Law Lectures”, disseminating knowledge of antitrust laws and
sharing case studies; 2. Implementing risk management plans.
In accordance with the principle of “managing business while
ensuring compliance”, the Company formulated the Work Plan for
Strengthening Antitrust Risk Management, breaking it down into
21 specific tasks assigned to various departments. It conducted
research on antitrust risk prevention in urban gas operations and
organized compliance inspections. Based on comprehensive
inspections across secondary units, the Company conducted on-
site risk assessments and rectification efforts at 29 secondary
units and 110 project companies. Measures included issuing
risk alerts, conducting on-site interviews and guidance, signing
compliance commitments, and strengthening compliance training.
Special attention was given to risks in non-gas businesses
and gas engineering installations, aiming to eliminate antitrust
risks; 3. Expert-led response to investigations. The Company
prioritized and coordinated efforts to address antitrust inspections
and investigations, organizing expert consultations on-site.
It engaged professional lawyers and economists to conduct
legal and economic evaluations, while communicating policy
and regulatory conflicts to local governments, the State Anti-
Monopoly Bureau, and the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development through multiple channels; 4. Standardizing merger
and acquisition reporting. The Company issued guidelines on
standardizing the reporting of business operator concentrations,
strengthening antitrust risk prevention in investments and
mergers. It guided five projects in submitting concentration
reports, with four projects obtaining approval to proceed.
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Mitigation of legal and compliance risks in engineering projects.
The Company has implemented full lifecycle management for
engineering projects, clarifying responsibilities at all levels and
conducting post-project reviews for major projects to effectively
address legal and compliance risks. Specific measures include:
1. Optimizing the institutional framework. We have continuously
refined the system by incorporating lessons from recent project-
related issues, enhancing top-level design to ensure greater
adaptability and operational effectiveness; 2. Integrating
compliance management with inspections and audits. We have
strengthened the alignment of legal and compliance management
with findings from inspections and audits, while enhancing the
tracking and evaluation of performance metrics for subordinate
units, leveraging performance assessments as a guiding tool; 3.
Implementing talent development initiatives: We have stepped
up our efforts to cultivate talent through various methods such
as professional training, on-the-job learning, practical role-
based training, and external training programs to enhance the
capabilities of the engineering management team; 4. Clarifying
roles and responsibilities. We have streamlined the management
authorities, responsibilities, processes, and interfaces among
the Company’s headquarters, supervision centers, secondary
units, and construction entities. This includes reinforcing the
headquarters’ management and service support functions, the
supervision centers’ oversight roles, the secondary units’ local
management responsibilities, and the construction entities’
primary accountability; 5. Conducting post-project reviews for
major projects. We have standardized contractor performance
and implemented interim settlements to reduce disputes. The
Company also conducted thorough on-site evaluations of
suppliers and enforced a supplier exit mechanism.
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Mitigation of joint venture and partnership risks. The Company
has adhered to a profit-driven approach, emphasized risk
prevention and control, strengthened commercial operations,
improved corporate governance structures, and enhanced overall
governance capabilities to effectively mitigate risks associated
with joint ventures and partnerships. Specific measures include:
1. Establishing clear governance structures. We have created a
corporate governance framework with well-defined rights and
responsibilities for all shareholders, using the Company’s Articles
of Association as the foundational guideline. Continuous attention
was given to the formulation and management of the Articles of
Association, with regular revisions and improvements organized as
needed; 2. Strengthening communication with partners. We have
enhanced dialogue and collaboration with joint venture partners,
closely monitoring their operational performance, and took prompt
and effective measures upon identifying risks. For partnerships
where irreconcilable differences in business philosophies or
cultural conflicts lead to deadlock or loss of control, the Company
utilizes legal means to protect its legitimate rights and interests
and, if necessary, decisively exits the partnership; 3. Promoting
strategic collaborations. We have actively pursued diverse joint
venture and partnership models. In line with the Company’s
rules and regulations and relevant requirements, the Company
has further optimized its equity investment management
mechanisms and control systems, refining the criteria for partner
selection; 4. Strengthening risk control in major investments.
We have emphasized risk and compliance reviews during the
preliminary stages of major investment projects. Risk analysis was
incorporated as a dedicated chapter in feasibility study reports to
ensure thorough evaluation and mitigation of potential risks.

Mitigation of natural gas policy risks. The Company focused on
national policy adjustments and market environment changes,
closely monitoring the impact of industry policy shifts and market
dynamics on its operations. It has strengthened policy analysis
and response mechanisms to mitigate risks. Specific measures
include: 1. Expanding sales volume to offset reduced ancillary
fees for our urban gas operations. We have raised sales volume
to boost profit margins from price differentials, thereby offsetting
the impact of declining ancillary fee revenues; 2. Integrating gas
station operations. We have leased gas stations to refined oil
sales enterprises, while enhancing professional management
and promoting rapid enhancement of LNG plant processing and
LNG trading volumes to counterbalance the decline in gas station
revenues; 3. Strengthening terminal user development. We have
continuously expanded our customer base and diversified user
segments to mitigate the impact of reduced gas consumption in
specific industries due to policy changes. In liquefied petroleum
gas (LPG) operations: 1. Optimizing existing civilian terminal
projects. We have ensured the standardized and stable operations
of our existing civilian terminal projects; 2. Developing industrial
direct supply. We focused on the development of the chemical
market, refining product segmentation and strengthening
upstream and downstream linkages. Resources were optimized
and allocated based on the specific demands of the chemical
industry.
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Mitigation of integrity risks. The Company has remained steadfast
in strengthening its ideological foundation, taking concrete
actions to promote integrity and discipline through case-based
reforms, and building a loyal, clean, and responsible “powerful
marketing team”. Specific measures include: 1. Streamlining
processes and identifying risks. We have reviewing 198 business
processes and identified 110 integrity risks, advancing risk
prevention to earlier stages; 2. Enhancing internal monitoring
and enforcement. We have intensified internal oversight and
inspection efforts, continuously strengthened the mechanisms
for punishing corrupt behavior, and increased the severity of
penalties; 3. Promoting integrity education and culture. We have
continued to advance integrity education and fostered a culture of
honesty and transparency; 4. Implementing case-based reforms.
We have organized targeted rectification efforts based on a task
list for case-based reforms, identifying and addressing related
issues across all areas, and ensuring thorough and item-by-item
implementation of corrective measures. The aim was to transform
the outcomes of case-based reforms into effective governance
practices; 5. Strengthening compliance and oversight. We have
diligently implemented PetroChina’s requirements, resolutely
governed the Company in accordance with laws and regulations,
and enhanced the “Three Horizontals and Five Verticals”
comprehensive supervision system. The Company was also
tightening and solidifying the “dual responsibilities” (entity’s own
and supervisory responsibilities), deepening the rectification of
prominent issues, and intensifying the investigation and handling
of violations and disciplinary breaches.

Mitigation of exchange rate risks. The Company has established
its dynamic exchange rate risk monitoring mechanism to closely
track fluctuations in the foreign exchange market. By way of
exchange of US dollars in advance and placement of fixed
deposit to hedge risks, the Company has achieved proactive
management and forward-looking prevention of exchange rate
risks. This approach has effectively controlled the impact of
exchange rate volatility, ensuring the exchange rate risk of debts
in US dollars being controllable.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are urban gas
distribution, LNG processing and transportation, LPG sales, integrated
energy and new energy. Additionally, we are currently involved in crude
oil exploration and production activities in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
the Sultanate of Oman and the Kingdom of Thailand. Particulars of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Company had always adhered to the five development
strategies of “Innovation, Green, Market, Capital and Low Cost”,
focused on efficiency and market orientation, implemented precise
marketing and created service value, with the high-end and high-
efficiency market continuing to grow, the production and operation
situation remaining stable and positive, and the operating results had
reached a new level.

(1) Business Strategy

Key indicators of main businesses saw a big leap in all
aspects. The total number of city gas users exceeded 16.45
million, with retail volume increasing by 8.1% year-on-year and
sales totalling 54.17 billion cubic meters, thereby maintaining
its core competitiveness. The marketisation process expanded
in depth, actively facilitating the transmission of terminal sales
prices, with 61% of residents being under the price linkage
system. The effectiveness of the liquid industry chain was
greatly stimulated. Given the rapid growth in LNG for vehicles,
the historic breakthroughs achieved by processing plants and
the significant increase in processing capacity, earnings before
taxation amounted to RMB84 million. The efficiency of the LPG
business has been continuously enhanced, recording a 6% year-
on-year increase in terminal sales and a 0.7 percentage point
increase in gross profit margin. The main structure of Phase | at
the Dongjiakou terminal in Qingdao has been completed.
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Quality of operations improved continuously. The
development potential was elaborated by the optimisation of
the organisational system while the effectiveness of the matrix
management combining “horizontal” and “vertical” structures
became apparent gradually. Costs and expenses were under
control and decreased. Due to the integration of gas station
operations, sales and management expenses decreased by
RMB165 million, representing a decline of 4.5%. By strengthening
capital management, remarkable results were achieved in
managing debt and reducing interest expenses, with interest-
bearing liabilities decreasing by 3.7 percentage points year-over-
year and average financing costs dropping by 0.4 percentage
points. The financial status remained stable, and the ability to
navigate risks continued to strengthen. Accordingly, shareholder
value further increased, with the economic value added (EVA)
showing a continuous upward trend, the shareholdings in quality
city gas projects recording an increase, the proportion of profit
attributable to the parent company to net profit rising by 1.3%
and the return on shareholders’ equity (ROE) improving steadily.
Core earnings per share were recorded at RMBO0.734, reaching
a historical high for the corresponding period. “Two profits” grew
steadily while “five ratios” continued to optimise. The development
with high quality was well on track, continuously enhancing core
competitiveness.

The industrial structure was synergistically optimised.
Consumption patterns have extended from the traditional
residential and commercial sectors to emerging segments,
including transportation (LNG-powered heavy trucks) and the
integration of gas and electricity. The geographic coverage of
businesses expanded into midwestern provinces, experiencing
remarkable incremental growth and substantial profit
contributions, with retail gas volumes in the northwestern and
southwestern regions increased by 12% and 19.2%, respectively.
The transformation of the business model has entered the “fast
lane”, with gas and electricity serving as an entry point to drive the
coordinated development of new energy, integrated energy, and
the natural gas industry chain. The installed capacity was 11.433
million kilowatts, and the total production and sales of self-owned
and equity-based heat and electricity reached 25.28 million GJ.
Revenue from new energy and integrated energy businesses
was RMB540 million, achieving profitability in the first year of
coordinated statistics. The Company actively expanded the LNG
ship refuelling-at-sea business, with a total refuelling volume
of 110,000 tonnes for the Year, representing a year-on-year
increase of 470%. The first “ship-to-ship” refuelling in Hong Kong
was completed, achieving bonded regular services in Shenzhen
and Zhoushan. Value-added businesses were mutually reinforced
online and offline, with sales from the “Kunlun Huixiang+" platform
increasing by 29% year-on-year.
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The effectiveness of comprehensive ESG governance
was further demonstrated. The phased tasks of specific
governance for the safety of urban gas pipelines were completed
to a high standard, and the online intelligent management system
for bottled LPG was fully launched and implemented, achieving
traceability and full coverage for the management of the entire
life cycle. The first “Scope 3” GHG carbon examination was
conducted, and the first self-contributing biodiversity conservation
zone was established in the “Wenfeng Egret Habitat” in
Hainan. The “Double Hundred Actions” were advanced, with
remarkable progress made in the contractual and term-based
market-oriented incentive and constraint mechanisms. Efforts
to strengthen internal control and risk management were also
intensified, benchmarking against world-class enterprises to
advance the construction of a legal compliance management
system for the sake of upgrading the standard of corporate
governance to a higher level. On the other hand, digital
transformation and intelligent development were facilitated in all
aspects, with the “Internet + Safety Production” control system
operating effectively. ESG concepts stimulated endogenous
initiatives, bringing about a steady increase in market value. The
commitment to green practices and mission-driven responsibilities
was actively pursued, thus consistently consolidating the quality
image in the public service sector.

Environmental policy and performance

The Group actively responded to the national “dual carbon”
strategy and released the Action Plan Towards Carbon Peaking
and Carbon Neutrality (2024 Edition) in 2024, which clearly
defined its overall goal of “Carbon Peaking by 2030 and Net
Zero Emissions by 2050”, and strived to reach the peak ahead
of schedule by 2027, and take the lead in achieving net zero
emissions in core businesses such as liquefied petroleum gas
and city gas pipeline network by 2035. The Group set its sights
on the international standards and published the Climate Action
White Paper for the first time, establishing a four-dimensional
management loop of “Governance — Strategy — Risks — Indicators”
to systematically respond to climate risks and opportunities.
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In terms of emissions reduction initiatives, the Group implemented
the “14th Five-Year Plan” on Energy Conservation, promoted
high-efficiency and energy-saving equipment and clean
technology, deepened clean production audit and optimised the
carbon reduction path on a rolling basis. The Company actively
responded to the national action plan for methane emission
control and management and released the Methane Emissions
Control Action Plan, strengthened target management and
construction of emission reduction projects, and realised the
mission goal of reducing the intensity of methane emission by 3%
year-on-year.

In terms of environmental management, the Group strictly
complies with the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Solid Waste Pollution and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Radioactive
Pollution and improves the green construction system, gives
priority to the purchase of low-carbon materials and promotes
the recycling of resources. Through various measures such as
to eliminate high energy-consuming equipment and process
optimisation, the Company has effectively reduced the intensity
of pollutant emissions, fulfilled our commitment to green
development, and continued to lead the industry in green
transformation.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group’s businesses are mainly operated by its subsidiaries
in the PRC and overseas, which their businesses should abide by
the relevant laws and regulations, including those relating to the
gas operation and service, gas facilities protection, prevention and
handling of gas safety accidents, price determination regime of
natural gas, environmental protection, labour security, exploration,
production and sales of crude oil. The Group has also obtained
the requisite business licenses, qualifications, approvals and
permits which are necessary for conducting its operations in the
PRC and overseas. During the Year, to the best of the knowledge
and information of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the Group has complied with the relevant laws, regulations and
other applicable requirements that have a significant impact on
the Group and there have not been any illegal or non-compliant
acts which would materially impact the Group’s normal and
continuing operations.
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(4) Key relationships with stakeholders

The Group recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to its healthy growth and strives to maintain
effective communication with its stakeholders, including its
shareholders, investors, employees, customers and suppliers.
This has facilitated the Group’s sustainable development in
various aspects, including its business operation, environmental
protection and work environment. Corporate communications are
provided to the shareholders of the Company in a timely manner.
The Directors participated in the general meetings held during the
Year to enable effective communication with the shareholders.
The Company also continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the development of the Company. The
Group adheres to the principle of fairness in the recruitment
and treatment of its employees and has established sound
occupational health and safety policies to create a desirable work
environment for its employees. The remuneration package and
benefits of the employees are determined in accordance with
market terms, industry practice as well as duties, performance,
qualifications and experience of the employees.

The Group adopts a market-oriented approach, closely monitors
the demand for its products and coordinates its production,
transmission and marketing activities with an aim to provide
greater value to its customers. The Group has established
long-term relationships with its major customers, including
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”) and other
independent thirdparty customers which are primarily industrial
users of the Group’s gas products. The ageing analysis and
further details of the Group’s accounts receivable are set out in
Note 23 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Group did not rely on any major customer during the Year
and will continue to adopt multiple measures to develop users
and expand marketing channels.

At the same time, the Group adopts a scientific approach to
managing its supply chain and controlling the costs of raw
materials. The Group has also received strong support from its
largest supplier, PetroChina, in maintaining stable supply for its
midstream and downstream natural gas business. The Group
maintained a good relationship and had no significant disputes
with its major customers and suppliers during the Year.

Further review of the business of the Group during the Year, including
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the Year and an indication of likely future development
in the business of the Group are provided in the sections “Chairman's
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13
to 19 and 20 to 31 of this report. A description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group is provided on pages 54 to 60
of the “Corporate Governance Report”, while details of financial and
capital risk management of the Group can be found in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements. All such discussions form part of this
report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income on pages 95 and 96. The Board
recommends the payment of a final dividend (“2024 Final Dividend”)
of RMB15.17 cents per share (2023: RMB28.38 cents per share) or
HK16.09 cents per share calculated at the exchange rate of RMB1.00:
HKD1.0609, being the average of the mean exchange rate for the
conversion of RMB against HKD as announced by the Hong Kong
Association of Banks for the five business days immediately preceding
25 March 2024 (2023: HK30.48 cents per share calculated at the
exchange rate of RMB1.00: HKD1.0739) to shareholders whose names
appear on the Company’s register of members (the “Shareholders
Register”) on 5 June 2025 (Thursday). The payment of the 2024 Final
Dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held at Taishan Room, Level
5, Island Shangri-La, Pacific Place, Supreme Court Road, Central,
Hong Kong on Thursday, 29 May 2025 at 10 a.m. (the “2025 AGM”).
The payment is expected to be made on 18 July 2025 (Friday). The
proposed 2024 Final Dividend amounted to a total of approximately
RMB1,314 million and the 2023 Final Dividend of RMB2,457 million
was paid on 18 July 2024. The payout ratio for 2024 (final dividend
per share divided by core basic earnings per share) was approximately
43% (2023: 40.00%).

The proposed 2024 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each
shareholder in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) unless an election is made to
receive the same in Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Shareholders will be given the option to elect to receive all (but not
part, save in the case of HKSCC Nominees Limited, which may elect
to receive part of its entitlement in RMB) of the 2024 Final Dividend in
RMB. If shareholders elect to receive all (out not part) of the 2024 Final
Dividend in RMB, shareholders should complete a dividend currency
election form, which is expected to be despatched to shareholders
in mid-June 2025 as soon as practicable after the record date of 5
June 2025 (Thursday) to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the
proposed 2024 Final Dividend.

If an election is made by a shareholder to receive the 2024 Final
Dividend in RMB in respect of all (but not part) of that shareholder’s
entitlement, the RMB dividend will be paid by cheques which are
expected to be posted to the relevant shareholders by ordinary post on
18 July 2025 (Friday) at the shareholders’ own risk.
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Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive the 2024 Final
Dividend in RMB should note that (i) they should ensure that they
have an appropriate bank account to which the RMB cheques for the
2024 Final Dividend can be presented for payment; and (ii) there is
no assurance that the RMB cheques can be cleared without handling
charges or delay in Hong Kong or that the RMB cheques will be
honoured for payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong.

If any beneficial owners of shares of the Company which are registered
in the name of a nominee (e.g. HKSCC Nominees Limited), trustee
or registered holder in any other capacity elect to receive all (but not
part) of the 2024 Final Dividend in RMB, they should make appropriate
arrangements with such nominees, trustees or registered holders in
order to effect the receipt of the 2024 Final Dividend in RMB. The
Company shall not be responsible for any costs, taxes or duties
associated therewith or arising therefrom and such costs will be borne
solely by the beneficial owners of such shares of the Company. If no
such arrangements are in place, such beneficial owners of shares of the
Company (despite having elected to receive the 2024 Final Dividend in
RMB) shall receive the 2024 Final Dividend in HKD.

If shareholders wish to receive the 2024 Final Dividend in HKD in the
usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice from their tax advisors
regarding any possible tax implications of the proposed dividend
payment.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 AGM will be held on 29 May 2025 (Thursday). The Notice of
the 2025 AGM, which constitutes part of the circular to shareholders,
will be sent to the shareholders together with the 2024 Annual Report.
The Notice of the 2025 AGM and the proxy form will also be available
on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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CLOSURE OF SHAREHOLDERS REGISTER

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the 2025 AGM, and entitlement to the 2024 Final Dividend, the
Shareholders Register will be closed. Details of such closures are set
out below:

0)

68

For determining eligibility to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM:

Latest time to lodge transfer 4:30 p.m. on 23 May 2025
documents for registration (Friday)
Closure of Shareholders from 26 May 2025 (Monday)
Register to 29 May 2025 (Thursday)

(both dates inclusive)

Record date 29 May 2025 (Thursday)

For determining entitlement to the 2024 Final Dividend:

Latest time to lodge transfer 4:30 p.m. on 3 June 2025
documents for registration (Tuesday)
Closure of Shareholders from 4 June 2025 (Tuesday)
Register to 5 June 2025 (Wednesday)

(both dates inclusive)

Record date 5 June 2025 (Thursday)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 4.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
on pages 99 and 100, and Note 27 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 26 in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman) (appointed as Executive Director and
Chairman on 1 April 2025)

Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Fu Bin (resigned on 1 April 2025)

Mr. Zhou Yuanhong (resigned on 8 May 2024)

Mr. Gao Xiangzhong (resigned on 25 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Lyu Jing

(appointed as Non-executive Director on 8 May 2024)
Mr. Qi Zhenzhong

(appointed as Non-executive Director on 25 March 2025)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng
Mr. Sun Patrick
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2025,
Mr. Fu Bin resigned as Executive Director and the Chairman with effect
from 1 April 2025 due to reaching the age of retirement.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 25 March
2025, Mr. Gao Xiangzhong resigned as Executive Director and Chief
Financial Officer with effect from 25 March 2025 due to reasons related
to his age.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 May 2024,
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong resigned as Executive Director with effect from 8
May 2024 due to his other work engagements.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company that is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the Year, the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

BRIEF BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman)

Aged 55, Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive Director and chairman
of the Board of the Company on 1 April 2025.

Mr. Liu is also an executive director of PetroChina Natural Gas
Marketing Company. Mr. Liu is a senior engineer and obtained his
bachelor’s degree in engineering in July 1994 from Fushun Petroleum
Institute (now renamed Liaoning Petrochemical University).
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Mr. Liu has over 30 years working experience in the oil and natural
gas industry. He has consecutively worked in Daging General
Petrochemical Works and PetroChina Daqging Petrochemical Company
since July 1994. He has served as the deputy general manager and
safety director of PetroChina Daging Petrochemical Company since
April 2018, the general manager of PetroChina Dalian Petrochemical
Company since October 2020, the chairman of the board of directors
of PetroChina Sichuan Petrochemical Co., Ltd. since March 2022, the
general manager of PetroChina Refining Chemicals & New Materials
Branch since September 2022, and an executive director of PetroChina
Natural Gas Marketing Company since March 2025.

Mr Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer)

Aged 59, Mr Qian was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 19 November 2020.

Mr Qian also holds the position of president of PetroChina Natural Gas
Marketing Company.

Mr Qian holds the title of senior engineer and has obtained a bachelor’s
degree in engineering and a doctoral degree in engineering from
Southwest Petroleum Institute (now renamed as Southwest Petroleum
University), and has completed the EMBA program at the University of
Houston in the United States.

Mr Qian has over 30 years of experience in the Chinese petroleum
and gas industry and has worked in Sichuan Petroleum Administration
Bureau (F9)II/AHE R /H) and PetroChina Southwest Oil and Gas Field
Company (9 Bl /A 78 # ) 5= H 9 2 7) since July 1989. He became
vice president of PetroChina Southwest Oil and Gas Field Company in
December 2009, as well as vice president of PetroChina Natural Gas
Southwest Marketing Company (FBI/AHRXAREEAE D 2 F)) in
December 2016 concurrently. In May 2017, Mr Qian became executive
vice president of PetroChina Southwest Oil and Gas Field Company
and vice president of PetroChina Natural Gas Southwest Marketing
Company. In July 2018, Mr Qian became president of PetroChina
Natural Gas Southwest Marketing Company and vice president of
PetroChina Southwest Oil and Gas Field Company. In January 2019,
Mr Qian became vice president of the Company and vice president of
PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing Company. In October 2020, Mr Qian
became president of PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing Company.
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Non-executive Directors
Ms. Lyu Jing

Aged 46, Ms. Lyu was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 8 May 2024.

Ms. Lyu also currently serves as the deputy director-general of the
legal & corporate reform department of China National Petroleum
Corporation (“CNPC”) and the supervisor of China Petroleum
Engineering Corporation.

Ms. Lyu is a senior economist and received her bachelor of laws
degree from the Moscow State University of Economics, Statistics, and
Informatics and her Ph.D. in laws from the Kutafin Moscow State Law
University.

Ms. Lyu holds a Ph.D. in Law with extensive legal expertise and
over 20 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. She has long
been engaged in the legal compliance work for the international
business of CNPC, and has successively engaged in legal work in
CNPC-AktobeMunaiGas JSC, PetroKazakhstan Inc. and PetroChina
International Exploration & Development Company; since December
2014, she has successively served as the director of the legal
department, director of the shareholders’ affairs department, deputy
general counsel, and deputy chief economist of China National Oil and
Gas Exploration and Development Co., Limited; since June 2021, she
has served as the deputy director-general and general counsel of China
Petroleum Technology and Development Corporation; since July 2023,
she has served as the deputy director-general of the legal & corporate
reform department of CNPC.
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Mr. Qi Zhenzhong

Aged 56, Mr. Qi was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 25 March 2025.

Mr. Qi is also a director of China National Aviation Fuel Group Limited,
China Petroleum Yanchang Petroleum Trading Stock Limited Company,
Galaxy Fund Management Company Limited, and a director of several
investee companies of China National Petroleum Corporation.

Mr. Qi is a senior economist and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
engineering from Shanxi Mining Institute and a master’s degree in
management from Nankai University.

Mr. Qi has more than 30 years of working experience in the oil and
natural gas industry, he has been engaged in capital operation
management for a long time, and has rich professional knowledge and
practical experience in equity investment and capital operation. Since
July 1989, he has worked successively in Dagang Oilfield Group Limited
and PetroChina Company Limited. Since April 2006, he has served as
the deputy director of the capital market division of the capital operation
department of PetroChina Company Limited. Since September 2009,
he has served as the director of the equity investment division of the
capital operation department of China National Petroleum Corporation
(PetroChina Company Limited). Since March 2017, he has served
as a full-time director and supervisor of the investee companies of
China National Petroleum Corporation. Since September 2022, he has
served as a senior equity affairs expert of China National Petroleum
Corporation. Since June 2024, he has served as a full-time external
director of companies under China National Petroleum Corporation.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng

Aged 62, Dr. Liu was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 16 April 2004.

Dr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in corporate finance
and has worked in various international financial institutions since
1993, including N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited, NM Rothschild &
Sons (Hong Kong) Limited, JP Morgan Chase, DBS Asia Capital
Limited, China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited and
UBS Securities Co., Ltd. He served as an independent non-executive
director of Haier Electronics Group Company Limited (stock code:
1169) from June 2007 to June 2014, Hisense Home Appliances Group
Company Limited (stock code: 921) from September 2017 to August
2018, Honghua Group Limited (stock code: 196) from January 2008
to November 2021, AAG Energy Holdings Limited from August 2018
to August 2023 and Cinda International Holdings Limited (stock code:
111) from July 2016 to July 2024. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1771) since May 2017, of Logory Logistics Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock
code: 2482) since March 2023 and of China Risun Group Limited
(Stock code: 1907) since October 2024. The issued shares of all these
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange, except for AAG Energy
Holdings Limited, which was delisted in July 2023.

Dr. Liu obtained a master’s degree and a PhD from the Faculty of
Economics, University of Cambridge in 1988 and 1994 respectively.
He also holds a Master of Science in Development Studies from the
University of Bath, England, obtained in 1987, and a Bachelor of
Economics from Southwest University of Finance and Economics,
China (previously known as Sichuan Institute of Finance and
Economics, China) in 1983.
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Mr. Sun Patrick

Aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 18 February 2016. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Ferretti S.p.A. (stock code: 9638) and
AustAsia Group Ltd. (stock code: 2425), both of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Sun served as an independent non-executive
director of several listed companies in Hong Kong, including China
Railway Signal & Communication Corporation Limited (2015-2018),
Trinity Limited (2008-2020, delisted in 2022 and is in liquidation),
China NT Pharma Group Company Limited (2010-2019), and Sihuan
Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. (2010-2023). He was also an
independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit and risk
management committee of CRRC Corporation Limited (2015-2021),
an independent non-executive director of China Railway Construction
Corporation Limited (2014-2021), both of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Sun was the senior country officer and head of investment
banking for Hong Kong at JP Morgan Chase, and group executive
director and head of investment banking for greater China at Jardine
Fleming Holdings Limited. His past contributions to regulatory bodies
include serving as a member of the Takeovers & Mergers Panel
and the Takeovers Appeal Committee of the Securities and Futures
Commission, deputy convenor of the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange, and a council member of the Stock Exchange. He also
served as chairman of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies
from 2013 to 2015.

Mr. Sun graduated from the Wharton School of the University of
Pennsylvania, the United States, with a Bachelor of Science degree in
Economics in 1981. He also completed the Stanford Executive Program
at Stanford Business School, in the United States, in 2000. Mr. Sun is
a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

Aged 77, Mr Tsang was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 27 August 2019.

Mr. Tsang is currently an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Tong Ren Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (stock code:
3613). He was an independent non-executive director of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 0620) from
September 2020 to August 2023. He also serves as an honorary
professor at the Chinese University of Hong Kong, an adjunct professor
at the City University of Hong Kong, and an advisor of the Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang has dedicated himself to education in Hong Kong. He
obtained a bachelor of arts degree and a certificate in education from
the University of Hong Kong in 1968 and 1981, respectively. He then
obtained a master’s degree in education from the University of Hong
Kong in 1983. He currently serves as a manager of Pui Kiu Primary
School and supervisor of Pui Kiu Middle School and Pui Kiu College.

From 1992 to 2003, Mr. Tsang was the chairman of the Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment of Hong Kong (& & & & Bt 83). From
1993 to 2013, he was a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. From 1996 to
2000, he served as a member of the Standing Committee on Language
Education and Research. From 1996 to 2005, he was a member
of the Council of the Open University of Hong Kong (now renamed
Hong Kong Metropolitan University). From 1997 to 1998, he was a
member of the Provisional Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”). From 1998 to 2016, he was a
member of the Legislative Council of the HKSAR. From 2002 to 2008,
he was a member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR. From 2008
to 2016, he was the president of the 4th and the 5th Legislative Council
of the HKSAR.

In addition, from 2001 to 2007, he was a non-executive director of the
Securities and Futures Commission. From 2002 to 2008, he was a
member of the Disaster Relief Fund Advisory Committee. From 2003
to 2008, he was a member of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption Complaints Committee. From 2005 to 2008, he was a
member of the Executive Committee of the Commission on Strategic
Development and a board member of the Airport Authority. From 2017
to 2019, he served as a member of the Task Force on Land Supply.
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Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Jin Guanghui

Aged 54, Mr. Jin was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company on 25 March 2025.

Mr. Jin is a senior accountant and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Xi’an Shiyou Institute (now renamed Xi’an Shiyou
University).

Mr. Jin has nearly 30 years of experience in the accounting industry.
Since July 1994, he has successively held positions at the Northeast
Branch of China Petroleum Pipeline Engineering Co., Ltd. (formerly
the Northeast Oil Transportation Management Bureau of China
Petroleum Pipeline Bureau), China Petroleum Pipeline Engineering
Co., Ltd., the West-East Gas Pipeline Project Management Office of
China National Petroleum Corporation, the West-East Gas Pipeline
Branch of PetroChina Company Limited, and the PetroChina Natural
Gas Marketing Company (Southern Branch). Since December 2016,
Mr. Jin has served as the chief accountant of PetroChina Natural Gas
Marketing Company (Southern Branch). Starting in February 2021, he
was appointed as the deputy general manager (acting in charge) of
the PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing Company (Southern Branch). In
December 2023, he became the vice president of the Company. Since
December 2024, he has been serving as the chief accountant of the
PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing Company.

Company Secretary

Mr. Xie Mao

Aged 54, Mr. Xie was appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company on 17 December 2020.

Mr. Xie is a senior economist and holds a master of business
administration from Zhejiang University and served as a visiting fellow
at Stanford University. Mr Xie has been appointed as the secretary
to the Board since May 2016 and is an affiliated person of the Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr Xie has 30 years of work
experience in the petroleum and natural gas industry and has worked in
several oil and gas companies of PetroChina.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a
Director of the Company or any entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Commencement
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which any such Director and chief executive of the
Company is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or which (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered into the register maintained by the Company; or which (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuer under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
its fellow subsidiaries and its holding companies a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives of the
Company (including their spouses and children under 18 years
of age) to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the Period, the Company does not have any outstanding share
options granted to the directors and employees of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN SHARES FERRNIRG 2#ZS

As at 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders 7202412 A31 B * RIEFE % M B & &5
maintained under Section 336 of the SFO, showed that the Company S 336IEMTEARARRFE Z T EBREEL
has been notified of the following interests, being 5% or more of the MR ARRICEBHMN T T EREHE
Company’s issued share capital. These interests are in addition to those AR A B BT AE%HIA L2 #EZE - 25
disclosed above in respect of the Directors and the chief executive of AT FXNMARNREENESITHRAE

the Company. Frig B8 E AN 2 1% ©

PetroChina Hong Kong Ltd. RAREBERAT 4,708,302,133 (L) - 54.38%
(“PetroChina Hong Kong’)" ([HEmBEENO 4,708,302,133 (1F)

PetroChina Company Limited RERRRARRD - 4,708,302,133 (L) 54.38%
(PetroChina’)" BRAR(HEAM])O 4,708,302,133 (1)

Fairy King Investments Ltd.? Fairy King Investments Ltd.? 144,784,000 (L) - 1.67%

144,784,000 (1)
CNPC International Ltd. (“CNPCI")® CNPC International Ltd. - 144,784,000 (L) 1.67%
(TCNPCI]) @ 144,784,000 (47

China National Oil and Gas Exploration  # Bl 43 i & S& & B0 i B 3% - 144,784,000 (L) 1.67%
and Development Corporation Aal([CNoDC))® 144,784,000 (1)
(“CNODC")@

China National Petroleum REAAXAREB AR - 4,853,086,133 (L) 56.05%
Corporation (CNPC)12 AR ((RERHER]) 4,853,086,133 (£7)

Notes: BMI5E -

(1) PetroChina Hong Kong is wholly owned by PetroChina, which intum is owned (1) A mEBRFEL R EEES  MHEA

as to 82.62% by CNPC. Accordingly, CNPC is deemed to have interest in the
4,708,302,133 (L) shares held by PetroChina Hong Kong.

2) Based on the Disclosure of Interests Online (DION) System of the Stock  (2)
Exchange, Fairy King Investments Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CNPCI, which in turn is wholly owned by CNODC, which is in turn owned as
to 100.00% by CNPC. Accordingly, CNPC is deemed to have interest in the
144,784,000 (L) shares held by Fairy King Investments Ltd.

L
B
+
=
by

Al HEEEE82.62%E % -
bt PEAREBRWRARTP L BE BT
2 4,708,302,133 (47 ) IR A (D B #e 3w ©

TR IR B 22 AT 2 4% 25 3 58 (DION) & 4t -+ Fairy
King Investments Ltd. J5CNPCI 2 & & [ B A
Al MCNPCIFHECNODCZ & #AE B HA
J# £5 15 % 5 CNODC 2 100.00% #& & © B It

o B A S & B 48 A& Fairy King Investments
Ltd. P 5 2 144,784,000 (%) AR A 17 = #E A5 48

2%
m °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible
securities, options, warrants or other similar rights as at 31 December
2024 and there had been no other exercise of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights during the Year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no pre-emptive rights provisions with respect to any issue or
transfer of shares of the Company in the Bye-laws of the Company nor
are there any such pre-emptive rights provisions generally applicable
under Bermuda law.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
of the Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions and/or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, which are required to be disclosed in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, are as follows:
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TRANSFER OF EQUITY INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 June 2024, each of Kunlun Energy Investment Shandong
Company Limited (“SD Kunlun”), PetroChina Kunlun Gas Co., Ltd.
(“PetroChina Kunlun”) and Xinjiang Xinjie Co., Ltd. (“Xinjiang Xinjie”),
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into sale and
purchase agreements (the “Sale and Purchase Agreements”) with
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”).

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreements, (a) Xinjiang Xinjie
agreed to sell, and PetroChina agreed to purchase 60% equity
interests in Zhejiang Xinjie PetroChina Natural Gas Ultilization Co.,
Ltd at a consideration of RMB19,023,960 (subject to adjustments),
(b) SD Kunlun agreed to sell, and PetroChina agreed to purchase
60% equity interests in Qingdao Kunlun Yongchang Energy Co., Ltd.
at a consideration of RMB33,944,700; and (c) PetroChina Kunlun
agreed to sell, and PetroChina agreed to purchase 51% equity
interests in Shandong Gangkou Energy Co., Ltd. at a consideration of
RMB24,774,627.

The Sale and Purchase Agreements would enable the Group to better
allocate and utilize its resources to focus on its principal activities of
distribution and sales of LPG and urban gas, with a target to enhance
the Group’s market share and business efficiency.

As PetroChina is the controlling Shareholder and a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as at the
date of the Sale and Purchase Agreements, the entering into of the Sale
and Purchase Agreements constitute connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 28 June 2024.
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MASTER AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES

On 11 September 2020, the Company has entered into a master
agreement for the provision of products and services (“Master
Agreement” ) with the CNPC Group to (a) provide general products
to the Group by the CNPC Group; (b) provide general services to
the Group by the CNPC Group; (c) provide general products to the
CNPC Group by the Group; and (d) provide general services to the
CNPC Group by the Group. Master Agreement The Master Agreement
became effective since 1 January 2021 and expires on 31 December
2023. On 14 September 2023, the Company renewed a new Master
Agreement with an effective date since 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2026 (please refers to the announcement dated 14 September 2023
and the circular dated 13 October 2023 of the Company for disclosure
of details).

During the period when Master Agreement is effective, the Company
and CNPC Group will provide each other with a variety of products
and services, including but not limited to oil and gas products,
general products and services, engineering and construction services,
production services, logistics support services, financial services,
property leasing services and commissioning and management
services (please refers to the announcement dated 14 September 2023
and circular dated 13 October 2023 for disclosure of details). As CNPC
Group is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, holding
approximately 56.05% of our issued share capital, CNPC Group is
our connected person under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The
Master Agreement sets out in detail the specific pricing principles for
the provision of products and services under the Agreement. If for
any reason the specific pricing principles for an individual product or
service are no longer applicable, whether as a result of a change in
circumstances or otherwise, the relevant product or service will be
provided in accordance with the general pricing principles as defined in
the Master Agreement, including: (a) government pricing; or (b) where
there is no government pricing, then based on the relevant market
price; or (c) where neither (a) nor (b) applies, based on: (i) cost price (c)
if neither (a) nor (b) applies, on the basis of: (i) the cost price; or (i) the
agreed price. The purpose of the aforesaid transactions is to provide
strong and favorable support to our business through the business
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strength and scope of the CNPC Group and the continuing connected
transactions. The annual cap amounts for each of the items under the
Master Agreement and the actual amounts to be incurred for the year
ending 31 December 2024 are set out in the following table:

Nature of transactions
RGME

(i) Provision of products by the CNPC Group to

Directors’ Report
HEHWGE

RPN EBRHBANBEANN I - T3
T ZEEMNFELRESEREE2024F
12ANHEFEEREAZEBEATX

Annual

cap for 2024
2024
FELR
(RMB’ Million)
(AR¥BEBR)

Amount
incurred for 2024
2024 &

EXzEHE
(RMB’ Million)
(AR¥EBEER)

() B A mEE RN R EREER

the Group 130,282 172,726
(ii) Provision of services by the CNPC Group to (i) 7P B A A B ) AN S B R A AR TS

the Group 2,552 11,932
(i) Provision of products by the Group (i) AEEmP R ABEEREER

to the CNPC Group 9,937 10,399
(iv) Provision of services by the Group (iv) AR [ 17 B & B R AR AR 7S

to the CNPC Group 8,449 9,644

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. The
Independent Non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (b) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the independent auditor of the Company to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The independent auditor of the Company has issued its
letter containing its following findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages
166 to 170 of the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.
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Nothing has come to the independent auditor’s attention that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions: (i) have not received
the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors; (i) are not in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Company if the transactions
involve provision of goods or services by the Group; (iii) have not
been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the cap disclosed
in previous announcement dated 14 September 2023 and circular
dated 13 October 2023 with respect to the aggregated amount of
each transaction involved. The Company has confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in respect of the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. For related party transactions disclosed in Note 32
to the consolidated financial statements which constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules, the Company has complied with all the relevant requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s purchases and revenue from sales
of goods or rendering of services attributable to major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

Percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier

Percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers

Percentage of revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s
largest customer

ABDL

Percentage of revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers

AB7DL
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PetroChina, a listed subsidiary of CNPC, is the Group’s largest
supplier and customer. Save for the above, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the close
directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) has an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted
above.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to RMB1,831,911.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights (including entitlements to any relief of taxation) in relation to, the
Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors and the employees of
the Company are reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the knowledge of
the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of more
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed below, as at 1 April 2025, none of the Directors
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group (as would
be required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules if each
of them were a controlling shareholder).
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Nature of

interest

BEME

Name of Director

EEpS

Name of company

DRAEB

Liu Guohai PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing
Company

2B 5 FREA R RARKRNBRAA HITES
RAREED R A

Qian Zhijia PetroChina Natural Gas Marketing President
Company

BIAR RE A RARKD BRA T FEPCEE
RARIEED A A

As the Board is independent of the boards of the above entities, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from, the above businesses.

EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

There is no significant event affecting the Company after the date of the
statement of financial position.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the Year have been audited by KPMG,
who will retire and being eligible offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

PricewaterhouseCoopers retired as the auditor of the Company at
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on
30 May 2024. The Company appointed KPMG as the auditor of the
Company after the conclusion of a special general meeting held on 5
December 2024.

On behalf of the Board
Qian Zhijia
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Kunlun Energy Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 95 to 209, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
T3 7 A% B il e Ay

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on this matter.

FAREEE

BRETEEISBRBERMOEEAE R
;TKHHZ*/\Hﬁi‘%#&%ﬁ’]ﬁquE%ész’J%ﬁ °
EULEEHIAERMBAERBRAVBERRR
HEAZERRETEEN B TZYHELSE
HRREBERENER -

Assessing impairment of property, plant and equipment relating to the liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)

processing plants

AEEBERAR (TLNG)) I THRABBEME - BE RREHRE

Refer to note 4 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 122.

B A B RRMT4MM T 156 REI22ENE

Flﬁ/

As at 31 December 2024, the net book value of Group’s
property, plant and equipment relating to the Group’s LNG
processing plants (“LNG processing plants PPE”) amounted
to RMB6,177 million, which was stated net of accumulated
impairment of RMB4,111 million. The net impairment loss
on LNG process plants PPE recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounting to RMB283 million.
202412 A31H - EXEMNINGNIKME @ &
SENYE BEARBOERBDFERSAREE617TTE
Bt 2T REARE41MBETT - 12024412 A 31
B EXBEFRINGINIHEAEBAYE BE - KEHD
BEBEFEAARE283AET -

In view of the uncertainty in future LNG prices, future
production costs, changes in operating conditions and the
economic outlook, management considered that there were
indicators that the Group’s LNG processing plants PPE
may be impaired as at 31 December 2024.

EEﬁAﬂQXLNGFTRfDﬂiXEEW$E’JTﬁEE|‘§E "=

R ERN SN E (L BEEBR AN 202412 A 31
A -E-;%ILNGMIJE&H’J%% B &R ERFERE
2B o

AR

Our audit procedures to assess impairment of LNG
processing plants included the following:

T AIBL A NG I TR RER TR P B A N2 -

o Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design and implementation of management’s
key internal controls relating to the impairment
assessment of the LNG processing plants;

. Tﬁﬁj’ziﬂﬁaﬁ%TLNG)JDIJ“&HHFAW% JF?;Z/%

Rt ERFHER AT R NE RIS

o Assessing management’s identification of CGU,
the allocation of assets to each CGU and the
appropriateness of the methodology adopted in the
determination of recoverable amounts with reference
to our understanding of the Group’s LNG processing
business and the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e  IBEHEMYE BEBINGINIEBAIEMRKLIEEH
S EANER Tt EXEREELABUNR
ECBEHEBEECHSEABM 2HN DB A LIE
JE R U Bl S EEFT A A AREE T
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Assessing impairment of property, plant and equipment relating to the liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)

processing plants (Continued)

AEEBERAR (LNG) TR X - BERRENRE (&)

Refer to note 4 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 122.

BEL2RGAMEMRMTAMME 15 RE 122 AN F TR

Management performs impairment assessments of the
Group’s LNG processing plants whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of these assets may not be recoverable.
BEFMHIBEARERT S£BELNGINIHNEREE
FEEKER  EREGHHETRERNR -

Each LNG processing plant operated by the Group has
been identified as a separate cash-generating unit (“CGU”)
for impairment assessment purposes. An impairment loss
is recognised when the carrying amount of LNG processing
plant exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
determination of recoverable amount involves the exercise
of significant management judgement in determining the
relevant inputs to the discounted cash flow forecasts and
the assumptions adopted therein, including forecast LNG
selling prices, forecast production costs and the discount
rates applied.

EETREARE  BEEERKEBEINGNIKRE RS
YHReEAEN ((ReEELEN]) - BHEEETIR
LNG /N T & BR (B E B 8 K A T E R E & A A B H
FTHEEMEFRSENSERAR CHREIKE S
WERET  EEEFTHSEARBRMEE (BFEBAK
RINGHE B - FEKRAARKANFTRE ) ELHEXR
#11 -

Assessing management’s cash flow forecast for each
CGU by comparing the key assumptions adopted
by management, in particular, the reasonableness of
the forecast LNG selling prices, forecast production
costs and the discount rate applied, with our
understanding, experience and knowledge of the
Group’s LNG processing business and the LNG
industry in general:

MAKEEERBNRE  FHZARELNGIHE
B £ERARFEANFTRE  BEMYE 8%
B INGIN T EBAMINGTTE R IR ARETLLE - ¥
EReESBUNTRRS MEREL T

° Comparing forecast LNG selling prices
adopted by the management against a range
of published LNG prices forecasts;

o BEEEBERANRENGERMEFTE—ZT
HEE QMBI LNGEBTEAEITLLE

U Comparing forecast production costs adopted
by the management against historical costs
or relevant budgets of the Group or relevant
external data;

e  BESMREAPRAERREERKNEEIE
BELKANIEEEE BRI DBBIRETT
[t g

o Involving our internal professionals with
specialised skill and knowledge to assist us in
assessing the discount rates adopted by the
management against a discount rate range
that was independently developed using
publicly available market data for comparable
companies in the same industry;

o FNBABEXRENMABOAITEZALT
BRMFEEEERBNNTAXRZEERE
AATSEBEB AT HNERNA LR R
PFrIRERGEN
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Assessing impairment of property, plant and equipment relating to the liquefied natural gas (“LNG”)

processing plants (Continued)

AEEBERAR (TLNG) I BEEWE - BERRENRE (&)

Refer to note 4 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 122.

BE2RGA M MRMTAMME 15 RE 122 AN EFTEER

We identified assessing impairment of LNG processing
plants as a key audit matter because of the significance
of the carrying amount of the LNG processing plants PPE
as at 31 December 2024, together with the significant
estimates and judgements by management which could be
subject to management bias.

HR ESEEEINGINIHEEYE  BEIKER
2024 F12ABTEHMNEEeRMEKR HEBRBAEWET
LNG I TR - BB MRk r] W@ & 58 8 BE 52
et RREFER T EANMEETAAE - E R E R R
BREVEXIEEERONTZE  HMARENEING
MIRERERAFHRREFE -

Comparing the actual results for the current year with
management’s estimates in their cash flow forecasts
prepared in the previous year to assess the historical
effectiveness of management’s forecasting process
and to assess whether there is any indication of
management bias;

BARFENERERE F—FEBHRERZF
MEEEMETHER  UFEBEERERA
MBERMEREEFEEEERANIR

Performing sensitivity analyses of the key
assumptions adopted by management, including
forecast LNG selling prices, forecast production
costs and the discount rates applied, to assess what
changes thereto, either individually or collectively,
would result in a different conclusion and assessing
whether there is any indication of management bias;
and

HABARTEEERANSHEERESR 21
KALNG S EBIE - EERAURRANFRE -
ETHURMEDT AR ARBRRE S EHNE
BRERHBEAAGERNICERTFEEMER
BlRAMNDTR &

Assessing the reasonableness of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the
impairment assessment of LNG processing plants
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.

BERTEFERNESR M EEEGEAVH
&P EBINGINTRBENRANEENGEM -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

T8 A% S e
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

T8 A% S e
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Kwok Keung, Raymond.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensjve Income
n'/T = S Y &4 ﬁ ['l& 1 i%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

Revenue WA 5 187,046 177,354
Other gains, net Emlhzs - F8E 6 1,520 903
Interest income FEWA 7 958 870
Purchases, services and others R - BR7S R H A (161,662) (151,091)
Employee compensation costs & B Bl A 7S 8 (5,830) (5,970)
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation WE - BREREH (5,160) (4,992)
Impairment losses on property, plant Y - BB RERERE

and equipment Jigi] 15 (565) (368)
Other selling, general and administrative HMHE - — AR

expenses EEER (3,491) (3,656)
Taxes other than income taxes BrET1S R AN 2 FI8 (504) (542)
Interest expenses FEZH 9 (803) (960)
Share of profits less losses of: JE {15 MR B 18

— Associates 2= W/NE] 16 599 466

— Joint ventures —GBD%E 17 527 579
Profit before income tax expense BRATBH B R AR R 10 12,635 12,593
Income tax expense FEHREH 12 (3,128) (3,338)
Profit for the year FRRFA 9,507 9,255
Other comprehensive income: Hih2mE W& :
ltem that will not be reclassified to A EHHEEEE AR .

profit or loss:

— Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at —RAFEAEMEEY

fair value through other comprehensive mLERMEEZATFE
income (non-recycling), net of tax (B8 s (TryEE
Bi&)  HkRHIER (95) 33

ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to HEAEFHDIEEEFZIER ©
profit or loss:

— Exchange differences on translation of — W mEBEZEL Z5E
financial statements, net of nil tax, of: HMBREHRIERE
— Subsidiaries —M B A A 15 (32)
— Associates — BN A 16 31 5
- Joint ventures —5EB%E 17 20 23
Other comprehensive (loss)/gain for the year ~ FREAM 2 (F518) W= (29) 29
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZEWEEE 9,478 9,284
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
A T W AR 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

Profit for the year attributable to JEAG F N s A
— Shareholders of the Company — AR RNARE 5,960 5,682
- Non-controlling interests —JEVE MR R 3,547 3,573
9,507 9,255
Total comprehensive income for the year EMR 2 EREERE
attributable to:
— Shareholders of the Company NG 3§ 5,933 5,675
— Non-controlling interests — IRV MR 3,545 3,609
9,478 9,284
Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit 22 & f% 5 fE1d 5% 7 2
attributable to shareholders of the Company & % E R 1 #5% &2 7
(RMB cent) (ARES) 13 68.83 65.62

The notes on pages 104 to 209 form part of these financial statements. /:_ﬁ 1 045209\75 FR) PR 5 48 AR AN B %%i&%,_z -
Details of dividends payable to shareholders of the Company ﬁg'ﬁ ° ffW7ﬁ%'m’§ﬁ$@aﬂﬁ?ﬂ"]ﬁ&%ﬁﬂﬁ
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 14. BAMIFE14 -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

22 /N Y 3

fr o A B R DL AR

As at 31 December 2024
R2024%12 B31H

Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BER&E 15 66,797 68,032
Investments in associates REERNRZKE 16 8,567 7,980
Investments in joint ventures REBEGLEZERE 17 6,157 6,109
Intangible assets BVEE 19 1,526 1,755
Financial assets at fair value through other BATEFAEMZERE 2
comprehensive income TREE 20 264 360
Other non-current assets Hi3EmEN B E 21 1,680 1,031
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 30 1,162 1,054
e 86,153 86,321
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 1,131 1,155
Accounts receivable JEUBR X 23 2,544 1,977
Prepayments and other current assets BRFRREMTREEE 24 8,470 8,478
Time deposits with maturities over three months FEBEBRE=AA s EHER 25 17,265 18,235
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR EEEH 25 27,827 27,353
57,237 57,198
Total assets HMEE 143,390 143,519
Equity gy
Capital and reserves attributable to RATBRREERAR HiE
shareholders of the Company
Share capital fig < 26 71 71
Retained earings BEIF AT 27 32,297 31,427
Other reserves HibfE & 27 32,781 31,951
65,149 63,449
Non-controlling interests FEFIMEES 23,686 22,334
Total equity B 88,835 85,783

=54 ah
Eb B
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
sEA BRI

As at 31 December 2024
2024412 A31H

Liabilities =L |
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ERRREETEE 28 25,224 27,800
Income tax payable e PR3 HE 30 544 589
Other taxes payable H i &1~ 1 78 517 516
Short-term borrowings RHEE 29 9,133 5,464
Lease liabilities HESRE 258 214
B 35676 84,583
Non-current liabilities ¥RBEE
Long-term borrowings REGEE 29 14,329 19,027
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 30 2,011 1,870
Lease liabilities HEBE 559 497
Other liabilities HibafE 1,980 1,759
18,879 23,153
Total liabilities meE 54,555 57,736
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEERAE 143,390 143,519
Net current assets REEETFE 21,561 22,615
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAE 107,714 108,936

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on #2025 3 A 25 HEE ST IRETIE -
25 March 2025.

Qian Zhijia Sun Patrick
B{AR ¥EE
Executive Director Independent Non-executive Director
BITEFE BUIFHITEF

The notes on pages 104 to 209 form part of these financial statements. 55 104 2= 209 B M i T Ak A BF & R 2 —

o e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
»'/—f =] %ﬁ%@ji@

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

Balances at 1 January 2023 20231 A1 B Il 28,09 31,742 59,908 20,79 80,702
Changes in equity for 2023; NRERELY.

Profit for the year EREH - 5,682 - 5,682 3573 9,255

Qther comprehensive income b2 EhE - - U] U] 3% 29
ol comprerense icomelortheyer  FREEMERE o e m.__. sen e 928
Transfer between resenves GiEmEL - (152) 162 - - -
Fina dividend for 2022 N ERERE 14 : 01%9 _ 01%9) ; 01%9
Acquistion from non-controling interests [ FEER 41 M ER - - - - (100) (100)
Dividend to non-controling inerests [ 2l e ¥ - - - - (2,548) (2,549)
Capital contributions from non-controling~ FEFE#I1E % 2 £

interests - - - - 645 645
Disposal of subsidlaries EENEAF - - - - (66) (66)
Others 2t - - b4 64 - B4

- 2350) 216 213 2069 4209

Balances at 31 December 2023 R0BE12831 BEE 7 31,407 31,951 63,449 20,33 85,783
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ARARE R A ) 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12 A1 HILEE

Balances at 1 January 2024 202451 A1 B T 31,421 31,951 63,449 22,334 85,783
Changes in equity for 2024; NUFREET .

Proft for the year R - 5,960 - 5,960 3547 9507

Other comprefensive loss H2EFE - - 1) 27) @ (29)
Todompeensieroomefortheyer  FREEMREE o LS. I, .8
Transfer between reserves FEHER - (1,212 1,212 - - -
Finaldiidend for 2023 IE KRS 14 - (2457 - (2457 - (245)
It dividend for 2024 LERERE 14 - (1421 - (1421 : (1,421
Acquistion of non-controling interests [ EEREI MBS ER - - (371) (371) 329 (42
Dividend to non-controling iterests BRIt B RE - - - - (2,952 (2,952)
Acqisition of subsicleries KERELA - - - - 63 63
Capital contrioutions rom non-controling ~ JE2 183 2 114

interests - - - - 533 533
Disposal of subsidlaries RENBAR - - - - (166) (166)
Others Efh - - 16 16 - 16

- (5,090) 857 4239 2,199 (6,426)

Balances at 31 December 2024 R2024%512A31 BER 1| 32,207 32,781 65,149 23,686 88,835

The notes on pages 104 to 209 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities

REXBHEZRERE

e

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

Profit for the year F N A 9,507 9,255
Adjustments for: HE
Income tax expense FTEHER 3,128 3,338
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation & BEREH 5,160 4,992
Share of profits less losses of associates FEGER S 12 R s M RUE 18 (599) (466)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures EhEERERTBERE (527) (579)
Impairment losses on property, plant ME - BEREERESE
and equipment 565 368
Impairment losses on investments in associates HEE RRNEEERERE
and joint ventures BX 39 -
Net gains on disposal of property, plant BEWE  WEREEH W&
and equipment HEE 9) 12)
Net gains on disposal of subsidiaries REMBRR 2 W F5E (666) (65)
Net gains on disposal of associates REME AR Z W FE (10) -
Net exchange losses PE N BB EE 59 140
Interest income FBEA (958) (870)
Interest expenses FEZ M 803 960
Changes in working capital: LEEHE
Inventories & 20 (77)
Accounts receivable YRR (585) 913
Prepayments and other current assets TR FAREAMREE E 139 (885)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ENERREGTAE (401) 732
Other taxes payable Hofth e T IH - (30)
Cash generated from operations REEECvEE 15,665 17,714
Income tax paid EETEHE (3,151) (3,306)
Net cash generated from operating activities E&EKELRE TR 12,514 14,408

=
Eb

WERBRAT

—E_NFEFERS

101



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

22 /N v EL
HEBERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

Cash flows from investing activities

REXBHEZRERE

Dividends received from associates BHE N RELZ R E 440 406
Dividends received from joint ventures BRELERIZEE 466 511
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B 8 1 7] 0] (6)
Capital contributions to associates REEREEE (422) (66)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash B & B A & 2 A58 @ 1%

and cash equivalents disposed of RERSIASEEERE 47 89
Proceeds from disposal of associates REME QR ZEHIEA 31 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant BENE  BERZEB MG

and equipment FIE 243 822
Decrease in amounts due from an intermediate FEU R E IR X B RIB R

holding company - 268
Capital expenditure e (6,096) (5,179)
Interest received 2 A B 831 889
Decrease of time deposits with maturities IEABB=EA 2 ERFERRD

over three months 970 1,204
Net cash used in investing activities REERFAZRESFE (3,491) (1,061)
Cash flows from financing activities METHRIE2RERE
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests ~ JE¥2 #ll 1 #E ST & 533 645
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company EANEVNEIE S, 14 & 25(b) (3,878) (2,198)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest of EANERYPNCIE 2 e £

subsidiaries & 8 25(b) (3,218) (2,257)
Increase in borrowings fEEEM 25(b) 6,457 6,156
Repayment of borrowings EBEREE 25(b) (7,184) (6,870)
Interest paid BERFIE 25(b) (740) (935)
Capital element of lease paid BEfNHEEREE D 25(b) (486) (448)
Interest element of lease paid ERNEERN SR 25(b) (28) 32)
Acquisition from non-controlling interests BEZableg Faylig: (42) (100)
Net cash used in financing activities METHACRESFE (8,586) (6,039)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BILEE

Increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEERZEM 437 7,308
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M B1BZzEERBEEEER 27,353 20,042
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EX@Ho T8 37 3

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R12A31AZEER
Re%EERB 25 27,827 27,353

The notes on pages 104 to 209 form part of these financial statements. 5 104 2209 B WM X WA A M 15 R 2 —

o e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

0 5 R
§$DE |t
For the year ended 31 December 2024
EHZE2024F 12 A31ALLFE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kunlun Energy Company Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Its ultimate holding company is China National Petroleum
Corporation (“CNPC”) which is a company established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). 4,708,302,133 shares
of the Company is held by PetroChina Hong Kong Limited
(“PetroChina HK”), which is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and is in turn wholly-owned by PetroChina Company
Limited (“PetroChina”), a subsidiary of CNPC, and its shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. As at 31
December 2024, PetroChina indirectly owned 54.38% (2023:
54.38%) equity interest in the Company.

The addresses of the Company’s principal office and registered
office are 39/F, 118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong and
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street Hamilton, HM11, Bermuda,
respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are the sales of natural gas, sales of liquefied petroleum
gas (“LPG”) and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) processing and
terminal business in the PRC, and the exploration and production
of crude oil and natural gas in the Republic of Kazakhstan
(“Kazakhstan”), the Sultanate of Oman (“Oman”), and the
Kingdom of Thailand (“Thailand”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which is a collective term
including all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong, and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group, none of these
have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in associates and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis except for financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income which are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out in Note 40(g).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
55 B 75 e 2 FiE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

106

(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies

Amended standards adopted by the Group

The following amended standards became applicable for
the current reporting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —
Non-current liabilities with covenants (2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in
a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements which have
been prepared or presented in this consolidated financial
report.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

3.1 Financial risk factors

108

Exposure to foreign exchange rate risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and interest rate risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used
by the Group to manage these are described below.

Risk management is carried out by the management of the
Group under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner. There has been no change to
the Group’s exposure to the risks mentioned above or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

(@) Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk
primarily through sales and purchases which give
rise to receivables, payables and cash balances that
are denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currencies
other than the functional currencies of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currency giving
rise to this risk is primarily United States dollar (“US
dollar”).

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to foreign exchange
rate risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure
are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate
at the year end date. Differences resulting from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3 Bj

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)

Foreign exchange rate risk (Continued)

Accounts receivable and other EUERREMTE

-]

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

BEREEREMIARD
FE (4R)

31 MHEREE(E)
(@) SMERER (&)

current assets BE 65 5 19 10
Cash and cash equivalents RekRe%SHEER 909 423 76 406
Time deposits with maturities over ~ ZIHiRBB=EA 2

three months 8T 1,808 = 1,417 -
Accounts payable and accrued ERERRETEE

labities (119) (16) (162) (16)
Borrowings fEE (7,186) - (7,074) -
Gross exposure arising from ERREERBRELE

recognised assets and liabilties ZBRR (4,529) 412 (5,724) 400

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
earnings) that would arise if foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)

110

Foreign exchange rate risk (Continued)

US dollar e 5%
(5%)
Thai Baht Zik 5%
(5%)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
arises primarily from accounts receivable.

As a majority of the Group’s cash at bank and time
deposits were placed with major state-owned banks
in Mainland China, major banks in Hong Kong,
and financial institutions within the CNPC Group,
management believes that the credit risk is low.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Depending on market conditions, debtors
with balances that are past due over a certain period
would be requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience indicates significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases and the customer bases are separated into the
related parties and third parties. The management
considered that the credit risk associated with
accounts receivable from related parties is low, taking
into account the financial position, past experience
and other factors of the related parties. The expected
credit loss rate for accounts receivable from related
parties is immaterial under lifetime ECLs method.
Thus, no loss allowance for accounts receivable from
related parties was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3 Mﬁﬁjﬁ%iﬂ&éﬁmlﬂ’z}
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) {8 (48)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BRI EE (8)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) ) EERE (&)

The following table provides information about TRIEHEBLAEERSE
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for —HRWREREARZEE

accounts receivable from third parties: REfeRIEHEEEE CE

#

Within 1 year —FR 1,486 (14) 4.08% (60) (74
Between1t02years  —ZEMFR 356 (1) 19.72% (70) (M)
Between2to3years  MEZFR 224 - 28.13% (63) (69)
Between3to4years  ZEMNFR 148 (1) 67.35% (99) (100)
Between4to5years  MZERFR 38 (1) 100% (37) (38)

Over 5 years RELE 435 (221) 100% (214) (435)

2,687 (238) (543) (781)

Within 1 year —ER 1217 (1) 4.36% (53) (54)
Between1t02years  —ZMFR 373 - 22.79% (85) (85)
Between2to3years  ME=FR 202 - 30.20% (61) (61)

Between 310 4 years “EMER 49 (1) 66.67% 32) (33)

Between 4 to 5 years NERFR 82 (0) 100% 62) (82)

Over 5 years AENE 372 (197) 100% (175) (372)

2095 219 (468) (687)

1 1 2 KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3 Mﬁ@ﬁ%fiﬁéﬁﬂlﬂﬂ
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) {8 (48)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BIKEREZE (&
Credit risk (Continued) b)) EERK (&)
ECL rates are based on actual loss experience over EHEEBEXERBA X
the past five years. These rates are adjusted to reflect hFEERBEERTE -
differences between economic conditions during ZELXBERRE L HUIBEK
the period over which the historic data has been SHEAZ&BERR  BER
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of WAL B MR A ZEWE
economic conditions over the expected lives of the REEHGFEEBHA LB
receivables. M=F 2Rz ERETHE -
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FEWER BEEEERER
accounts receivable during the year is as follows: FRZEBHIOT -
Balance at 1 January w1 A1 B&&% 687 787
Amounts written off WisH 2 FIE (36) (180)
Impairment losses recognised, net #E:R 2 BB EIE @ JF 58 130 80
Balance at 31 December W12 A 31 H &gk 781 687
ERRRERAT —BoMEFERS 113
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the
Group’s expected credit loss model for other
receivables is as follows:

Performing (“Stage 17) Customers have a low risk of
default and a strong capacity
to meet contractual cash
flows

E® (TR BEPENRREKBETALR
EMEWEENEE

Underperforming Receivables for which there is
(“Stage 27) a significant increase in credit

risk; as significant increase
in credit risk is presumed
if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past
due

Bx ([ ER2]) JEW FRIRE (E B A b R 15
AR R A SRR
BEBOK - AIRREERR
BEIEM

Non-performing Interest and/or principal
(“Stage 3”) repayments are 90 days past
due
TR (R3] B/ A BHEEHIOKR

1 1 4 KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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7N 62 B L 8 UK K TR TR H
FEEEREANBBERE
BT

12 months expected losses. Where the
expected lifetime of an asset is less
than 12 months, expected losses are
measured at its expected lifetime (“12
months ECL method”)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

Other receivables have been assessed for impairment
on a collective basis based on different credit risk
characteristics. Other receivables are categorised as
follows for assessment purpose:

Group 1 Specific provision

Group 2 Other receivables due from related
parties

Group 3 Other receivables due from other

parties

The Group has assessed that there is no significant
increase of credit risk for other receivables since
initial recognition. Thus, the Group used the 12
months expected losses and specific provision to
assess credit loss of other receivables. The Group
has assessed that the expected credit losses of other
receivables is not significant.

The loss allowance for other receivables at amortised
cost as at 31 December 2024 reconciles to the
opening loss allowance as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3 Bj#%)El Bﬁ‘ BRE£MIARD
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 15 (£#8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) B E s EE (88)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) b)) EERR (&)
Other receivables (Continued) H o fEY 508 ()
Opening loss allowance as at 1 January 2023 7 20234% 1 A1 BB BRI ES
BEE 185
Increase in the allowance recognised in profit or HIARIBE P R HE
loss during the period N 7

Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 720234 12 A 31 AR

EERE 192
Increase in the allowance recognised in profit or HAREE P EREE
loss during the period 3N 220

Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 #2024 12 A 31 HAHIR

BREEE 412
No financial assets at fair value through other WEZ AN FEFAEME
comprehensive income carry a significant exposure to HbmsemEEENE
credit risk. ANEERR
The Group has no significant concentration of credit AEBUYEEREFR 2E
risk. Bk
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset.

The Group’s liquidity risk management involves
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities. Management prepares
monthly cash flow budget to ensure that the Group
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Group arranges and
negotiates financing with financial institutions and
maintains a certain level of standby credit facilities to
reduce the Group’s liquidity risk.

Based on the existing level of gearing and continued
access to funding, the Group believes that its liquidity
risk is not material.

Analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on
the remaining period at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity dates are presented in Notes 28 and 29.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates and
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in below.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
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(d) Interest rate risk (Continued) o) FIEER (E)

The following table as reported to the management T&R(BEMARERERE

of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of T BEE 3R &) FF il AR S B A R

the Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting HHR 2 EEFERBRMMR

period.

Fixed rate borrowings: EEHE:

Bank loans FITER 3.02% 3,380 3.70% 7,708

Loans other than bank loans BRETEFAMZER 3.02% 11,294 3.21% 11,784

Lease liabilties HERE 4.28% 817 4.28% 711
15,491 20,203

Variable rate borrowings: BEEE:

Bank loans RITER 2.80% 8,339 3.09% 4,272

Loans other than bank loans BRBITEFUMZER 2.40% 449 2.98% 727

Net exposure [\ % 28 8,788 4,999

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit for the
year and retained earnings by approximately RMB66
million (2023: RMB38 million).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

BEREEREMIARD
=06 )]

32 EAXERER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3 §
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) F

-]

3.2 C(Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern,
optimise returns for shareholders and to minimise its cost
of capital. In meeting its objectives of managing capital, the
Group may issue new shares, adjust its debt levels or the
mix between short-term and long-term borrowings.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio which is calculated as the sum of interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities divided by the sum of total
equity, interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities.
The gearing ratio at 31 December 2024 is 21.46% (2023:
22.71%).

There were no changes in the management’s approach to
capital management of the Group during the year. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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F:2271%) ©

BEEHARENERERT &
EFRNLEEE - ARA] R EM
BRARY I ZKBINENERE
SRPTER

ERERERAT —E-NEFERE 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
55 B 75 e 2 FiE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation

120

(@)

Financial assets measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
valuation techniques which maximise the use
of observable market data and rely as little
as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 3
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets measured at fair value
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Recurring fairvalue ~ EEUATHE
Measurements itE
Fnancial assetsatfar ~ ATEHAL
vethoughother ~ H2EREZ
comprehensivencome~ £BEE
- Listed -k 22 221 -
- Unlisted -¥tm 4 - -

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occurred.

Information about fair value measurements

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the listed
equity securities are stated at fair values, which have
been determined by reference to bid prices quoted in
the respective stock exchanges.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost as of
31 December 2024 and 2023 were not materially
different from their fair values.

The fair values of long-term borrowings are based on
discounted cash flow using applicable discount rates
based upon the prevailing market rates of interest
available to the Group for financial instruments with
substantially the same terms and characteristics
at the date of the statement of financial position.
An analysis of the carrying amounts of long-term
borrowings is presented in Note 29.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Accounting judgments and estimates are regularly evaluated
by the Group, based on historical experience and other factors
which include expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

Significant sources of judgments and estimation uncertainty arise
from the impairment assessment of the LNG processing plants
and are described as follows:

Property, plant and equipment, including construction in
progress, are reviewed for possible impairments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Determination as to whether and how
much an asset is impaired involves management estimates and
judgements such as future prices of natural gas, future production
costs and discount rates used in discounting the projected
cash flows. However, the impairment reviews and calculations
are based on assumptions that are consistent with the Group’s
relevant budget. Favourable changes to some assumptions may
allow the Group to avoid the need to impair any assets, whereas
unfavourable changes may cause the assets to become impaired.
Note 15 contains further information about the risk factors and
carrying amounts of the LNG processing plants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE

Revenue mainly represents revenue from the sales of natural
gas, sales of LPG, LNG processing and terminal business, and
sales of crude oil. Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 by major products or
service lines is as follows:

Aok 1 o 5 o W R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

A

WATBHERAERAREE  LPGH
& - LNGHD T 22 % 8 5 75 K 35 & JR Ui
ZWN o BB IS M E LR FE 1557 §
ERNZKBEEFEHNZBRARIEBE
mk RSB RIAD AT

2023
2023 F
RMB’million
ARBBETT
Disaggregated by major products or RXEERIRE
service lines R
— Sales of natural gas products —RARIHE 152,090 140,600
— Sales of LPG —LPGHE 25,601 26,801
— Revenue from LNG processing and —LNG 1 T EfFEE
terminal service Bl 7% U A 9,184 9,042
— Sales of crude oil —FRHiEE 171 911
187,046 177,354

The Group’s revenue are substantially derived from the sales
of goods to customers in the PRC and recognised at a point in
time. The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales and service contracts such that the
above information does not include information about revenue
that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the sales or service contracts that
had an original expected duration of one year or less.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is
disclosed in Note 33.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Accounting policy of revenue recognition:

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the Group’s assets in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the products are
a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/
or services, then the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative standalone selling
price basis.

(i) Rendering of services

The Group’s revenue from rendering of services is primarily
attributable to provision of LNG gasification and unloading
services. Revenue from the rendering of these services
is recognised in the profit or loss upon the gasification or
unloading of LNG.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

OTHER GAINS, NET 6 Hittikzs FEE
2023
20234
RMB’million
AREBHETT
Net exchange losses PE 5 BB F RE (59) (140)
Rental income el A 386 122
Government grants and others BT 48 B & H A 1,193 921
1,520 903
INTEREST INCOME 7 FBWA
2023
20234
RMB’million
AREBETT
Interest income on: FHEZMBWA -
— Amounts due from related parties — e U BB 5 B 208 197
- Bank deposits —8RITERK 660 673
958 870
ERRRERAT —BoMEFERS 125
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

8 EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION COSTS 8 EEMHEMA
2023
2023
RMB’million
ARBEEHETT
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERER 5,302 5,455
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R4 5124t 7% 528 515
5,830 5,970

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group
participates in various defined contribution retirement plans
organised by municipal and provincial governments for its
employees. The Group is required to make contributions to the
retirement plans at rates ranging from 14% to 20% of the salaries,
bonus and certain allowances of its staff. The Group has no other
material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated
with these plans beyond the annual contributions described
above.

The Group did not have any forfeited contribution for the year
ended 31 December 2024 in connection with the defined plan
operated by municipal and provincial government.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

INTEREST EXPENSES 9 FEZH

2024 2023
2024 F£ 2023 4

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEER ARBEBEETT

Interest expenses on: FEZHEZE
Bank loans RITER 392 566
Senior notes BEER 140 140
Other loans, from: HMEmR 8-
— China Petroleum Finance Co., Ltd — R AR A A
(“CP Finance”) ([HmBr 7)) 275 257
Interests on lease liabilities HEaGBZFE 28 32
835 995
Less: Amounts capitalised BN EERE (32) (35)
803 960
Amounts capitalised are borrowing costs that are attributable to Bt HRREENaRt2EEM
the construction of qualifying assets. The average interest rate BMEENA - HE2024F12 4311
used to capitalise such borrowing cost was 3.41% per annum for EFE BN EEEXNAFTAZ
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 3.94%). TG FFE 5 38.41% (2023 F : 3.94%) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

10 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE FROM 10 SR EXBIRMEHER

CONTINUING OPERATIONS Al i Al
ltems charged in arriving at the profit before income tax expense BRATISIHE A& BRI TIER
include:

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEERR ARBBAETT

Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN B 2

— audit services —Z BRI 29 31

- non-audit services — IR EBR TS 3 2
Cost of inventories recognised as expense &R &MY 2 7&K & 161,750 151,161
Depreciation charge and depletion of ME BERIBIINES

property, plant and equipment R iEFE

— owned assets —-BEEE 4,547 4,388

— right-of-use assets —FREEE 531 518
Amortisation cost of LATRIE B 2 885 AR

— intangible assets —-BEEE 82 86
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation & - 185 & # 8 5,160 4,992
Impairment losses on property, plantand  #9% « &= M & &R (E

equipment &8 565 368
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS 1 EERETIZENE
Details of the emoluments of directors for the years ended 31 H E 2024 & 2023F 12 31 B L4
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: ERESZHMEFBOT

2024 Total
2024 F @5t
RMB'000
ARETTT

Directors: N
Mr Fu Bin R84 = = - - -
Mr Qian Zhijia BARELE = = - - -

Ms Lyu Jing (appointed as A & 22 £ (742024
Non-executive Directoron %5 A8 HEZR

8 May 2024) EHFMITES) - ~ - - -
Mr Zhou Yuanhong BAEBRE

(resigned on 8 May 2024) (A 202445 A

8 HEHE) - = - - -

Mr Gao Xiangzhong BAREE

(resigned on 25 March (2025463 A

2025) 26 B BHE) - ~ - - -
Mr Qi Zhenzhong FiRE LA

(appointed as Non- (R 2025%3 A

executive Director on B5HEZE

25 March 2025) FHITES) - - - - =
Dr Liu Xiao Feng EREL 274 - - - 274
Mr Sun Patrick FEERE 274 - - - 274
Mr Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & $EA% 50 & 274 - - - 274

822 - - - 822

ERRRERAT —BoMEFERS 129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

11 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS 11 EERETI £ (&)
(CONTINUED)
2023
2023 F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions 2023 Total
e 2
E5we REBERH BBIEAL RINGTEIHIR 2023 F 45+
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T AREBT T AREBTT ARBTT
Directors: =
Mr Fu Bin 38 5% & - - - - -
Mr Qian Zhijia BAREE - - - - -
Mr Zhou Yuanhong [EEBEE - - - - -
Mr Gao Xiangzhong mAREE - - - - -
Dr Liu Xiao Feng Ell=1 3 270 - - - 270
Mr Sun Patrick FEERE 270 - - - 270
Mr Tsang Yok Sing Jasper & £Epk 5t 4 270 - - - 270
810 - - - 810
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11 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In addition to the directors’ emoluments disclosed above, certain
directors of the Company receive emoluments from other CNPC
group companies they are employed to. No apportionment has
been made as the directors consider that it is impracticable to
apportion this amount between their services to the Group and
their services to other CNPC group companies.

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year including zero (2023: zero) director whose
emolument is reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining five (2023: five)
individuals during the year are as follows:

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

1" EEREIZIME (&)

REXHBNESHMN  ARFHE
TEETREXENEMRHRERR
ABEHN AR EFTR RN EEY
AEEMRGEGSHEMTHREEH
NEINRG 2B #Ze BT ER
WAL A ) o

AEEAEBRARESHEALTBE
X (2023F BR)EE FE M
SER MDA R - FRT K
JER T THSZ (2023F : 5A) © A
TMenT

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR Tx ARETF T

Salaries and other emoluments e MEAE 5,243 5,054
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL - -
Retirement scheme contributions IRURETEI R 452 451
5,695 5,505

The emoluments fell within the

Number of Individuals

following band: MeENFTHER: EVIN
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ TTA T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 7T £ 1,500,000 78 7T 4 4

None of the Directors has waived their remuneration during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not
incur any severance payment to any director or the five highest
paid individuals for loss of office or any payment as inducement
to any director or the five highest paid individuals to join the
Company (2023: Nil).

HE2024F 12 A1 HILFE - #iES
EREEME (20234F : &) o

HE2024F 12 A3 BIEFE  NAT]
VERAITMEERKAEAEaFMAL
BER: i S BB SR TR RIBEE
ABENEERRAEZERHFMALTMA
ANQR)ZE (20234 « 4)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

12

132

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12 FhiEHEH
2023
20234
RMB’million
AREEHEET

Current tax B HA B 18

-PRC — 3,066 3,165
- Overseas — 850 42 107
3,108 3,272
Deferred tax (Note 30(b)) IE 1R (Mt & 30(b)) 20 66
3,128 3,338

In accordance with the relevant Mainland China income tax rules
and regulations, the Mainland China corporate income tax rate
applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China
is principally 25% (2023: 25%). The operations of the Group
in certain regions in the Mainland China are qualified for tax
incentives in the form of a preferential income tax rates ranging
from 15% to 20% (2023: 15% to 20%).

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for as the Group
has no assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
year (2023: Nil).

Income tax on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated relevant assessable profit for the year at the applicable
rates of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

In 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development published the Global Anti-Base Erosion Model
Rules (“Pillar Two model rules”) for a new global minimum tax
reform applicable to large multinational enterprises. The Group’s
operations are mainly located in the PRC where Pillar Two income
tax legislation is not implemented. So far the Pillar Two model
didn’t have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements and no Pillar Two income tax was recognized during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12 FiSHER (&

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax expense differs NE EBRFTS 5B A RE Il 2 5
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the corporate EREARNASEE ZHER iﬂm%ﬁﬁ
income tax rate in the Mainland China applicable to the Group as SRR EAFE EREE I EZEN
follows: T

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 FF

RMB’million RMB’million
AR®EBEER ARBEHET

Profit before income tax expense Bk AT1S R & A A S A 12,635 12,593
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% 1R 8 K 25% (2023 4F : 25%)

(2023: 25%) FTEZIE 3,159 3,148
Effect of different tax rates MEEZR 728 (297) (193)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BABFU }\Z Y%7 ?/ & (174) (93)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AL T H 2 T2 &

tax purposes 211 275
Tax effect of share of profits less losses of &1k Bt & A 7% AR E 18 2

associates W2 (114) (89)
Tax effect of share of profits less losses of [JE/H & & (R FEE 2~

joint ventures METE (92) (98)
Tax effect of deferred tax not recognised A IERIELEF B 2 RIEH & 111 117
Tax effect of withholding tax on dividends & 4 sk & W I 8. 2 78 41 TRZ

received or receivable MG B 324 271
Income tax expense PS8 H 3,128 3,338
The income tax rate used in the calculation above is the Mainland FRAEFRACAGHEBEERAPER
China tax rate which is the jurisdiction where the operations of the HMRE AEAARNEEETEER
Group are substantially based. KEFE A EEERE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

13 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately RMB 5,960 million respectively
(2023: RMB5,682 million), and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
31 December 2024 of approximately 8,659 million shares
(2023: 8,659 million shares).

Diluted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued
operations for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
are the same as the basic earnings per share as there were
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued.

14 DIVIDEND ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

(1)

134

Dividends proposed to shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

Proposed final dividend for 2024
(note (a))

BB (MHEE (a)

Interim dividend for 2024 (note (b)) 2024 F R IR B
(M 5E (b))

Final dividend for 2023 (note (c)) 2023 F R HIRL B
(5T ()

13 BREXRBERF

(@)

BRERBFTIREARGRE
FE(E RSB 2 % F 4 A R 5,960
A& T (20234F : AR ¥ 5,682
BB UWREZE2024F12A4
S1HIEFEEBITE @A IMETF
980 478,659 8 & % (20234 :
8,650 A B %) FTE o

AR EE TS TR -
A = 2024 F % 2023 F 12 A 31
AEFEZHERDRIEFEL
EEBHNSRBEERNNEGRE
REFER o

14 AAQTRRELRE

(i)

BREE 7 2024 F R HA

RMB’million
ARBEER

AEERRKETALQA
IRERAIAR B

2024
2024 &

2023
2023
RMB’million
ARBEEHETT
1,314 -

1,421 -

- 2,457
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 DIVIDEND ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

Dividends proposed to shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year (Continued)

Notes:

(@) At the meeting on 25 March 2025, the Board of Directors
proposed final dividend attributable to shareholders of the
Company in respect of 2024 of RMB15.17 cents per share
amounting to a total of approximately RMB1,314 million. The
amount is based on approximately 8,659 million shares in issue
as at 25 March 2025. The consolidated financial statements
do not reflect this dividend payable as the final dividend was
proposed after the date of the statement of financial position
and will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of
retained earnings in the year ending 31 December 2025 when it
is approved at the 2025 Annual General Meeting.

(b) At the meeting on 26 August 2024, the Board of Directors
has declared a payment of an interim dividend attributable to
shareholders of the Company for the six months ended 30
June 2024 of RMB16.41 cents per share, amounting to a total
of approximately RMB1,421 million. The amount is based on
approximately 8,659 million shares in issue as at 26 August
2024 which was paid on 31 October 2024. (six months ended
30 June 2023: Nil).

(© Final dividend attributable to shareholders of the Company in
respect of 2023 of RMB28.38 cents per share amounting to a
total of approximately RMB2,457 million was approved by the
shareholders in the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2024.
The amount is based on approximately 8,659 million shares in
issue as at 25 March 2024 which was paid on 18 July 2024.

Dividends payable to shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

14 AQTRREGRE ()

(1)

AEERIKRETAQT
IRRa AR B (4])

B aE

(@ R2025F3AHEBITHNEE
F EFgEAEAN22024F A
NABREIRERPERETRA
R¥AA7TD AHBOABARE
1,314 B BT ° sk & EE R 2025
F3H25H#418,659H B KD #
TIRMETE - SRE MR ERI A
RBRZ R AR S - A AR B S
TR AR R R BERESE I
12025 F IREBEF ARG &
BHERIEAREE2025F 12 A
31HILEFEMRF AR DB
ABEES ©

() H2024F8A26HEITHEZ
L EFeERARAARREEIR
H E2024F6 A30H 1L E A
ZHEREERARK16.415 -
BEAHEHARE1 42158 -
ZEEIEN2024F8 A26 H
B 177 498,650 A B IR IR 15 5t
WD R2024F10A31H X
(B = 2023F6 A308 1L/~ A
B ) e

) 20234 AN A &) A% B FE 4G K HA A%
EERARK2838%  BEA
HOANRB2457BE T R
2024F 5 A0 HER KB F K
GEEREE - ZSEER
2024 3 425 H 498,659 A &8 K&
BEITRMEE W ER2024
F7R18H% T -

RMB’million RMB’million
AR®EBEER ARBEET

Final dividend in respect of the previous _t — Bf B £F & #) R HA AL &
financial year, approved and paid (RARFEHE R

during the year

2,457 2,198
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HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

136

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% - BERRE
Total
]
RMB'millon
AREBEL
Cost B
Balances at 1 January 2023 NONEIF1EES 5,063 4876 9,983 19,177 17 4100 13309 118,22
Cuency translaion cferences SHEREER 2 - 2 1 1 - 2 %
Addtions HE 349 3t 37 35 02 57 3041 4722
Acauistion through busness ERERAMEANE
combination 11 14 - 50 - 1 - 16
Disposls £E ] (97 85%) (1,700 4 o) B ()
Translers £ ll - - 4376 il a0 (4.809) -
Rechssfication BB 154 - - (106 ] 2 - -
Balances at 31 December 2023 MOBE1 A BES 5319 5044 1516 81,804 1369 4388 11,981 111441
Balances at 1 January 2024 NUEIR1BER 5319 5,044 1,516 81,824 1,369 4,388 11,981 111,441
Curency translaion cferences EHENEE 1 - pij 1 1 - - %0
Additions HE 303 2 3 15 59 142 4,061 4,987
Accuiton through business FRRBAETRE
combination - 1 - - - - - 1
Disposls %2 %) 79 - (1969 5 1) ® B
Transfers b 114 7 - 3310 11 % (3,336) -
Rechssfication EEipd 21 - - (4,356 § 1129 - -
Belances at 31 December 2024 ROUE1D A BER 5,568 5,001 1,578 81,865 1,194 55382 12,461 113,289

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
576 B AR P

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 W% - MENE (&)

Total
8
RMB'milion
NEEEER

Accumulated Depreciationand ~ EiFTERAE

Impairment
Balances at 1 January 2023 IBEIR1BES 1934 473 9,561 30,567 1349 2,159 2,648 48,691
Cumency transaton cferences EEEREE 1 - 3 1 1 - - Y
Charge for the year KEERH 30 19 1% 3,868 62 il - 4906
Disosds kE 89 B B ) wp a0 W (0%
Impaiment AE Y - - yIi) 3 Kl % 38
Reclassfication EEpE % - - (13 (M 8 - -
Balances at 31 December 2023 ROBE AN BES 2015 5719 1200 33,641 1,008 2,081 2,63 43409
Balances at 1 January 2024 NAMEIR1BES 2015 579 1,250 33,641 1,008 2,281 2,635 43,409
Cumency translaion cferences SHEER 1 - % 1 1 = - i
Cherge for the year REERH 30 1% 16 4205 53 19% - 5078
Disosds %3 %) ) - (1794 29 (14) o R
Impaiment HE 4 - - (267) - 4 T4 565
Reclasifcation EEipl 57 - - (523) 5 461 - -
Balances at 31 December 2024 ROUE A BER 2212 662 1,20 35,283 839 2832 3,354 46,492
Net book value: RERE:

Balances at 31 December 2024 ROUE A BES 3,356 4,409 28 46,562 355 2,700 9,107 66,797
Balances at 31 December 2023 NABE1ANALES 3,304 4465 266 48,183 361 2,107 9,346 68,032
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15 YE -BERRE (B

138

The buildings of the Group are mainly located in the PRC.

Other assets mainly comprises of containers, roads, bridges and
others.

Certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC which was granted for use by the
relevant government authorities to the Group at nil consideration
with no specific terms of usage.

As at 31 December 2024, certain property, plant and equipment
of the Group amounting to RMB906 million (2023: RMB818
million) were mortgaged to banks for loan facilities granted to the
Group.

Uncertainty in future LNG prices, production costs, changes in
operating conditions and economic outlook gave rise to possible
indicators that the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment attributable to the LNG processing plants as at 31
December 2024 might be impaired. Each LNG processing
plant operated by the Group has been identified as a separate
cashgenerating unit (“CGU”) for impairment assessment
purposes. The Group has conducted impairment tests and the
recoverable amounts are determined using the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use, which involved significant
assumptions such as future LNG prices, future production costs
and discount rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the cost, accumulated depreciation,
accumulated impairment and net book value of Group’s property,
plant and equipment relating to the Group’s LNG processing
plants were RMB14,146 million, RMB3,858 million, RMB4,111
million and RMB 6,177 million, respectively (2023: RMB14,693
million, RMB3,581 million, RMB4,313 million and RMB6,799
million, respectively). As at 31 December 2024, RMB 678 million
impairment was recognised and RMB395 million reversal of
impairment was recognised for LNG processing plants. (2023:
Nil).

Discounted cash flow was used in value in use calculation of the
LNG processing plants. Future cash flows were discounted using
pre-tax discount rates ranging from 11.00% to 15.36% for the
current year (2023: 12.84% to 16.38%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of the Group’s right-of-use
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

ME - RERRE ()
EHEEE

UTNRARSEREEEERRE D Z
EREEERTFEDT

31 December

2023

2023 fF

12 A 31 H

RMB’million

AREBET

Buildings BF () 451 409
Leasehold land leased forownuse FAENUEE A2 HELH (i) 4,409 4,465
Equipment and machinery B (i) 64 107
Motor vehicles E 33 12
Others HMIER 165 102
5,122 5,095

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

HHEREERRE D Z

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

HENEaRZHERARE X HER

2023
2023 £F
RMB’million
AREBHETT

2024

RMB’million
ARBEETR

by class of underlying asset: ERBEENESH

Buildings BF 242 224
Leasehold land leased for own use MENEBRZHEELH 196 194
Equipment and machinery X L Es 30 42
Motor vehicles qE 12 9
Others HAtt 51 49

531 518
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9) HEBERE (M) 28 32
Expense relating to short-term leases Ha %8 BAFH S ARRE 2 2 355 431
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were RMB801
million (2023: RMB690 million). No right-of-use assets (2023:
Nil) was acquired thought business combination during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Details of total cash outflows for leases is set out in Notes 25(c).

(i)

(i)

140

Buildings

The Group has obtained the right to use buildings as its
warehouses and offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 10 years.

Leasehold land leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use of certain leasehold
land in the PRC. The leases typically run for a period of 10
to 50 years.

Equipment and machinery

The Group leases equipment and machinery under leases
expiring from 16 to 20 years. Some leases include an option
to purchase the leased equipment at the end of the lease
term at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase option.

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

15 Y% - BERRE (&

EHEEE (&)

FAN - FHAEEEAEAAREKSOTH
BT (20234F : AR®GIOBEETT) ©
HE2024F 12 A31HILFEIL EFE

BEFES GRS (20234 - M) (F A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation methods and useful life

Depreciation to write-off the cost of each asset, other than oil and
gas properties, to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives is calculated using the straight-line method.

The Group uses the following useful lives for depreciation
purposes:

40 years or over the remaining
period of respective leases
whichever is the shorter

— Buildings

— Leasehold land leased for lease term
own use

— Natural gas pipelines 10-30 years

— Equipment and machinery 4-30 years

— Motor vehicles 4-14 years

— Others 5-12 years

The cost of oil and gas properties is amortised at the field level
based on the units of production method.

No depreciation is provided for construction in progress until the
assets are completed and ready for use.

See Note 40(e) for the other accounting policies relevant to
property, plant and equipment.

15

ERERERATE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

ME - - BERRE(E
TEHFEZMERFR

FEDRAEREEAREMEH
ERFHMHETREE (ABRRAAR
MERIN) 2 RAREERISREE

7 52 B4 AR LA T 8 P 4 R PR A B

—& ADFHEHEZ
R T EARR (BARR
REB%E)

—HENEERz HEH

izl =guup:

—RAREE 10-304F

— iR R 4-30 4

—A8 4-14 %

—HAth 5124

foH R R AR 2 R TS PAH B
BAIREBMESET AN -

FEETREAET T RARAER AT
RITE -

HiBmYE BENMREHEBE 2S5
B R FE40() ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

There is no individually material associate which significantly
affects the results and net assets of the Group at 31 December
2024.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

Aggregate carrying amount of individually
immaterial associates in the consolidated

16 REBEQT2IRE
TEBEANBEZZHE RN HAELEE
N2024F 12 AT B 2 22 R B E F
BEEKERTE-

BRI TEZ B ZERRZEHER :

2024
2024 &

2023

20234
RMB’million
AREBHETT

RMB’million
ARBEHE T

BRI NEE 2B E R RN
RAEPBERERZBEEE

financial statements 8,567 7,980
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share  AKNEEE(RZZH 2 A a2

of those associates’ BEHE

— Profit — & 599 466

— Other comprehensive income —H i 2K 31 5
Total comprehensive income EHER =BT 630 471

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

17 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17 REEBELEEZIRE
There is no individually material joint venture which significantly WEENBEZE,ABELEHAEEH
affects the results and net assets of the Group at 31 December MR2024F 12 A31H Z £BENEEF
2024, BEKNEATE -
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually ERTEZEZEERECZEHER
material:

2023
2023 FF

RMB’million
ARBEBET

Aggregate carrying amount of individually BRI TEZ > A& %R
immaterial joint ventures in the REMBHRKk CAREE
consolidated financial statements 6,157 6,109

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share ARNEEEEZEAEBENEY

of those joint ventures’ PN

— Profit — ) 527 579

— Other comprehensive income —Hih2E K 20 23
Total comprehensive income 2HEKRBEE 547 602

ERRRERAT —BoMEFERS 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 18 NfBATIZIRE
Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36. EHATEMB AR ZFFIBENMIFES6 -
The following tables list out the information related to PetroChina TRINEFBEAHIHRERARE
Jiangsu LNG Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu LNG”) which is a subsidiary of RARE (MIERLNG]) 2 BEE R - %
the Group which has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). RNABRNEBHESERIEE T EE R
The summarised financial information presented below represents ([FEs=dl MRz B AR - AT
the amounts of NCI portion before any inter-company elimination. 27z BB ERBZERRNEMAT

BORSHA TR RSB 2 25 -

Jiangsu LNG
L& LNG
2024 2023

2024 & 2023 4
RMB’million RMB’million
AREEBEETT ARBEHETT

NCI percentage JEEHIMER A DL 45% 45%
Current assets MBEE 2,994 2,668
Non-current assets EMBNEE 3,825 4,148
Current liabilities FEEE (210) (236)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (89) (92)
Net assets BEFE 6,520 6,488
Carrying amount of NCI FEFEH M R AR E (A 2,934 2,920
Revenue WA 2,802 2,798
Profit and total comprehensive income for & A4 ) &2 2 T UK 25 42 58

the year 1,532 1,671
Profit allocated to NCI 5 BE 2 FEAE I R A 2 e 689 752
Dividend paid to NCI EATIEIE S iR 2 BB 675 765
Cash flows generated from operating KEEBBSZEERE

activities 1,874 2,269
Cash flows (used in)/generated from WEEK(FTR) EEX2

investing activities RenhE (380) 274
Cash flows used in financing activities BREEHACEERE (1,500) (2,536)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 18 RBLATIZIRE (&
T&IEFERBRERILEARE
BAT ([RELNG)) 2 &R - &
AT AREEEAE AR
(TIEfE I MM B AT - T
FR25 2 B aR BRI aA T
RS b G4 BT SE R ME AR 25 BB 5 2 S

The following tables list out the information related to PetroChina
Jingtang LNG Co., Ltd. (“Jingtang LNG”) which is a subsidiary of
the Group which has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”).
The summarised financial information presented below represents
the amounts of NCI portion before any inter-company elimination.

Jingtang LNG

HELNG
2023
2023
RMB’million
ARBBETT
NCI percentage FEEHI R DL 49% 49%
Current assets mENEE 3,309 3,230
Non-current assets EMENEE 3,548 3,796
Current liabilities mENEE (246) (854)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (6) @)
Net assets BEFE 6,605 6,170
Carrying amount of NCI SEVE Gt R BRE(E 3,236 3,023
Revenue WA 2,071 2,193
Profit and total comprehensive income FREM R 2R =R
for the year 1,034 1,052
Profit allocated to NCI 7 BE 2 FEIE I R R 2 e 507 515
Dividend paid to NCI EAT IS R 2 IR B 294 204
Cash flows generated from operating REEBHBCHEERE
activities 1,284 1,457

Cash flows used in investing activities REEBFACESRE (576) (1,442)
Cash flows used in financing activities MEEZHAZESRE (1,203) )
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BREE
The intangible assets mainly comprise goodwill, contract BEREEETEZERENE ARBE-
relationships, franchised rights and computer software costs. The R EREKSEREA BEEE
movements in intangible assets are as follows: gEmT -

2023
2023F
Goodwil Others Total

58 A @
RMB'million ~ RMB'milion  RMB'miillion
\REAET ARBEER AREAET

At 1 January W1A1H 516 1,239 1,755 515 1,334 1,849
Additions NE - 6 6 - 3 3
Currency translation differences ERELEE - - - - 1 1
Acqisition through business BREBEMETIE
combination - - - 1 - 1
Disposal RE - (43) (43) - (19 (19
Amortisation for the year (note () AN E8 (EE () - (82) (82) - (86) (86)
Impairment HE (110) - (110) - - -
At 31 December R12A31H 406 1,120 1,526 516 1,239 1,755
)  The additions of goodwill were mainly due to the Group’s () PEEREIZEHREIEERAR
acquisition transactions of natural gas sales segment. HERENKERZS - ABEAR
Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is AERFEEEEE 2 #ET)
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the REEMGAIERAFHRNUNER
assets’ estimated useful lives. EEE P HIER o
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed BN FH R A SFEER -
annually.
See Note 40(f) for the other accounting policies relevant to HEthBEEPEEMRB 2 HBUR
intangible assets. R HIEE40(f) ©
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 20

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Equity securities designated at FVOCI:

BERBEATFEFAEME

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

BOFE AHMEE RS
ZEMEE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4

RMB’million
ARBEER

RMB’million
ARBBEETT

AR EZRAFES
— Listed in Australia — B AAF R B 19 25
— Listed in Hong Kong —REB LT 3 3
— Listed in the Mainland China —RAH B KR B 199 289
— Unlisted in the Mainland China — B KREEIEET 43 43
264 360

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income in the consolidated
statement of financial position by the measurement hierarchy are
set out in Note 3.3(a).

The Group designated financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income at FVOCI, as the investments are held for
strategic purposes.

No dividends were received on these investments during the year
(2023: Nil). Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income of RMB95 million (2023: Gain
RMB33 million), net of tax of RMB1 million (2023: RMB8 million)
was recognised in other comprehensive income during the year.

AEERNGEAETHBRARBTESFR
0B AFEFAREMSEEEREZ
EREEZREESHNIHES.30) -

MR ABRENREREAEMIEA -
AU ASEEERQFEFAE MR
mW S EREER/EAFEFAR
o 2 E RS F & -

RNEFEEWEZERE WA R E
(2023F : &) - R FEFTAEAM
THRGEZEREENATFEEEA
R¥o5H &t (20234 : s AR
BEET) MBEHEBEARK1IBET
(2023F : ARBSHEL)) FRANE
ftb 2 T WK 2SR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

21 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 21 HiEREBEE
Other non-current assets mainly comprise prepaid construction HiIERBEET EREBEMNEERR -
costs.
22 INVENTORIES 2 #E8
2023
2023 F
RMB’million
AREBETT
Natural gas KAR 1,130 1,152
Crude oil and others JR oM & E At 1 3
1,131 1,155
23 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 23 FEURBERX
2023
2023 F
RMB’million
ARBBEETT
Accounts Receivable JiE U BR 3K 3,325 2,664
Loss allowance BB (781) (687)
2,544 1,977
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 23 FEUWEREX (88)
Ageing analysis RiER o
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HERSHR  BUEROREER
accounts receivable, based on the invoice date and net of loss B IREZEARZRESTET -
allowance, is as follows:
2023
20234
RMB’million
AREBEET
Within 3 months =EALR 1,713 1,386
Between 3 to 6 months “EAEXREARAA 58 66
Between 6 to 12 months NERE+TZEAR 252 111
Over 12 months TZEAMNE 521 414
2,544 1,977
The Group’s revenue from rendering of terminal services and AEEGRBEERBRSE RRBHEE
sales of crude oil are generally collectable within a period ranging A — MR R B HIEET 30 H £ 90
from 30 to 90 days from the invoice date while the sales of natural HEAEWE  MiEERARARE X
gas are made in cash or on credit terms no more than 90 days. NEEERT#BIR0R - K& ITZ B
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk and BREERBUEREREEZEFERR X
expected credit loss arising from accounts receivable are set out EEHEEBECE—FTFHG %WilJ S
in Note 3.1(b). BisE3.1(0) °
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 24 JENRRHEMREIEE

2023

2023 F

RMB’million

AREBBETT

Prepayments NN 4,744 5111
Other receivables, net of credit losses HEM IR - R EE

% 1,414 1,371

Contract assets AREE 1,282 1,210

Loans to third parties ME=ZFREER 16 33

Dividends receivable FEU AR B 50 3

Value-added tax recoverable AT BB E R 547 548

Other current assets B Re & E 417 202

8,470 8,478

ERERERATE

“ENEFEHRS
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56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25 RERFEEEFEER
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise (a) ;%2 RASEEEHE

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 F

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEERR ARBBAETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 27,815 25,043
Short-term bank deposits MHRITE K 12 2,310
Time deposits with maturities over ~ Z|E B BB =@ A 2 F

three months T 17,265 18,235

Cash and cash equivalents and time 384 N4 HEEE &

deposits TEHATE 3K 45,092 45,588
Less: time deposits with maturities & : ZIBEBB=EA =
over three months TEHATE R (17,265) (18,235)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEEAR 27,827 27,353
As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank and bank deposits MR2024%F 12 A31H 7R &
carried interest at prevailing weighted average market rate MR FEEZIRBITINEF Y TS
of 0.26% per annum (2023: 0.33% per annum). FFE0.26% (2023 4F : F F =X

0.33%) 5 &

Included in bank deposits, cash at bank and on hand WITER  ROLKFHEESEE
are amounts of approximately RMB25,479 million (2023: TFRRA B A R 1T I0 LA A R #E
RMB23,378 million) denominated in RMB which are FHEZHBOARKE254798 8
deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these 7t (20234 : AR ¥23,378 B &
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and L) cREUNARBEEZ &%
the remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject HBINERBECELFERA
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control 1039 B A B BT 2846 2 HNE
promulgated by the PRC Government. B IR B ROERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 25 MERREFEEL ()
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise (Continued) @ RERBAEFEHEEE
% (1)
The carrying amounts of bank deposits, cash at bank and RITER - RITNFBEIRSHE
at hand are denominated in the following currencies: EENA TN E®EYE :

2023

20234

RMB’million

ARBEBHET

RMB AR 41,906 43,215

US Dollar ET 2,717 1,922

Thai Baht Tk 423 406

HK Dollar BT 39 34

Other Hip 7 11

Cash and cash equivalents and RERBFLEFBEEER
time deposits TEHATF 3K 45,092 45,588
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 25 ReEkBRE&FEEA (B)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing b MEZFBREENER
activities AR
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAMAEEREEBIES
from financing activities, including both cash and non- WEEES eRBAS LIRS
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are 2y -METMAEEANAGIE
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows wil rEBEGERENERPEEN
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash ERTVERIRKRERER
flows as cash flows from financing activities. NEARMEEHMEEANE SR

EMEE-

Total
- H
RMB’million
AR¥EEBR
At 1 January 2024 R2024E1818 24,491 711 424 25,626
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERERD
Increase in borrowings EEEm 6,457 = = 6,457
Repayment of borrowings BEiEE (7,184) - - (7,184)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERHEREAEHH - (486) - (486)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERAERLH BN - (28) = (28)
Interest paid BERFE (740) - - (740)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the BERARARRRE
Company - - (3,878) (3,878)
Other dividends paid EREMRE - - (3,218) (3,218)
Total changes from financing cash flows  BERERERDLE (146 | 614 (0% 07
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EZ£Hv & 39 - - 39
Other changes: Higs .
Net changes in lease liabllties during the year FRHE A EFE - 592 - 502
Interest expenses MERZ 807 28 - 835
Dividends to shareholders of the Company AR AIRERRE - - 3,878 3,878
Disposal of subsidlaries REKBAF (408) - - (408)
Dividends to non-controling interests I RERRA - - 2,952 2,052
Total other changes Atenas 399 620 6,830 7,849
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 23,462 817 158 24,437
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 25 WERRELEHIEH (F)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing b) MEEHFEENEE

activities (Continued) £ R (48)
ARERET

At 1 January 2023 R2023%1F18 25,081 770 133 25,984
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRERT
Increase in borrowings fEEEm 6,156 - - 6,156
Repayment of borrowings BEREE (6,870) - - (6,870)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHERS AR - (448) - (448)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BARERSFSHHR - (32) - (32
Interest paid BERFE (935) - - (935)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the BERARARERE

Company - - (2,198) (2,198)
Other dividends paid EREMRE - - (2,257) (2,257)
Total changes from financing cash flows  MEREARRBAR (64 | U . N 5
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EZ£H25E 96 - - 96
Other changes: 25
Net changes in lease liabilities during the year ~ F W & & &% & - 389 - 389
Interest expenses MERY 963 32 - 995
Dividends to shareholders of the Company A A RIS - - 2,198 2,198
Dividends to non-controlling interests FEHIMERRS - - 2,548 2,548
Total other changes Hugaes 963 421 4,746 6,130
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A31H 24,491 Ak 424 25,626

ERERERATE

SECMEEEHS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflows for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash
flows for leases comprise the following:

25 REkREFEHER (B)
) HERLRHEHE

REEFAGARERERZE
BERATRE:

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’million RMB’million

AREEER ARBBET

Within operating cash flows KERSMEF 752 749
Within investing cash flows REBREREF 148 216
Within financing cash flows MERSREF 514 480
1,414 1,445

These amounts relate to the following:

2023

2023 F

RMB’million RMB’million

AREEET AREBETT

Lease rentals paid ENHEERS 1,266 1,229
Additions of leasehold lands leased AEHEEER2HEE

for own use T 148 216

1,414 1,445
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 BgA
Nominal value of
ordinary shares
HK$’million
TEARE(E
AEETT
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each AR ETE0.018 T2 ZiEAR
At 1 January 2023, R2023F1H1H -
31 December 2023, 202312 A31H »
1 January 2024 and 20241 A1H K
31 December 2024 2024 %12 A31H 16,000 160
Nominal value of
ordinary shares
RMB’million
TimkmEmE
ARBBETT
Issued and fully paid: BT BB 1,266 1,229
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 7R E B 0.01 8.2 AR
At 1 January 2023, R2023F1 418
31 December 2023, 2023412 A31H -
1 January 2024 and 2024F1 A1B X
31 December 2024 2024412 A31H 8,659 71
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

27 OTHER RESERVES

(@)

156

Movements in components of other reserves

Group
158

27 Hih{#E

(a) ELfthfafE 40 X & E

g
RVB'million
\EEEET

Balances at 31 December 2022 W2NRE12A3AR

and 1 January 2023 NNE1F1AEE 35,884 109 8,6%) 170 108 4169 31,742 28,09 59,837
Tota comprehenshe ncome for -~ ERZENEAE

theyer - - - % 0 - 05 56
Transfer between resenves e - - - - - 152 12 (15) -
Frlchicend for 2022 N0EXERE - - - - - - N R
Others i - - - - - b4 64 - B4
Balances at 31 December 2023 H2023F12A 31 B4 3,884 109 (6,6%) 19 7 4385 31,961 342 63378
Balances at 31 December 2023 M2023E12831AR

and 1 January 2024 NMEIRIREER  %HpY 00 669 1% B 4% % AT 63T
Total comprehenshe noomefor ~~ ERZENELE

the year - - - ) 4 - ) 5,960 5,933
Transter etiieen reserves o - - - - - 1212 1212 (1,212 =
Finel didend for 2003 NBERERS - - - - . . N Y ]
e didend for 2004 NUERERS - - - - - . - ) )
Acaistion of non-controling AR

interests - - (362 - - 9 (37) - (8n)
Others H - - 4 - - 12 16 - 16
Balances at 31 December 2024 M204F 12/ 31 Bt 35,804 109 (9,056) 123 121 5,600 32,781 227 65,078
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
576 B AR P

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

27 H ik (88)
(a) Hih{EEAREE (4F)

Movements in components of other reserves

(Continued)
Company
AQH

Total

RMB'million

AREBET

Balances at 31 December 2022 W202%E12R31AK

and 1 January 2023 NVBE1R10ES 35,884 109 36,993 10,840 46,833
Total comprehensive income for -~ ERE AN £

the year - - - 1,533 1,533
Finel dhidend for 2022 AREFERE - - - 2,199) 0.199)
Balances at 31 December 2023 W 2023F 12 831 B&# 35,884 109 36,993 10,175 46,168
Balances at 31 December 2023 R2028%E12831AK

and 1 January 2024 NUE151REH 35,884 109 35,993 10,175 46,168
Total comprehensive income for ~~ EREENERE

the year - - - 2173 2,173
Fineldhidend for 2023 ABERBRE - - - (2,451) (2,451)
Interim dividend for 2024 N4FRHRE - - - (1,421) (1,421)
Balances at 31 December 2024 14202412 31 At 35,884 109 35,993 8,470 44,463
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

27 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

158

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

()

(vi)

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the share premium
account may be applied by the Company in paying up unissued
shares of the Company to be issued to shareholders of the
Company as fully paid bonus shares.

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ net assets value of the subsidiaries
at the date on which they were acquired by the Group and the
amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
considerations and the aggregate share capital of subsidiaries
acquired under business combinations under common control.

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of equity investments designated as
FVOCI that are held at the end of the reporting period.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Others mainly represent capitalisation of retained earnings by
subsidiaries and the statutory surplus reserves. Pursuant to
the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association and
the resolution of Board of Directors of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the Mainland China, these subsidiaries are
required to transfer 10% of their respective net profit to statutory
surplus reserves. Appropriation to the statutory surplus reserves
may be ceased when the fund aggregates to 50% of those
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves
may be used to make good previous years’ losses or to
increase the capital of those subsidiaries upon approval of their
shareholders’ meeting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

27 H ik (88)

(c) T4 iR E {thfE

MR2024%F12 5318 » ] it [ A
RAEmBRED IR EMmFEE
BB (BREBREIBGIEAR
AIERTE) BARKS 4708 8
70 (20234 : AR ¥ 10,1758
BL) N EHKRE EFE
EAEREEREARARK
15179 (2023%F : EFE &
HAR B & T @A A R¥28.38
o) EAREA1 314 HE T (2023
F:ARK2457HE ) (M5
14) o ZRE N R EHRIL K #E
RE—BEE-

27 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Distributability of other reserves

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of other
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of
the Company, as calculated under the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 was RMB8,470 million (2023: RMB10,175
million). After the end of the reporting period the Directors
proposed a final dividend of RMB15.17 cents per ordinary
share (2023: Final dividend RMB28.38 cents per ordinary
share), amounting to RMB1,314 million (2023: RMB2,457
million) (Note 14). This dividend has not been recognised as
a liability at the end of the reporting period.

28 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 28 ENIRFREGFEE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

RMB’million RMB’million

ARBEETR AREBET

Accounts payable (i) FETERFX () 3,106 2,790

Contract liabilities (i) BHEE (i) 12,690 13,596

Salaries and welfare payable FE ¥ & kAT 326 381

Accrued expenses FEFTFA X 22 7

Dividend payable FETRE B 158 424

Interest payable JE 1 FI 2 137 182
Construction fee and equipment cost FERTIER B RRBAA

payables 5,541 6,892

Amounts due to related parties

FE BB 77 5K IR

— Non-controlling interests —IEVE R = 1 1
— Others —HAth 1 1
Other payables (i) Ho Aty FE A FRIA (i) 3,242 3,526
25,224 27,800

ERRRERAT —BoMEFERS 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

28 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 28 E{EEMKRESTEE (E)

(CONTINUED)

() Ageing analysis of accounts payable ()]

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
accounts payable, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

FEAY BR TR 2 BR B0 20 4T

BERSHR  BHRRIZER
HEIZBREE DI

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’million RMB’million

AREEETT ARBEBHETT

Within 3 months =EAR 2,576 2,157
Between 3 to 6 months =@ A=~1EA 116 157
Over 6 months 7E B A £ 414 476
3,106 2,790

The typical credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days.

(ii) As at 31 December 2024, the Group didn’t have non- (ii)
current contract liabilities (2023: RMB28 million which
were included under non-current other liabilities and were
expected to be recognised as revenue in over 12 months
but less than 5 years).

The Group’s contract liabilities represent primarily
advances received from customers. In certain regions
of the PRC, customers of the Group’s city gas business
are required to use integrated circuit cards and top up in
advance before the balances are being deducted upon
usage of natural gas. Depending on the market conditions
and the customers’ credit profile, the Group also requires
advance from certain customers for sales of other natural
gas products. These advance payments from customers
are recognised as contract liabilities until the natural gas
products are sold to the customers. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the amount of RMB13,596 million
(2023: RMB12,621 million) recognised in contract liabilities
at beginning of the year has substantially been recognised
as revenue during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

28 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 28 E{EEMRESTEE (B)
(CONTINUED)

(i) The other payables were mainly retention monies for (i) gEpEAzEEATRRESR
construction and VAT element of advance receipts from FEWRFRIBERIER o
customers.

(iV)  The Group is a defendant in certain lawsuits as well as the (V) AEEAEFTEHZHEREM
named party in other proceeding. While the outcomes of FARZIEER - BERKREEE
such contingencies, lawsuits or other proceeding cannot ERFXAEMN  EEFARIHE
be determined at present, management believes that any HFACER  HEEERET
resulting liabilities will not have a material adverse effect on MBEEECBETEHAE
the financial position or financial performance of the Group. Z AR Sk B TS AR SRR B X

2yil-Z2-x
29 BORROWINGS 29 88

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 FF

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEETR ARBEBET

Short-term borrowings — unsecured EMHEE —miEE 1,188 2,247
Current portion of long-term borrowings K EEE 2 BIEIEE 5 7,945 3,217
9,133 5,464
Long-term borrowings — secured (note) & HIfEE — A (i) 2,155 771
Long-term borrowings — unsecured REEE - EER 20,119 21,473
Less: Current portion of long-term B REBE ZRHE S
borrowings (7,945) (8,217)
14,329 19,027
23,462 24,491
Note: As at 31 December 2024, the RMB1,878 million (2023: RMB94 million) PEE - 20244 12 31 H - ANREEE5K1,878

BET(2023F : ARBUMEEL) £

borrowings were mainly pledged by natural gas charging rights.
9 Y Pleclec by netiiel gas charging g B )R AR SR

As at 31 December 2024, certain property, plant and equipment of K\2024,¢ 127 SJ*El ) $%;§$§§E
the Group amounting to RMB906 million (2023; RMB818 millon) were RARH06 B &I (20235 : AR
mortgaged to banks for RMB277 million (2023: RMB677 million) loan 8185%7@ 20 B ng&_ﬁa 5
facilities granted to the Group (Note 15). AREE 2 NR#277 B 8T (2023

FARBeTTAET) ERBE KT
FRIT (HIFE15) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

29 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The weighted average interest rate for borrowings as at 31

December 2024 is 2.9% (2023: 3.3%).

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

29 {E5 (&)

R2024E12 A31 8 - EEEINETY

FEREA2.9% (20234 : 3.3%) °

fEEZREERATERE

2024 2023

2024 & 2023 FF

RMB’million RMB’million

AREEET AREBEETT

RMB AR 16,215 17,347
US dollar ETT 7,186 7,074
Japanese yen H 1 2
Euro EX T 60 68
23,462 24,491

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the borrowings of the Group
were repayable as follows:

MR2024F K 2023%F 12 A31H » A&

B EEARITESR

Bank loans Loans other than bank loans

$R1T &K BRER 1T E RS 2 B

2023

2023 4F

RMB’million

AREBHETT

Within one year —FR 3,304 2,932 5,829 2,532
Between one to two years — &M F 2,221 2,907 42 4,903
Between two to five years M E A 4,304 3,033 1,467 850
After five years HFAE 1,891 3,108 4,404 4,226
11,720 11,980 11,742 12,511
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30

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its borrowings. The information presented is based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay
and represents the undiscounted cash flow including principal
and interest:

Aok 1 0 785 A I

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

29 {E5 (&)

TRAMAEEZEEZHRTAHF
H-MEHNENIURERAX R Z
RPEHAEE YRFAFRAS
nE(BRASENE)

Bank loans Loans other than bank loans
iR 17 B ™

BR 88 17 B A S 2 B

2023

2023 F

RMB’million

ARBBET

Within one year —F R 3,393 3,363 6,011 2,917
Between one to two years — ZE /M F 2,529 2,930 174 5,603
Between two to five years M ZE R F 4,433 3,390 1,836 qr7
After five years HEPE 2,376 3,598 4,422 4,401
12,731 13,281 12,443 13,898

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

30 GEMBRRKRPZAEH

@ GOBERRRT 2
ERIES :

2023
2023 F
RMB’million
ARBEETT
Tax payables in respect of BB A BRI LA N B =R E A+t
subsidiaries in: ZTIE
- the PRC — 529 558
— Thailand —Zz & 15 31
544 589

As at 31 December 2024, the Group also had income tax
recoverable of RMB4 million (2023: RMB15 million) which
were included under “prepayments and other current
assets”.

MR2024F12 A31H » REBE IR
HmEUWRBAMEHRARE4IES
JC (20234 : ARB15EHET) -
HEEftATENREREMRESE
EIET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 SR RKDBPZFAEH

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) (£8)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) BHER 2 REHREEE
REE
The movements in the deferred taxation account are as BEEBBRENESHAT -
follows:
2023
2023 F
RMB’million
AREBET
At beginning of the year REA) (816) (743)
Currency translation differences BHEE R ERE (8) 6)
Acquisitions through business BREBE OHETIE
combination (6) ©)
Charged to the consolidated RS e R
profit or loss (20) (66)
Credited to other comprehensive REMZ2EKREER
income 1 8
At end of the year RER (849) (816)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 (& BIIAMRRKPZAEH
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) (#&)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(Continued)

Deferred tax balances are attributable to the following

items:

m)%EQZEEmEEE

&: (&)

EET AR BN A T IER -

Deferred tax assets:
Depreciation of property,

EREREAE -
0% BERBETE

2023
2023 FF

RMB’million
AREBET

plant and equipment 435 389
Impairment of receivables FE U AR BB E 129 122
Tax losses HIEBE 420 424
Lease liabilities HEAE 185 157
Others Htt 266 202
Total deferred tax assets R IAE ERTE 1,435 1,294
Set-off 4 4 (273) (240)
Net deferred tax assets RIEHIAE EFRE 1,162 1,054
Deferred tax liabilities: RIEHIERE
Depreciation of property, M - E REETE

plant and equipment 770 820
Undistributed profits of PRC and R RBINT B AR

overseas subsidiaries, and BERRRAEELEDN

associate and joint ventures RO A 1,055 816
Revaluation surplus from business  E¥B&HEANEGH A%

combination 313 313
Others HAi 146 161
Total deferred tax liabilities R IEBERTE 2,284 2,110
Set-off 1 55 (273) (240)
Net deferred tax liabilities EIER I8 & & F 5 2,011 1,870

ERERERATE

“ENEFEHRS

165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
56 A R P aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

30

31

32

166

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30 #ZA MR KP ZFABH
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) =1
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: b EEFZELEREEE
(Continued) REfE: ()
As at 31 December 2024, certain subsidiaries of the R2024F 12318 A2 aElH&
Company did not recognise deferred tax asset of deductible THEARL &S AEH AT
tax losses carried forward of RMB1,756 million (2023: RIS BB ARKEA756 B & 7T
RMB1,422 million). (20234 : AR¥E1,422F & L)
BRELEHIBEE -
COMMITMENTS 31 EiE
Capital commitments BAREE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the RmERRETERERAERAER
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: WEBREARZHET :
2023
20234
RMB’million
ARBBEET
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB NREE 3,284 891
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEABARS

CNPC, the controlling shareholder of the Company, is a state-
controlled enterprise directly controlled by the PRC government.
Related parties include CNPC and its subsidiaries (together,
the “CNPC Group”), other state-owned enterprises and their
subsidiaries which the PRC government has control, joint control
or significant influence over, the entities which the Group is able
to control, jointly control or exercise significant influence over, key
management personnel of the Group and CNPC Group and their
close family members and any entity, of any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group’s parent.

In addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, the following is a summary
of significant related party transactions entered into in the
ordinary course of business between the Group and its related
parties during the years and balances arising from related party
transactions at the end of the years indicated below:

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) Transactions with CNPC Group, associates and

joint ventures

The Group has extensive transactions with other companies
in the CNPC Group. Due to these relationships, it is
possible that the terms of the transactions between the
Group and other members of the CNPC Group are not
the same as those that would result from transactions with
other related parties or wholly unrelated parties.

The principal related party transactions with the CNPC
Group and associates and joint ventures of the Group,
which were carried out in the ordinary course of business,
are as follows:

(i) The Group entered into certain master agreements
with the CNPC Group, including master agreement
on 14 September 2023 for connected transactions
for the three years ending 31 December 2026, for
the purpose of renewing the terms of the previously
signed master agreement.

Under the master agreement, a framework for a range
of products and services to be procured from the
CNPC Group to the Group and vice versa including
oil and gas products, general products and services,
financial services and rental services is provided.

- Provision of products by the CNPC Group to
the Group amounted to approximately RMB
130,282 million (2023: RMB119,317 million) for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

- Provision of services by the CNPC Group to the
Group amounted to approximately RMB2,552
million (2023: RMB3,281 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Aok 1 o 5 o W R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

32 BABAERS (&)

@)

ERERERATE

AEEERMEBEMNKE A A
BREZOXZMEBHE - AN
HEBEE AREEFHEER
bk B 2 B 2 MR 32 5 165K AT g
HHEMBEB T REERBALZ
B 5 6K E PR TE e

R A EE 2B A AT
RABLENEBHBIT XS
BB BREET LRI
T

() AEBEFRHEBILR
Wi (BIER2023F9 A 14
HABEZ 2026412 A 31
AEF=EFEBAEISN
B NETTRAEE
KB 1k HHARR o

RFEHZ CHEAR
) 1% 1 P &= BRI A &
o SR B R A R E R
MEmMRGEHE 8%
HRE M —RE®BMR
% S EARF R HE R -

— B ZE2024%12 A 31
HIEFE aEE
MAEBEREERLD
AR #130,2828 8
JC (20234 : AR

-4 —

119,317AETT) °

—  EHZE2024%F12 A 31
HIEFE HhaEE
M5 iR RS
MAREK25528 8
JC (20234 : AR
3281EBIL) °

SECMEFERS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(@) Transactions with CNPC Group, associates and
joint ventures (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

- Provision of products by the Group to the
CNPC Group amounted to approximately RMB
9,937 million (2023: RMB5,320 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

- Provision of services by the Group to the CNPC
Group amounted to approximately RMB 8,449
million (2023: RMB4,552 million), which mainly
includes natural gas pipeline transmission
services and LNG gasification and unloading
services provided by the Group, for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

(i)  The Group has entered into agreements for the
sales of natural gas with certain associates and joint
ventures of the Group amounting to approximately
RMBS3,237 million and RMB1,671 million (2023:
RMB2,677 million and RMB1,769 million),
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The above transactions in (i) constituted connected
transactions and has complied with the requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 32 EBEEAEXE (&

(@) Transactions with CNPC Group, associates and (@) BAFpiMEE - BE LT
joint ventures (Continued) REELEZXRS (B
(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, amounts due @iy 2024 4F R 2023F 12 A

from and to the CNPC Group, and associates and 318 B R ER T HH
joint ventures of the Group, which are unsecured S8 AEEBEZHE QA
and interest-free, except borrowings, loans to an REEREZRIE (REE
associate, loans to joint ventures and lease liabilities, EXRT—HBERFH
are included in the following accounts captions and HTEELXRHEEAR
summarised as follows: SN REERREE - B5F
AR5 598 B A3
LU
2023
2023 %
RMB’million
AREBETT
Other non-current assets HMIERESEE 109 71
Accounts receivable JE Y BR 5K 638 369
Prepayments and other current TERT R R H AR B
assets BE 657 271
Accounts payable and accrued ERERFR R EFEE
liabilities 4,122 5,012
Borrowings BE 8,627 9,512
Lease liabilities HEAE 78 56
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 32 EBtARS (&
(b) Key management compensation b)) FEEEEZIMS

2024 2023
2024 & 20234

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEERTR ARBBEETT

Salaries and allowances He ke 8 8
Retirement benefits — defined RIRER — A ERRETE
contribution scheme - -

8 8
(c) Transactions with other state-controlled entities c EREHMEEER2
in the PRC X%
Apart from the aforementioned transactions and the bR EMRGREFHER K&
transactions with the CNPC Group, and associates and EitE N REEPEZIRFHIN -
joint ventures of the Group, the Group has transactions AEBEAMEEERIRSE
with other state-controlled entities include but not limited to FEETER)(VEERBEER
(i) sales and purchases of goods and services; (i) purchases FRS: (VBEEE: ((HEE
of assets; (iii) lease of assets; and (iv) bank deposits and E:RVRITERREER -
borrowings.
These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of ZERXGTIRAEE 2 BE XK
the Group’s business. BIARHETT o
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker which is determined by the Group’s most senior executive
management and Executive Directors of the Company.

The Group organises its business around products and services.
From the products and services perspective, the Group is
engaged in a broad range of oil and gas related activities and
derives its revenue from its four operating segments: Natural
Gas Sales, Sales of LPG, LNG Processing and Terminal and
Exploration and Production.

The Natural Gas Sales segment includes the retail sales,
distribution and trading of various natural gas products. The
Sales of LPG segment includes the wholesales and retail sales of
various LPG products. LNG Processing and Terminal segment
includes the processing, unloading, storage, gasification and
entrucking of LNG. The Exploration and Production segment
includes the exploration, development, production and sales of
crude oil and natural gas.

The senior executive management of the Group and the
Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on each segment’s profit before income tax
expense, and share of profits less losses of associates and joint
ventures (“segment results”).

Segment assets exclude deferred and current taxes, other
financial assets, investments in associates and joint ventures.

Corporate results, net, mainly refers to interest income earned
from cash and cash equivalents, net exchange gains/(losses),
general and administrative expenses and interest expenses
incurred at corporate level.

Corporate assets mainly comprise cash and cash equivalents
held at corporate level.

33

ERERERATE

f B B 25 A BT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

WRE R

BRI 2B A EAEBLER
FERHZNEREEB—H - T
AREEEERERAAANTES
RIE ©

AEERERERFEBEES 51
EmERBME  AEEEZKSE—
R A mMARARMEEER  EBA
KB mEZERR - RARBEE - LPG
SHE ~ LNG I T B2 {8 S By R B AR 2 o

AARBEERRBETITRARARE
MmN EERDIHEE S o LPGIHE IR
REFETFRLPGERMILBETE -
LNGHN T & @ ERI B IEINGIN T
HE - #FF [/ RES - BREEE
RI|BIEFR AR RRARZBE - FE -
HEMEE -

AEEEEERATEETRESRA
ZHEAEHER BIEBERTRE
B 2w MR 18 A 2 g NI R (4
BRI 2RIV ((RBEE]D -

RBEETBRELENARARE B
MmEREE NBERARAMAGELE
ZIE -

AR FEIBRERE MRS EE
THE PRI AU R W, (8
B)FE RREmMELZ —RENE
BEERMAEXH -

RAIEETZRRAFERAMFAE Z
RehBeFHEEA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

33 WMEH (B8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Gross revenue
Less: Inter-company adjustment

BE2024 12831 BLLEE
FELL N
NIk

Revenue from external customers

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Over time

Segment results

Share of profits less losses of:
— Associates
— Joint ventures

KEINBEF ZWA

LUNGTSIENS
5B B P
R — R

T ES

FE A5 % SRR 8 ¢
—BA R
—-5ENGE

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense

Segment results included:
— Interest income
— Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
— Interest expenses
— Net exchange gains/(losses)

BRETIS DB AANER, (B5E)

T oE
—Fl B A

I AR R

— B

—E R lkas (1) %8

As at 31 December 2024

Segment assets

Investments in associates

Investments in joint ventures

Additions to non-current segment assets during the year

Additions to non-current segment assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries during the year

R2024512A318

RIRE E

REEERNRIZRE
REBLEZRE

RAF IR ENRIRE E IR H0

RAFEEBWEKHE R F
FER BN MR R E A I AN
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

LNG
Processing Exploration Inter-
Natural Sales of and Terminal and company

Gas Sales LPG LNG Production Corporate adjustment Total
RAREE LPGSHE INTEEREE EnEREEAE B GIEC DR EAE Mt
RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million = RMB’million
ARBBEET ARWAEBRT ARYBEERT ARBEBEERT ARBEERT ARBEERT ARBEER

153,971 25,692 11,570 171 - - 191,404
(1,881) (91) (2,386) - - - (4,358)
152,090 25,601 9,184 171 - - 187,046
149,091 25,601 9,184 171 - - 184,047
I 2999 ST, S, ST, ST, — o ....2999
152,090 25,601 9,184 171 - - 187,046
7,343 772 3,638 (12) (232) - 11,509
546 1 24 28 - - 599
313 - - 207 7 - 527
8,202 773 3,662 223 (225) - 12,635
689 1 158 22 604 (516) 958
(3,808) (98) (1,192) (19) (43) - (5,160)
(825) @) (272) - (218) 516 (803)
10 - - @ 67) - (59)
83,636 5,894 18,151 1,051 18,504 - 127,236
7,496 56 568 447 - - 8,567
4,802 - - 1,355 - - 6,157
3,481 22 1,455 37 6 - 5,001
131 - - - - - 131
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

33 WMEH (B8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Gross revenue
Less: Inter-company adjustment

BZ2023F12A31ALFE
U
N A B

Revenue from external customers

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Over time

Segment results

Share of profits less losses of:
— Associates
— Joint ventures

KEINBEF ZWA

LUNGTSIENS
5B B P
R — R

T ES

FE A5 % SRR 8 ¢
—BA R
—-5ENGE

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense

Segment results included:
— Interest income
— Depreciation, depletion and amortisation
— Interest expenses
— Net exchange (losses)/gains

BRETIS DB AANER, (B5E)

RIREEEIE
—FEHA
— e BRI
— M B
—EX (B aFE

As at 31 December 2023

Segment assets

Investments in associates

Investments in joint ventures

Additions to non-current segment assets during the year

Additions to non-current segment assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries during the year

R2023512A31H

WIRE E

REEERNRIZRE
REBLEZRE

RAF IR ENRIRE E IR H0

RAFEEBWEKHE R F
FER BN MR R E A I AN
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

LNG

Processing Exploration Inter-

Natural Sales of and Terminal and company
Gas Sales LPG LNG Production Corporate adjustment Total
RNRIEE LPGHE N T ER 458 BhREE A E NGIEG S NGIIE EEE:S HBEt
RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million RMB’million
ARBBET AREKRERT ARKBEET ARBBEERT ARKBRERT ARKBERT ARKAER
142,887 26,896 12,167 911 - - 182,861
(2,287) (95) (3,125) - - - (5,507)
140,600 26,801 9,042 911 - - 177,354
136,961 26,801 9,042 911 - - 173,715
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, B3 e L3039
140,600 26,801 9,042 911 - - 177,354
7,605 553 3,629 95 (834) - 11,548
367 - 25 74 - - 466
348 - - 221 10 - 579
8,320 553 3,654 390 (324) - 12,593
640 1 118 21 599 (509) 870
(8,533) (111) (1,079) (228) 41) - (4,992)
(755) 4) (494) - (216) 509 (960)
(©)) - - 7 (144) - (140)
82,071 5,059 18,498 1,332 21,041 - 128,001
7,137 - 453 390 - - 7,980
4,712 - - 1,365 32 - 6,109
4,315 - 432 48 8 - 4,803
82 - - - - - 82
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 33 MREH (B
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit and assets A 2R A5 AR s T 2 & EE R ¥R

2024 2023
2024 & 20234

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEERR ARBEBETT

Reportable segment profit AR5 AR 3 A

Profit before income tax expense bR AT1S & A A A 12,635 12,593
Income tax expense Fristi & /A (3,128) (3,338)
Profit for the year F R m A 9,507 9,255

2024 2023
2024 & 20234

RMB’million RMB’million
ARBERR ARBEBEETT

Reportable segment assets A ERBEE
Segment assets WRIRE E 127,236 128,001
Investment in associates REEE N R ZIRE 8,567 7,980
Investment in joint ventures REBREZIRE 6,157 6,109
Deferred tax assets EREFIREE 1,162 1,054
Income tax recoverable CIREEEY ) 4 15
Financial assets at fair value through other &2 A FEF A E At 2 mE U

comprehensive income L EBEE 264 360
Total assets BEE 143,390 143,519
Neither the Group’s revenue is derived from nor the Group’s non- REB 2 WANIERE AR A M -
current assets are located in the place of incorporation of the A B 2 M B & & NI FEL AR
Company. NAlEEM T
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no H E 2024 K 2023F 12 A31 A ILF
single customer to whom the revenue exceeded 10% of the B UTEREE-—EPZRAERE
Group’s revenue. EIWAFEE10% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACQUISITIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company entered
into equity transfer agreements (the “Agreements”) to acquire
51% of equity interest in 2 entities at a total cash consideration
of RMB70 million (the “Acquisition”). Upon the completion of the
Acquisition, 2 entities have become subsidiaries of the Company.
There is no individually or accumulatively material entities which
significantly affect the results and net assets of the Group at 31
December 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 25 March 2025 and will be submitted to the
shareholders for adoption at the 2025 Annual General Meeting to
be held on 29 May 2025 (Thursday).

34

35
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

I &8

HE2024F12 A3 HIEFE » "AT]
Rl iREEEmE ((HE]) - LARR
SREARBTOEE TWE TR
51%m R (TWEEE]) -RIKES
HEREKE 2MERBEKARRRAK
BAA - WEHAREEN2024F12 B
SIHMNEERFEEELEEATEN
BENRFEREE -

HEGRSHBHRR

LA BEHRRE N 2025F3 A25H
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

36 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

36

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which are
limited liability companies at 31 December 2024, are as follows:

FEMB QT

KNTFI2024F12 A1 B 2 T EM B
ANA (B AEEREERR) 2 EBEOT

Natural gas business

RRRRH

PetroChina Kunlun Gas Co., Ltd.
FEBERRRERAR

Xinjiang Xinjie Co., Ltd.
B ERRARRA
China Natural Gas Co., Ltd.
ERARRBOBR DA

CNPC Shennan Qil Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

178

BERRREARRMAEERAR

Kunlun Energy Investment Shandong
Company Limited
ERERRE(LR)BRAH

Huagang Gas Group Company Limited
ERMREERRAA

Sichuan Chuangang Gas Co., Ltd.
mNIERREREEAT

Jiangsu LNG
L% LNG

Note:

(i) Shares are held directly by the Company.

PRC
i

PRC
R

PRC
i

PRC
F
PRC
F

PRC
o

PRC
F

PRC
i

RMB8,560 million
AREB8560EE T

RMB4,370 million
AR¥430BET

RMB2,082 million
ARE2,082BETT

RMB3,361 million
ARHK3B1IHET
RMB1,700 million
AREIT0BET

RMB1,500 milion
ARB1508ETT

RMB900 million
AREQOEET

RMBS3,166 million
ARE3166HETT

KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Limited liability company
EREERAA

Limited liability company
BREERARA

Limited liability company
AREERE

Limited liability company
EREELA
Limited liability company
BREERARA

Limited liability company

BREERT

Limited liability company
BREAEATA

Limited liability company
AREEATA

GEE

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

to the Group
AEEEN
ERxE oL

100.00% (note (i)
(EE ()

100.00% (note (i)
GE0)

77.88% (note (i)
GE0)

100.00% (note (i)
(B EE ()
100.00% (note (i)
(Bif 2 )

51.00% (note (i)
(HE )

51.00% (note (j)
(fE ()

55.00% (note (i)
(M)

() AARNBEERERS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

37 COMPANY - LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 4 5]JE m B #4k % &
POSITION

31 December

2023
2023F 12 A31H
RMB’million
AREBHETT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment E NS 5 5
Investments in associates REE R R 2"E 1,469 1,469
Investments in joint ventures REBELEZIRE 933 933
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR ZIRE 30,654 29,927
Other non-current assets HM3ERe&EE 1 1
e 33062 82,335
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other current AR R EM B E
assets B 1,542 1,369
Cash and cash equivalents BeNMIREEMEIEE 18,122 20,611
. 19,664 21,980
Total assets HWEE 52,726 54,315
Equity R
Capital and reserves attributable Zx 2 5] R R E(G IR A K
to shareholders of the Company {#1&
Share capital BN 26 71 71
Retained earnings AT EF 27 8,470 10,175
Other reserves H i f#E 27 35,993 35,993
e, 44534 46,239
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities RBAEE
Accounts payable and accrued AR ET AR
liabilities 982 979
Income tax payable FERTFTISEL 20 20
Short-term borrowing WHEEE 3,592 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 3 3
4,597 1,002
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37 COMPANY — LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37

38

39

180

DE)EE B IFARR R ()

POSITION (CONTINUED)
31 December
2023
2023F 12 A31H
RMB’million
AREBHETT
Non-current liabilities eI =R
Long-term borrowings RHAEE 3,594 7,074
Lease liabilities HEBE 1 -
ettt cccccce ee e e e e e e e e e et e o o o e T 3595 7074
Total liabilites ~~~~ #&& 8192 8076
Total equity and liabilities ERkEERE 52,726 54,315
Net current assets RBEEFRE 15,067 20,978
Total assets less current liabilities R EERREE & 48,129 53,313
IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 38 HENRKERAL

At 31 December 2024, the Directors consider the parent and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be PetroChina HK and
CNPC which are incorporated in Hong Kong and established in
the PRC, respectively.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31ALLFE

39 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 39
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUAT B #sk 2 &
Fite 2 gt IR

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack of 1 January 2025
exchangeability
ERGTEREIRZER] INEEXEHNTE RS RN 20251 H1H
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments
BERVBRELENEIORMEBNBREENE TR 2B HEmMI A EM 20261 A1H
T8 ZIER]
Annual improvements to HKFRSs — Volume 11 1 January 2026
ERVBHRELEANFERE-—F 115 20261 A1H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BEMBRELERNE 185 - MBMERA TR E 20271 H1H
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
BERMBMELRE195  BAKBEEN TR KE 20271 A18
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements and HKAS 28, To be Determined

Investments in associates and joint ventures: Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture

BERVBHRELEE10R 2B eHVBHRERBA ST ELFE 285 2 F5E
BF]  REERRIRAEEREZRE REFHABEARNEGELEMEEY
HEIIEA
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what AEEREFHEZEBFT RIFERR
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the initial BRERPEZEBREE - BAlA%E
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is ERABERMZFEIT RMEANEEE
unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial MEHRETEENBEATE -
statements.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

182

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power,
only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties)
are considered.

Subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from
intra- group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 40(g)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture (see Note 40(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 40())(ii)).
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates and joint ventures

184

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties contractually agree to share control of
the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, which includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognised as profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised as
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s
interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long- term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or the joint venture (after applying the
expected credit loss model to such other long-term
interests where applicable (see Note 40(l)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint ventures are stated at
cost less impairment losses. Impairment loss is measured
by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment
with its carrying amount (see Note 40())(ii)).
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 40 EEEFITBUR (&)

(c)

(d)

186

Accounting for production sharing contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute joint operations.
The Group shall recognise in relation to its interest in joint
operations:

0] Its assets, including its share of any assets held
jointly;

(i) Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly;

Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operations;

Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the
joint operations; and

Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

Foreign currencies

()  Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
Company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)
(i)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated
into presentation currency at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or
after 1 January 2005, are translated into presentation
currency at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
translation reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation
of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005
is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied
at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

f B B 25 A BT

For the year ended 31 December 2024

40 EET

HZE2024F 12 A31HILEE

5t BUR (48)

(d) b

(i)

ERERERATE

shes i

FR-IEXZEIH5H
Az ERBE - PASNE
AAENEREERABER
BE2RPRWEXRBE -
[E X RERNBRER

BBEREAINE REN
AERZIEBEENAR
BRXHBZERBE -
7 BRI R B AR
HEAEHEEXRRED
B e AINESHEIL AR
FEIKRZIFEREER
BERABATEERZ
fE R E o

HINEB 2 EBIRERS
BEzEREXRESE ZE
KRG HEREE - Bk
MERIEE (BIEEHR 2005
F1A1BHABKE G
INEBMEEZAE) RS
MEAZRTERBE A
EREK -FTEEZER
ZFERE MR RS ER
WBIBARERFEHD
=M o BE fF 2005 £ 1
A1 BaRE 2 BINETSFT
EEZHBRREENE
KEREAZERBRE -

HEBINEFE - B
BIINRBZELEZRZR
AAHENERLEEAR
mEREN D AERR -

SECMEFERS

187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
55 B 75 e 2 FiE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

e)

188

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including oil and gas
properties and construction in progress, are initially
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost where it is probable that they will generate future
economic benefits. Cost represents the purchase price of
the asset and other costs incurred to bring the asset into
existing use. For construction in progress, cost comprises
direct costs of construction as well as interest charges,
and foreign exchange differences on related borrowed
funds to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest charges, during the periods of construction.
Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use. Subsequent to their initial recognition,
property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortisation
(including any impairment) (see Note 40(l)(ii)).

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by reference to their carrying
amounts and are recorded in profit or loss.

Interest and other costs on borrowings to finance the
construction of property, plant and equipment are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.
Costs for repair and maintenance activities are expensed
as incurred except for costs of components that result in
improvements or betterments which are capitalised as part
of property, plant and equipment and depreciated over their
useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Intangible assets

U)

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

The aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

The net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit,
or groups of cash generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 40()(ii)). Impairment losses on
goodwill are not reversed.

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses (see Note 40(l)(ii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)  Other intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events
and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do
not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from
the date of change and in accordance with the policy
for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

190

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investments. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
Note 3.3. These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

0)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for

the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

- fair value through other comprehensive income

(“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of impairment
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

- FVPL, if the investment does not meet the

criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

9

()

192

Other investments in debt and equity securities

(Continued)

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument- by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss

as other income.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

U)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and
non-lease components, the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expenses is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

194

Leased assets (Continued)

U)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case,
the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

Inventories

Inventories include natural gas, crude oil and others which
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories is primarily determined by the weighted
average cost method, which comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads, but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

)

(k)

196

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 40())(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Accounts receivable

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

U)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other
receivables, and contract assets, which are held
for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest)
and debt securities measured at FVOCI (recycling).

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income measured at fair value,
including equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling), are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

198

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

0)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivable, lease
receivables and contract assets, are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

U)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

200

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

0)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

- oil and gas properties;
- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not ready for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

202

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of its fair value less costs of sell and
its value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre- tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash- generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cashgenerating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the non-financial assets in
the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(1)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss in respect of assets
other than goodwill is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, deposits held with banks and highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months
of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 40())(i).

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0)

204

Borrowings

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has unconditional rights to defer settlements of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Taxation

Income tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities. Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(p) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from initial recognition of
goodwill. The deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences arising on investments in foreign
operations where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

The Group also incurs various other taxes and levies that
are not income tax. “Taxes other than income taxes”,
which form part of operating expenses, primarily comprise
resource tax, urban construction tax and education
surcharges.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(@

(n

206

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants

Government grants are the gratuitous monetary assets
or non-monetary assets that the Group receives from the
government, excluding capital injection by the government
as an investor. Special funds such as investment grants
allocated by the government, if clearly defined in official
documents as part of “capital reserve” are dealt with as
capital contributions, and not regarded as government
grants.

Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and
the Group is able to comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Government grants in the form of monetary assets
are recorded based on the amount received or receivable,
whereas non-monetary assets are measured at fair value.

Government grants received in relation to assets are
recorded as deferred income, and recognised evenly in
profit or loss over the assets’ useful lives. Government
grants received in relation to revenue are recorded as
deferred income, and recognised as income in future
periods as compensation when the associated future
expenses or losses arise; or directly recognised as income
in the current period as compensation for past expenses or
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(8)

()

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: () the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; (i) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation; and (jii) reliable estimates of
the amount can be made.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expenses.

Retirement benefit plans

The Group contributes to various employee retirement
benefit plans organised by PRC municipal and provincial
governments under which it is required to make monthly
contributions to these plans at prescribed rates for its
employees in the PRC. The relevant PRC municipal
and provincial governments undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of existing and future retired
employees of the Group in the PRC. The Group has similar
retirement benefit plans for its employees in its overseas
operations. Contributions to these PRC and overseas plans
are charged to expense as incurred. The Group currently
has no additional material obligations outstanding for the
payment of retirement and other post retirement benefits of
employees in the PRC or overseas other than the monthly
contributions described above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f B B 25 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A1 ALLFE

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) Has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy  Is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(ivy  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(u) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management and
Executive Directors for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Reserve Quantities Information
fifi & E R

INFORMATION ON EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION FERIEIFHEEERIRZER
SEGMENT

In accordance with the Listing Rule 18.18, this section provides 1R# 7 Bl 18.1815 » AENIR A A
supplemental information on oil and gas producing activities of the SEMFAEEFENHITELR} ©
Group.

Proved Oil and Gas Reserve Estimates R MR EMAET

The following table sets forth the Company’s estimated proved T & & 5l &K X &) 722022 & ~ 2023 4 2 2024
developed reserves and proved reserves as at December 2022, F12 AZ A FEACHERELFEHAHRE -
2023 and 2024. The tables are formulated on the basis of reports 7% & & & JH 1R 5 98 -7 T 2 B8 5 A &) DeGolyer
prepared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton and Ryder Scott Company, — and MacNaughton 1 Ryder Scott Company #

independent engineering consultancy companies. R BEMBRB o
CRUDE OIL JR M

Proved
reserves
(Estimation)
KRHBERE
(f&5H)
(million barrels)
(B&E®)
Reserve as at 31 December 2021 M2021F12 A31 B 2= 35.6 43.3
2022 Revision 2022 F(E37] 1.8 3.5
2022 Production 2022FEE (11.3) (11.3)
Reserve as at 31 December 2022 M2022F 12 A31 B 2= 26.1 35.5
2023 Revision 2023 F1{EE] 16.2 14.0
2023 Production 023G ES ©9.1) ©.1)
Reserve as at 31 December 2023 MR2023%F 12 A1 B 2= 33.2 40.4
2024 Revision 2024 F{EE] 6.9 3.6
2024 Production 2024 FES (8.3) (8.3)
Reserve as at 31 December 2024 M2024F 12 A1 B 2= 31.8 35.7

2 1 O KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Reserve Quantities Information
fih 2 B R}

NATURAL GAS RIAR,
Proved
developed Proved
reserves reserves
(Estimation) (Estimation)
FHCHERE RABE
(f45t) (f&5t)
(million barrels) (million barrels)
(BEBE®) (BE®)

Reserve as at 31 December 2021 R2021F12 A31 B 22 99,548.3 110,199.3
2022 Revision 2022 F{EE] 5,494.8 1,068.5
2022 Production 2022FES (23,282.9) (23,282.9)
Reserve as at 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31 B 2= 81,760.2 87,984.9
2023 Revision 2023 F (&3] 50,038.1 49,209.6
2023 Production 2023 F EE (20,449.5) (20,449.5)
Reserve as at 31 December 2023 MR2023F 12 A31 B 22 111,348.8 116,745.0
2024 Revision 2024 F (&7 14,741.2 13,552.8
2024 Production 2024 FES (18,096.6) (18,096.6)
Reserve as at 31 December 2024 R2024F 12 A1 B 2% = 107,993.4 112,201.2
Definition: B

The petroleum reserves are classified as follows: AHRBESENAT

Proved oil and gas reserves — Proved oil and gas reserves are
those quantities of oil and gas, which by analysis of geoscience and
engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be
economically producible — from a given date forward, from known
reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods,
and government regulations — prior to the time at which contracts
providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that
renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or
probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. The project to extract
the hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operator must be
reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a reasonable
time.

F R mE - R ARMERAGT B
EARMNERMNEMBE BRIEFRESER
ELENBERFRIEER) - BB IR 2
TREENON  RAEE SRR
NRBLE - EXMBTE SR - AIRE
EHEECAHRE KB B RNEE - 1/
BACHMAEDRKSIEXRERCERTEES
REERENRBIER -
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Reserve Quantities Information
fiti 2 E B}

(i)

(i)

212

The areas of the reservoir considered as proved includes:

(A)The area identified by drilling and limited by fluid contracts, if
any, and (B) Adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can,
with reasonable certainty, be judged to be continuous with it
and to contain economically producible oil or gas on the basis of
available geoscience and engineering data.

In the absence of data on fluid contracts, proved quantities in a
reservoir are limited by the lowest known hydrocarbons (LKH)
as seen in a well penetration unless geoscience, engineering, or
performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower
contact with reasonable certainty.

Where direct observation from well penetrations has defined a
highest known oil (HKO) elevation and the potential exists for an
associated gas cap, proved oil reserves may be assigned in the
structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if geoscience,
engineering, or performance data and reliable technology
establish the higher contact with reasonable certainty.

Reserves which can be produced economically through
application of improved recovery techniques (including, but not
limited to, fluid injection) are included in the proved classification
when:

(A)Successful testing by a pilot project in an area of the reservoir
with properties no more favourable than in the reservoir as a
whole, the operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an
analogous reservoir, or other evidence using reliable technology
establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis
on which the project or program was based; and (B) The project
has been approved for development by all necessary parties and
entities, including governmental entities.

Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which
economic producibility from a reservoir is to be determined. The
price shall be the average price during the 12-month period
prior to the ending date of the period covered by the report,
determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-
of-the-month price for each month within such period, unless
prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding
escalations based upon future conditions.
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Reserve Quantities Information

Developed oil and gas reserves — Developed oil and gas reserves are
reserves of any category that can be expected to be recovered:

M

(i)

Through existing wells with existing equipment and operating
methods or in which the cost of the required equipment is
relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well; and

Through installed extraction equipment and infrastructure
operational at the time of the reserves estimate if the extraction is
by means not involving a well.

Undeveloped oil and gas reserves — Undeveloped oil and gas reserves
are reserves of any category that are expected to be recovered from
new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively
major expenditure is required from recompletion.

M

(i)

(i)

Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limited to those directly
offsetting development spacing areas that are reasonably
certain of production when drilled, unless evidence using reliable
technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of
economic producibility at greater distances.

Undrilled locations can be classified as having undeveloped
reserves only if a development plan has been adopted indicating
that they are scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the
specific circumstances, justify a longer time.

Under no circumstances shall estimates for undeveloped reserves
be attributable to any acreage for which an application of fluid
injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated,
unless such techniques have been proved effective by actual
projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or by
other evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable
certainty.
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Reserve Quantities Information
fith B B R

gesultstof Operations for Exploration and Production &hiiREEEERIREEELE
egmen

2024 2023
2024 & 20234

RMB’million  RMB’million
ARBBERT AREAET

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ2024F 12831 HILEE

Gross revenue B 171 911

Less: Inter-company adjustment NN R - -
Revenue from external customers REINE P Z WA 171 911

Segment results RRELE (12) 95
Share of profits less losses of: JEAG 5 IR BT 18

— Associates i =/NE 28 74
- Joint ventures —aEDE 207 221

Profit before income tax expense BR PS50 8 A A& 223 390
Segment results included: RIBFEE BT -

— Interest income —F B U A 22 21

— Depreciation, depletion and amortisation —ITE  BERELREHE (19) (228)
— Interest expenses —F B H - -
— Net exchange gains — & 5 Wz FEE (2 7

2 1 4 KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Reserve Quantities Information
fih 2 B R}

Costs Incurred for Property Acquisitions, Exploration and 402 UxE8 - BiIREEEEE 2K
Production: N

Costs Incurred for Property Acquisitions, Exploration and #7128 - B REFR B EFBEE 2
Development Activities DN

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 FF

RMB’million RMB’million
AR®EBEER ARBEET

The Group AEH
Property acquisition costs LELEE DTN - -
Exploration costs BN ER A AR 27 4
Development cost RN 8 2
Total BEt 35 6
Equity method investments AR E
Share of costs of property acquisition, DiEEE NI REBELE
exploration and development of associates K NEE - MR &
and joint ventures 2 A AR 612 585
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Other Corporate Information

O i) o Ath R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman)

(Appointed on 1 April 2025)
Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fu Bin (Chairman)
(Resigned on 1 April 2025)
Mr. Zhou Yuanhong
(Resigned on 8 May 2024)
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong (Chief Financial Officer)
(Resigned on 25 March 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Lyu Jing (Appointed on 8 May 2024)

Mr. Qi Zhenzhong (Appointed on 25 March 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Xiao Feng

Mr. Sun Patrick
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Xie Mao

BERMUDA RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

AUDITOR
KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
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BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Banking of China Limited
China Construction Bank Corporation

Bank of China Limited

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

00135.HK

WEBSITE

http://www.kunlun.com.hk

PRINCIPAL BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee
Mr. Sun Patrick (Chairman)

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

Remuneration Committee
Dr. Liu Xiao Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Sun Patrick
Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

Nomination Committee
Mr. Liu Guohai (Chairman)™

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng

Mr. Sun Patrick

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper
Mr. Fu Bin (Chairman)®

Sustainability Committee
Mr. Qian Zhijia (Chairrman)

Dr. Liu Xiao Feng

Mr. Tsang Yok Sing Jasper

Mr. He Yongli (Non-director member)
Mr. Gao Xiangzhong®

Note:
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(1) appointed as the chairman and a member of Nomination Committee with (1)  H2025%F4 A1 BHEEZ T ARZEZESTE

effect from 1 April 2025

40|

(2)  resigned as the chairman and a member of Nomination Committee with effect ~ (2)  H2025%F 4 A1 BB TIREZE €L FE LK

from 1 April 2025

(3)  resigned as a member of Sustainability Committee with effect from 25 March ~ (3) HE2025F3 A5 BB A HERREE S

2025
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SOLICITOR
Clifford Chance

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
39/F., 118 Connaught Road West

Hong Kong

Telephone: 2522 2282
E-mail: info@kunlun.com.hk
Fax: 2868 1741

PRINCIPAL REGISTRARS

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

REGISTRARS IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

2 1 8 KUNLUN ENERGY COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
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KunLun Energy Company Limited
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http://www.kunlun.com.hk
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